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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Washington Monument stands in open parkland located at the western 
end of the National Mall, enclosed by Constitution Avenue on the north,
14th and 15th streets on the east, the Tidal Basin on the south, and 17th 
Street on the west. Appearing on the grounds are a number of other structures, 
including: the Survey Lodge, Memorial Lodge, Jefferson Pier Marker, Sylvan
Theater, an encirclement of American flags, a parking lot, and various paths. 
All are described below.

The Washington Monument

The 'Washington Monument was built between 1848 and 1884 as a memorial to 
George Washington. Its construction took place in two major phases,
1848-56 and 1876-84, war and a lack of funds causing the intermittent 
hiatus. Robert Mills originally designed a neoclassical plan which provided 
for a nearly-flat-topped obelisk surrounded by a circular colonnade. However 
when the project was resumed in 1876, Mills' successor, Lt. Col. Thomas L. 
Casey, redesigned the monument to resemble an unadorned Egyptian obelisk 
with a pointed pyramidion in accordance with the suggestions of George Perkins 
Marsh. Casey's design is essentially what appears today. L'Enfant's plan 
for the city called for the monument to Washington to be built at the inter­
section of the east-west axis through the Capitol and the north-south axis 
through the Executive Mansion, but soil conditions caused it to be constructed 
351.6' east and 123.17' south of that point.

The Washington Monument stands 555' 5-1/8" tall, 500 of these feet forming 
the shaft while the remainder constitute the capping pyramidion. The shaft 
tapers from a base width of 55' 1-1/2" to a width of 34' 5-1/2" at the 
500' level. The walls of the monument range in thickness from 15' at the 
base to 18" at the upper shaft. They are composed of white marble from 
Maryland and Massachussetts, underlain by granite, the whole supported by 
Interior ironwork. A slight color change is perceptible at the 152' level.

A flight of 899 steps rises to the observation area in the pyramidion.
198 commemorative stones donated by various countries, states, and private 
groups are set in the outer walls along the stairway. The elaborate carvings 
of many have been damaged; some have been restored. The stairs surround a 
central elevator shaft. The elevator, the normal means of visitor access to 
the top, was originally steam powered; the present system is electric.

The viewing area contains eight windows, two to a side. Those on the east 
were made somewhat taller for exterior access. The openings were originally 
unglazed and could be closed by interior shutters which swung flush with 
the exterior surface, rendering the openings nearly invisible in accordance
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for a nearly-flat-topped obelisk surrounded by a circular colonnade. However 
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tapers from a base width of 55' 1-1/2" to a width of 34' 5-1/2" at the 
500 1 level. The walls of the monument range in thickness from 15' at the 
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groups are set in the outer walls along the stairway. The elaborate carvings 
of many have been damaged; some have been restored. The stairs surround a 
central elevator shaft. The elevator, the normal means of visitor access to 
the top, was originally steam powered; the present system is electric. 

The viewing area contains eight windows, two to a side. Those on the east 
were made somewhat taller for exterior access. The openings were originally 
unglazed and could be closed by interior shutters which swung flush with 
the exterior surface, rendering the openings nearly invisible in accordance 
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with Marsh's expressed Intent. In the 1920fe screens of metal bars were hinged 
above each window on the interior; two horizontal bars projected like towel 
racks from the north, west, and south openings and three from the taller east 
openings. At about the same time, gabled rain gutters resembling peaked 
eyebrows were fastened to the exterior above each window.

In 1961 the openings were glazed with safety glass. The vertical glass 
panels are flush with the sloping exterior masonry at the sills but project 
at the heads of the openings. Under certain lighting conditions shadows from 
these projections reinforce their presence, making the windows appear larger 
than they are. The glazing did permit removal of the obtrusive bars and gutters. 
The Interior shutters remained in place until 1975, when the installation of 
a protective glass wainscoting on the interior walls necessitated their removal.

Two protective features accompany the windows on the pyramidion. The first, 
dating from 1885, is a system of lightning conductors extending down from the 
engraved 100-ounce aluminum capstone at the tip of the monument. The second 
is a set of red lights used to alert aircraft to the position of the obelisk. 
Installed in 1958. There are eight of these lights, one above each of the windows.

Supporting the entire 81,120-ton edifice is a 36,912-ton foundation of Portland 
cement which goes to a depth of 36' 10" and covers an area~of~16,002 square feet.

The Washington Monument sits atop a grassy knoll with land gently sloping to 
every side. Though it appears natural, this aesthetic hillock is the result 
of a landscaping project which was done in the years immediately following the 
monument's construction. The monument itself plays a key role in the city's 
design. The L'Enfant Plan placed it at the juncture of the Mall running west 
from the Capitol, and the President's Park extending south from the White House. 
Later, after the land south and west of it had been reclaimed from the Potomac 
River, the Washington Monument, in accordance with the McMillan Plan of 1901, 
became the approximate center point of the cross formed by the Capitol, White 
House, Lincoln Memorial, and Jefferson Memorial.

The Survey Lodge

Located approximately 750' southwest of the Washington Monument is the Survey 
Lodge, formerly known as the Boiler Room. It is a small, one-story structure, 
roughly square in plan, which was built by contractor William Bradley in 1886. 
The five-step main entrance is found on the west end of the north side of the 
building under a shallow projection with a gabled peak. Two feet from the
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with Marsh's expressed intent. In the 1920s screens of metal bars were hinged 
above each window on the interior; two horizontal bars projected like towel 
racks from the north, west, and south openings and three from the taller east 
openings. At about the same time, gabled rain gutters resembling peaked 
eyebrows were fastened to the exterior above each window. 

In 1961 the openings were glazed with safety glass. The vertical glass 
panels are flush with the sloping exterior masonry at the sills but project 
at the heads of the openings. Under certain lighting conditions shadows from 
these projections reinforce their presence, making the windows appear larger 
than they are. The glazing did permit removal of the obtrusive bars and gutters. 
The interior shutters remained in place until 1975, when the installation of 
a protective glass wainscoting on the interior walls necessitated their removal. 

Two protective features accompany the windows on the pyramidion. The first, 
dating from 1885, is a system of lightning conductors extending down from the 
engraved 100-ounce aluminum capstone at the tip of the monument. The second 
is a set of red lights u s ed to alert aircraft to the position of the obelisk, 
installed in 1958. There are eight of these lights, one above each of the windows. 

Supporting the entire al,120-ton edifice is a 36,912-ton foundation of Portland 
cement which goes to a depth of 36' 10" and covers an area o - 16, 002 square feet. 

The Washington Monument sits atop a grassy knoll with land gently sloping to 
every side. Though it appears natural, this aesthetic hillock is the result 
of a landscaping project which was done in the years immediately following the 
monument's construction. The monument itself plays a key role in the city's 
design. The L'Enfant Plan placed it at the juncture of the Mall running west 
from the Capitol, and the President's Park extending south from the White House. 
Later, after the land south and west of it had been reclaimed from the Potomac 
River, the Washington Monument, in accordance with the McMillan Plan of 1901, 
became the approximate center point of the cross formed by the Capitol, White 
House, Lincoln Memorial, and Jefferson Memorial. 

The Survey Lodge 

Located approximately 750' southwest of the Washington Monument is the Survey 
Lodge, formerly known as the Boiler Room. It is a small, one-story structure, 
roughly square in plan, which was built by contractor William Bradley in 1886. 
The five-step main entrance is found on the west end of the north side of the 
building under a shallow projection with a gabled peak. Two feet from the 
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gabled end and set back a bit are two windows. This pattern of two windows and 
a gabled entrance is repeated on the east side of the building; however, this 
side includes a large closed-off opening beside the door. The western wall has 
four windows but no entrances, while the southern wall is void of both windows 
and entrances. The latter wall is entirely of concrete except for a tapering 
marble chimney which stands in the southwest corner of the house. The interior 
of the building, which now houses the National Park Service Headquarters for 
Mall Operations, has been partitioned into various small offices. The basement, 
once housing the boilers, is now used entirely for storage. Entrance to the 
steam tunnels running between the monument and the Survey Lodge can be found in 
the basement as well.

The Survey Lodge is made of refuse marble and granite left over from the 
monument's construction. The walls, with the exception of the cement south 
wall, are made of marble in rusticated random ashlar masonry. In contrast 
are the lintels and sills of the windows and doors which are made of smooth 
granite.

Memorial Lodge

Just 480' east of the Washington Monument is a small, flat-roofed, one-story 
building with a partial basement. It is basically rectangular in plan, 
measuring 43' X 24' with a polygonal bay centered on the west side. On the east 
side is a central porch, 21' long, extending 2%' out from the wall. This porch 
is recessed into the front wall and faced with yellow brick and is screened by 
two marble Doric columns in-antls. There are two windows on either side of the 
central porch and one on each end along with restroom entrances. These casement 
windows are placed high in the wall above plain stone panels which are now 
concealed by shrubbery. This foliage also conceals the decorative pilasters 
applied to the center mullions and side sashes. The original structure is con­
structed of marble laid in rusticated courses of random ashlar. It was built 
by Poindexter and Company in 1888 and was remodeled in 1931 and 1942.

In 1963, a large cinderblock addition was added to the west wall. It is lower 
than the original section and is in a basic lean-to form, partially concealing 
the polygonal bay. An extension of aluminum awning is added to the lean-to 
structure in the summer to provide shade.
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gabled end and set back a bit are two windows. This pattern of two windows and 
a gabled entrance is repeated on the east side of the building; however, this 
side includes a large closed-off opening beside the door. The western wall has 
four windows but no entrances, while the southern wall is void of both windows 
and entrances. The latter wall is entirely of concrete except for a tapering 
marble chimney which stands in the southwest corner of the house. The interior 
of the building, which now houses the National Park Service Headquarters for 
Mall Operations, has been partitioned into various small offices. The basement, 
once housing the boilers, is now used entirely for storage. Entrance to the 
steam tunnels running between the monument and the Survey Lodge can be found in 
the basement as well. 

The Survey Lodge is made of refuse marble and granite left over from the 
monument's construction. The walls, with the exception of the cement south 
wall, are made of marble in rusticated random ashlar masonry. In contrast 
are the lintels and sills of the windows and doors which are made of smooth 
granite. 

Memorial Lodge 

Just 480' east of the Washington Monument is a small, flat-roofed, one-story 
building with a partial basement. It is basically rectangular in plan, 
measuring 43' X 24' with a polygonal bay centered on the west side. On the east 
side is a central porch, 21' long, extending 2½' out from the wall. This porch 
is recessed into the front wall and faced with yellow brick and is screened by 
two marble Doric columns in-antis. There are two windows on either side of the 
central porch and one on each end along with restroom entrances. These casement 
windows are placed high in the wall above plain stone panels which are now 
concealed by shrubbery. This foliage also conceals the decorative pilasters 
applied to the center mullions and side sashes. The original structure is con­
structed of marble laid in rusticated courses of random ashlar. It was built 
by Poindexter and Company in 1888 and was remodeled in 1931 and 1942. 

In 1963, a large cinderblock addition was added to the west wall. It is lower 
than the original section and is in a basic lean-to form, partially concealing 
the polygonal bay. An extension of aluminum awning is added to the lean-to 
structure in the summer to provide shade. 
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Jefferson Pier Marker

The Jefferson Pier Marker is a small monument, 371.6' west and 123.17' north 
of the Washington Monument, lying on the spot where the east-west axis of the 
Capitol Intersects the north-south axis of the White House. The original stone, 
placed in 1804, was later leveled and forgotten. In 1890, another stone was 
erected over the foundation of the earlier marker. This second stone, a 2' X 2' 
block of granite 3'3" tall, has inscribed on its western face the following:

POSITION OF JEFFERSON 
PIER ERECTED DEC 18, 1804.

RECOVERED AND RE-ERECTED 
DEC 2,.1889 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

The Sylvan Theater

The Sylvan Theater is located 150 yards south-southeast of the Washington 
Monument in a small depression near Independence Avenue. The first theatrical 
structure built on the site was constructed prior to 194^. The present theater 
is an open-air structure, approximately 60' long, 40' wide and 40' 
stage itself is basically of a rectangular design.

tall. The
It stands 4' above ground

level and can be reached in the front only by use of steps at the edge of the stage. 
The theater facade is carved wood of a dark brown color. The interior of the 
stage, also of wood, is painted black. Shrubbery serves as the backdrop.
Iron girders support the edifice from the inside.

f-

Framing the stagefront is a large green light boom. The lights and the sound are 
operated in the control booth, a small, brown 10' X 18' windowless structure 
just north of the stage.

Four auxiliary buildings are adjacent to the theater at its sides. All four of 
these buildings are brown, tin, flat-roofed structures. They are void of 
windows, having instead vents along the upper portions of the wall which admit 
air and light. Of these four structures, two are small and two are large. The 
larger structures, which border the stage on either side, are the dressing rooms. 
They are identical in design, both being about 35' X 15' in size and 10' tall. 
Both have one entrance on the south side and two on the side facing the stage.
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The Jefferson Pier Marker is a small monument, 371.6 1 west and 123 .17 1 north · 
of the Washington Monument, lying on the spot where the east-west axis of the 
Capitol intersects the north-south axis of the White House. The original stone, 
placed in 1804, was later leveled and forgotten. In 1890, another stone was 
erected over the foundation of the earlier marker. This second stone, a 2' X 2 1 

block of granite 3'3" tall, has inscribed on its western face the following: 

The Sylvan Theater 
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DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
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The Sylvan Theater is located 150 yards south-southeast of the Washington 
Monument in a small depression near Independence Avenue. The first theatrical 
structure built on the site was constructed prior to 1944. The present theater 
is an open-air structure, approximately 60' long, 40' wide and 40' tall. The 
stage itself is basically of a rectangular design. It stands 4' above ground 
level and can be reached in the front only by use of steps at the edge of the stage. 
The theater facade is carved wood of a dark brown color. The interior of the 
stage, also of wood, is painted black. Shrubbery serves as the backdrop. 
Iron girders support the edifice from the inside. 
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Framing the stagefront is a large green light boom. The lights and the sound are 
operated in the control booth, a small, brown 10' X 18' windowless structure 
just north of the stage. 

Four auxiliary buildings are adjacent to the theater at its sides. All four of 
these buildings are brown, tin, flat-roofed structures. They are void of 
windows, having instead vents along the upper portions of the wall which admit 
air and light. Of these four structures, two are small and two are large. The 
larger structures, which border the stage on either side, are the dressing rooms. 
They are identical in design, both being about 35' X 15' in size and 10' tall. 
Both have one entrance on the south side and two on the side facing the stage. 
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Nestled between these buildings and the theater are the two smaller buildings. 
The smallest, an 8' X 10’ shed, is the electrical center. The other, slightly 
larger, is a storage room.

Rounding out the Sylvan Theater complex are two sizeable,modern comfort stations. 
The largest, located just to the rear of the theater, is a permanent building
of circular shape. The other restroom, about 100' west of the theater.
green, metal, mobile structure opened only on special occasions. 
Sylvan Theater auxiliary buildings were built after 1966.

All of
is a 
the

Washington Monument Flags

Surrounding the Washington Monument in a circular colonnade are 50 aluminum 
flagpoles displaying American flags. They were constructed in 1959 to replace 
48 temporary wooden staffs first erected in 1937. The aluminum poles are grounded 
in concrete and stand approximately 24' high.

The Grounds

The grounds surrounding the Washington Monument have been significantly altered 
since the time the monument was built. When the monument was dedicated in 1884, 
it was bordered on the south and west by a marshland. The site which 
Charles Pierre L'Enfant had set aside for the monument was then at the edge 
of the Potomac River. Today this spot is designated by the Jefferson Pier Marker.

In the years following the dedication, thought was given to the terracing of the 
grounds. Plans were accepted, including one for an ornamental marble retaining 
wall at the monument connected to an elaborately-tiled esplanade by way of two 
broad double stairways. This plan was abandoned on economic grounds in favor 
of a simpler landscaping project. This project called for the deposition of 
250,000 cubic yards of fill around the monument, fashioned so that the earth 
sloped gradually away from the monument on all sides. Trees and shrubs were then 
planted and paths laid out, completing the look. This entire landscaping project, 
completed in December 1888, cost $82,500 compared to the $528,000 tab of its 
counterpart.
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Nestled between these buildings and the theater are the two smaller buildings. 
The smallest, an 8' X 10' shed, is the electrical center. The other, slightly 
larger, is a storage room. 

Rounding out the Sylvan Theater complex are two sizeable,modern comfort stations. 
The largest, located just to the rear of the theater, is a permanent building 
of circular shape. The other restroom, about 100' west of the theater, is a 
green,metal, mobile structure opened only on special occasions. All of the 
Sylvan Theater auxiliary buildings were built after 1966. 
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Surrounding the Washington Monument in a circular colonnade are 50 aluminum 
flagpoles displaying American flags. They were constructed in 1959 to replace 
48 temporary wooden staffs first erected in 1937. The aluminum poles are grounded 
in concrete and stand approximately 24' high. 

The Grounds 

The grounds surrounding the Washington Monument have been significantly altered 
since the time the monument was built. When the monument was dedicated in 1884, 
it was bordered on the south and west by a marshland. The site which 
Charles Pierre L'Enfant had set aside for the monument was then at the edge 
of the Potomac River. Today this spot is designated by the Jefferson Pier Marker. 

In the years following the dedication, thought was given to the terracing of the 
grounds. Plans were accepted, including one for an ornamental marble retaining 
wall at the monument connected to an elaborately-tiled esplanade by way of two 
broad double stairways. This plan was abandoned on economic grounds in favor 
of a simpler landscaping project. This project called for the deposition of 
250,000 cubic yards of fill around the monument, fashioned so that the earth 
sloped gradually away from the monument on all sides. Trees and shrubs were then 
planted and paths laid out, completing the look. This entire landscaping project, 
completed in December 1888, cost $82,500 compared to the $528,000 tab of its 
coun~erpart. 
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As the Washington Monument landscaping project neared completion, a larger 
landscaping project was just beginning. To the south and west, land which 
had been previously dampened or Inundated by the Potomac River was being reclaimed. 
In accordance with the McMillan Plan of 1901, this land was reserved for public 
enjojmient and now comprises East and West Potomac Parks and the portion of the 
Washington Monument grounds west of the Jefferson Pier Marker,

Since 1901 the grounds have undergone continuous change. Baseball diamonds 
and tennis courts which earlier in the century covered portions of the grounds 
have been removed as have temporary military installations built during 
World War II on the land west of the monument. Roads and paths to the monument 
have been in a state of constant flux. Today paved pathways between four and 
12 feet in width radiate from the monument to the northwest, southwest, northeast, 
southeast, and east. By mid-century, western extensions of Independence and 
Main Avenues were constructed across the southern portion of the grounds and a 
large Park Service maintenance and greenhouse complex in this area (across 
15th Street west of the Bureau of Engraving and Printing) was removed. East 
Basin Drive, bordering the Tidal Basin, affords parking for the paddle boat 
concession on the Basin and for the floral displays along Maine Avenue.

Those who come to the monument in a car may park in the designated parking area 
northwest of the obelisk. The oval-shaped lot is entered from Constitution 
Avenue. It covers an area of approximately one and one half acres and can 
accomodate 135 cars at one time. Like the pathways, it is surfaced with asphalt.

A gatepost designed by Charles Bulfinch for the U.S. Capitol grounds stands near 
the northeast corner of the monument grounds. It is included in a separate 
National Register nomination.
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As the Washington Monument landscaping project neared completion, a larger 
landscaping project was just beginning. To the south and west, land which 
had been previously dampened or inundated by the Potomac River was being reclaimed. 
In accordance with the McMillan Plan of 1901, this land was reserved for public 
enjoyment and now comprises East and West Potomac Parks and the portion of the 
Washington Monument grounds west of the Jefferson Pier Marker. 

Since 1901 the grounds have undergone continuous change. Baseball diamonds 
and tennis courts which earlier in the century covered portions of the grounds 
have been removed as have temporary military installations built during 
World War II on the land west of the monument. Roads and paths to the monument 
have been in a state of constant flux. Today paved pathways between four and 
12 feet in width radiate from the monument to the northwest, southwest, northeast, 
southeast, and east. By mid-century, western extensions of Independence and 
Main Avenues were constructed across the southern portion of the grounds and a 
large Park Service maintenance and greenhouse complex in this area (across 
15th Street west of the Bureau of Engraving and Printing) was removed. East 
Basin Drive, bordering the Tidal Basin, affords parking for the paddle boat 
concession on the Basin and for the floral displays along Maine Avenue. 

Those who come to the monument in a car may park in the designated parking area 
northwest of the obelisk. The oval-shaped lot is entered from Constitution 
Avenue. It covers an area of approximately one and one half acres and can 
accomodate 135 car,s at one time. Like the pathways, it is surfaced with asphalt. 

A gatepost designed by Charles Bulfinch for the U.S. Capitol grounds stands near 
the northeast corner of the monument grounds. It is included in a separate 
National Register nomination. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Washington Monument is significant as the nation's foremost memorial to her 
first president, George Washington, as a major example of 19th century Egyptian 
Revival architecture, and as a notable accomplishment in structural engineering 
for its period. It and its landscaped grounds are literally central to the 
monumental core of the nation's capital.

Plans for a national monument began as early as 1783 when Major Pierre Charles L'Enfant 
proposed to Congress that an equestrian statue of General Washington be erected.
Although the monument was authorized by Congress, no action was taken by the time 
Washington died in 1799. His death rekindled public aspiration for an appropriate 
memorial to him, and John Marshall proposed that a special sepulchre be erected 
for the General within the Capitol itself. Lack of funds postponed the construction 
of the tomb, causing the building of a memorial to falter once mroe.

Marshall was determined, however, an in 1833 he and James Madison formed the 
Washington National Monument Society. By 1836 the Society had raised over $28,000 
and advertised for competitive architectural designs. The winning architect was 
Robert Mills. His design called for a 600' tapering square shaft with a nearly flat 
top, surrounded by a circular colonnade on which would stand a statue of Washington in 
a chariot. Inside the colonnade statues of 30 prominent Revolutionary War heroes would 
be displayed. For this project. Congress in 1848 donated 37 acres of land—the same 
land on which L'Enfant had proposed to build an equestrian statue of Washington 
57 years earlier.

In an elaborate Fourth of July ceremony in 1848, the cornerstone was laid. Construction 
continued until 1854 when funds became exhausted. In 1855, Congress voted to appropriate 
$200,000 for continuance of the monument's construction. However these funds were 
rescinded when, in that same year, a political party known as the Know-Nothings siezed 
control of the Washington Monument Society through an illegal election. The 
Know-Nothings retained control of the monument until 1858 when they returned all 
records to the original Society. While in control, the Know-Nothings did add 13 
courses of masonry to the monument. Inferior marble was used, however, and the 18 
courses were later removed. The hiatus in construction was extended through the 
1860's by civil strife which diverted public attention and funds away from the monument. 
Only in 1876 with the arrival of the Centennial did the unfinished monument gain oublic 
attention once more. In that year. Congress passed a two million dollar bill to 
complete the monument, which had remained unfinished at 152' for twenty years. The
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BUILDER/ARCHITECT Robert Mills, George Perkins 
Marsh. Thomas L. Casey 

The Washington Monument is significant as the nation's foremost memorial to her 
first president, George Washington, as a major example of 19th century Egyptian 
Revival architecture, and as a notable accomplishment in structural engineering 
for its period. It and its landscaped grounds are literally central to the 
monumental core of the nation's capital. 

Plans for a national monument began as early as 1783 when Major Pierre Charles L'Enfant 
proposed to Congress that an equestrian statue of General Washington be erected. 
Although the monument was authorized by Congress, no action was taken by the time 
Washington died in 1799. His death rekindled public aspiration for an appropriate 
memorial to him, and John Marshall proposed that a special sepulchre be erected 
for the General within the Capitol itself. Lack of funds postponed the construction 
of the tomb, causing the building of a memorial to falter once mroe. 

,.far shall was determined, however, an in 1833 he and James Madison formed the 
Washington National Monument Society. By 1836 the Society had raised over $28,000 
and advertised for competitive architectural designs. The winning architect was 
Robert Mills. His design called for a 600' tapering square shaft with a nearly fla t 
top, surrounded by a circular colonnade on which would stand a statue of Washington in 
a chariot. Inside the colonnade statues of 30 prominent Revolutionary War heroes would 
be d isplayed. For this project, Congress ~n 1848 donated 37 acres of land--the same 
land on which L'Enfant had proposed to build an equestrian statue of Washington 
57 years earlier. 

In an elaborate Fourth of July ceremony in 1848, the cornerstone was laid. Construction 
continued until 1854 when funds became exhausted. In 1855, Congress voted to appropriate 
$200,000 for continuance of the monument's construction. However these funds were 
rescinded when, in that same year, a political party known as the Know-Nothings siezed 
control of the Washington Monument Society through an illegal election. The 
Know-Nothings retained control of the monument until 1858 when they returned all 
records to the original Society. While in control, the Know-Nothings did add 13 
courses of masonry to the monument. Inferior marble was used, however, and the 18 
courses were later removed. The hiatus in construction was extended through the 
1860's by civil strife which diverted public attention and funds away from the monument. 
Only in 1876 with the arrival of the Centennial did the unfinished monument gain :Public 
attention once more. In that year, Congress passed a two million dollar bill to 
complete the monument, which had remained unfinished at 152' for twenty years. The 
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construction was resumed in 1880 under the auspices of Lt. Col. Thomas L. Casey of 
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. On the advice of George Perkins Marsh, American 
minister to Italy, Casey altered the original plan of Mills and redesigned it so 
that the monument would resemble a colossal, unadorned Egyptian obelisk. With 
sufficient funding behind it, construction continued at a brisk pace. In four 
years it was completed, the capstone being placed on December 6, 1884, during 
an elaborate dedication ceremony.

The ceremony did not mark the end of construction though. From the leftover 
granite and marble rubble, two small utility buildings were raised on the monument 
grounds. The first of these was the Boiler Room (now known as the Survey Lodge), 
which was completed in 1886. This structure contained boilers that produced steam 
which, when piped underground, provided power for the Washington Monument elevator.
Today this building serves as the Headquarters for Mall Operations of the National 
Park Service. The second building was the Memorial Lodge, a single-story structure 
completed in 1888. This building was to function as the home of the monument custodian, 
house the Washington National Monument Society records, and provide restroom facilities 
for visitors who were to meet there before walking up to the monument. Today the 
Lodge is used as a restroom/snackbar/souvenir shop for the monument.

Less noticeable but of equal interest is the Jefferson Pier Marker. Located 
371.6' west and 123.17' north of the monument, this stone marks the spot where 
the Washington Monument was originally Intended to stand according to the 
L'Enfant Plan. The exact location was first affixed in 1793 and a stone was 
set in 1804 during Jefferson's presidency. The marker was used as a bench mark 
for the monument and as a mooring post for the old canal until the stone was 
leveled to the ground and forgotten. In 1872 these stones and others were collected 
for the bed of a nearby road. Only 20 inches of foundation remained and this was 
infilled with dirt. In 1889, interest in the old marker was rekindled. The old 
site was rediscovered and a new pier marker was erected over the foundations of 
the original.

The monument grounds experienced much change in the 20th century. In 1917 
the Sylvan Theater came into existence. The original theater was not a building 
but merely an earthen platform bordered by shrubbery. By 1944 an actual stage 
structure had been built on the site and by 1961 the stage resembled its 
present appearance. Various auxiliary buildings, such as dressing rooms, 
a storage room, an electrical room, a control booth and restrooms were erected 
after 1966. A major renovation of the theater complex took place in 1976.
The extant facility cannot be considered historic.
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construction was resumed in 1880 under the auspices of Lt. Col. Thomas L. Casey of 
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. On the advice of George Perkins Marsh, American 
minister to Italy, Casey altered the original plan of Mills and redesigned it so 
that the monument would resemble a colossal, unadorned Egyptian obelisk. With 
sufficient funding behind it, construction continued at a brisk pace. In four 
years it was completed, the capstone being placed on December 6, 1884, during 
an elaborate dedication ceremony. 

The ceremony did not mark the end of construction though. From the leftover 
granite and marble rubble, two small utility buildings were raised on the monument 
grounds. The first of these was the Boiler Room (now known as the Survey Lodge), 
which was completed in 1886. This structure contained boilers that produced steam 
which, when piped underground, provided power for the Washington Monument elevator. 
Today this building serves as the Headquarters for Mall Operations of the National 
Park Service. The second building was the Memorial Lodge, a single-story structure 
completed in 1888. This building was to function as the home of the monument custodian, 
house the Washington National Monument Society records, and provide restroom facilities 
for visitors who were to meet there before walking up to the monument. Today the 
Lodge is used as a restroom/snackbar/souvenir shop for the monument. 

Less noticeable but of equal interest is the Jefferson Pier Marker. Located 
371.6' west and 123.17' north of the monument, this stone marks the spot where 
the Washington Monument was originally intended to stand according to the 
L'Enfant Plan. The exact location was first affixed in 1793 and a stone was 
set in 1804 during Jefferson's presidency. The marker was used as a bench mark 
for the monument and as a mooring post for the old canal until the stone was 
leveled to the ground and forgotten. In 1872 these stones and others were collected 
for the bed of a nearby road. Only 20 inches of foundation remained and this was 
infilled with dirt. In 1889, interest in the old marker was rekindled. The old 
site was rediscovered and a new pier marker was erected over the foundations of 
the original. 

The monument grounds experienced much change in the 20th ri:entury. In 1917 
the Sylvan Theater came into existence. The original theater was not a building 
but merely an earthen platform bordered by shrubbery. By 1944 an actual stage 
structure had been built on the site and by 1961 the stage resembled its 
present appearance. Various auxiliary buildings, such as dressing rooms, 
a storage room, an electrical room, a control booth and restrooms were erected 
after 1966. A major renovation of the theater complex took place in 1976. 
The extant facility cannot be considered historic. 
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As early as 1937 flags were placed around the Washington Monument. On 
February 22 of that year, 48 flags—one for each state in the Union— were 
placed around the monument in honor of George Washington's birthday. The 
original 1937 flagstaffs were made of wood and thus were not intended to be 
permanent features. They stood Intermittently for 21 years until 1959 when 
they were replaced by the 50 aluminum poles which appear today.

With the coming of World War II, a number of temporary military installations 
were constructed on the western end of the monument grounds. These no longer 
stand, having been removed shortly after the termination of the war.

The most highly variant aspect of the grounds in this century has been the 
roads and pathways leading to and from the monument. In former years, cars 
were able to drive up to and park at the base of the monument. This practice 
has been discontinued. Presently, cars may use the parking lot located northwest 
of the monument, just off of Constitution Avenue. This lot was probably first 
constructed to serve the military installations located nearby in the early 
1940's.
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As early as 1937 flags were placed around the Washington Monument. On 
February 22 of that year, 48 flags--one for each state in the Union-- were 
placed around the monument in honor of George Washington's birthday. The 
original 1937 flagstaffs were made of wood and thus were not intended to be 
permanent features. They stood intermittently for 21 years until 1959 when 
they were replaced by the 50 aluminum poles which appear today. 

With the coming of World War II, a number of temporary military installations 
were constructed on the western end of the monument grounds. These no longer 
stand, having been removed shortly after the termination of the war. 

The most highly variant aspect of the grounds in this century has been the 
roads and pathways leading to and from the monument. In former years, cars 
were able to drive up to and park at the base of the monument. This practice 
has been discontinued. Presently, cars may use the parking lot located northwest 
of the monument, just off of Constitution Avenue. This lot was probably first 
constructed to serve the military installations located nearby in the early 
1940's. 
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Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at the southwest corner of Constitution Avenue and 14th Street, N.W., 
thence southerly along the western side of 14th Street to its Intersection with 
Independence Avenue, thence westerly along the north side of Independence Avenue 
to its intersection with 15th Street, thence southerly along the west side of 
15th Street to the Tidal Basin, thence northwesterly along the shore of the 
Tidal Basin to its intersection with 17th Street, thence northerly along the 
east side of 17th Street to its intersection with Constitution Avenue, thence 
easterly along the south side of Constitution Avenue to the point of beginning.
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Beginning at the southwest corner of Constitution Avenue and 14th Street, N.W., 
thence southerly along the western side of 14th Street to its intersection with 
Independence Avenue, thence westerly along the north side of Independence Avenue 
to its intersection with 15th Street, thence southerly along the west side of 
15th Street to the Tidal Basin, thence northwesterly along the shore of the 
Tidal Basin to its intersection with 17th Street, thence northerly along the 
east side of 17th Street to its intersection with Constitution Avenue, thence 
easterly along the south side of Constitution Avenue to the point of beginning. 
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5.  Classification  
 

Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply.) 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box.) 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.) 
 

    Contributing Noncontributing  

 private  building(s) 2 4 buildings 
 public - Local X district 3 5 sites 
 public - State  site 8 6 structures 

X public - Federal  structure 9 3 objects 
   object 22 18 Total 

 
Name of related multiple property listing 
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)            

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register 
 

N/A   7 (2 buildings, 1 site, 3 structures, 1 object) 
                                             

6. Function or Use                                                                      

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

Recreation and Culture/monument/marker  Recreation and Culture/monument/marker 

Landscape/park   Landscape/park 

Recreation and Culture/outdoor recreation  Recreation and Culture/outdoor recreation 
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7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

 Materials  
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

Mid-19th Century/Exotic Revival (Egyptian Revival)  foundation: gneiss, concrete 

  walls: marble, gneiss, granite 

    

  roof: marble  

  other: iron, aluminum 

    
 
 

Narrative Description 

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property.  Explain contributing and noncontributing resources 
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as 
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)   
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Introduction 

The landmark status of the Washington Monument and Grounds was recognized by the District of Columbia on 
November 8, 1964, and the monument was administratively listed in the National Register of Historic Places on October 
15, 1966. National Register documentation of the property, including the grounds and ancillary structures on the site, was 
accepted on May 19, 1981 (NRIS no. 66000035). Since that time, the monument has undergone renovation and 
restoration, while two other buildings-- the Monument Lodge and the Survey Lodge/Boiler House—have been altered and 
repaired. The grounds themselves have undergone alterations of greater and lesser impact.  In addition, significant 
historical studies of the buildings, structures, landscape, and archeological features have been undertaken. In 2004, the 
National Park Service (NPS) completed historic structures reports for the monument, the Monument Lodge, and the 
Survey Lodge/Boiler House that documented the history and character-defining features of these buildings. In 2015, NPS 
completed a cultural landscape report (CLR) on the Washington Monument Grounds, which identified cultural landscape 
features that were not adequately documented in the original nomination. The CLR was based on a 2009 cultural 
landscape inventory (CLI) that included a consensus determination of eligibility from the District of Columbia State Historic 
Preservation Office. This amended nomination incorporates information from the recent studies of the monument and 
grounds, identifies contributing and noncontributing features (see table, p. 24) and brings documentation to current 
National Register standards. It changes the property’s National Register category from “structure” to “historic district” in 
order to recognize the wealth of contributing resources associated with the monument. The nomination expands on the 
discussion of the monument’s significance, reevaluating National Register criteria and criteria considerations, areas of 
significance, and periods of significance.1 Text and information from the 1981 nomination is included in the current 
nomination where appropriate.  

Summary Paragraphs 

The Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District is located approximately in the center of the National 
Mall in Washington, D.C. The site, which comprises U.S. Reservation no. 2, is bounded by Constitution Avenue on the 
north, 14th Street, Raoul Wallenberg Place (15th Street), and Independence Avenue on the east, the Tidal Basin on the 
south, and 17th Street on the west. It lies in both the northwest and southwest quadrants of the District of Columbia.2  

Constructed in two building campaigns between 1848 and 1884, the monument stands 555 feet 5 1/8 inches tall, 
the shaft rising 500 feet while the remainder constitutes the capping pyramidion.3  The shaft tapers from a base width of 55 
feet 1 ½ inches to a width of 34 feet 5 ½ inches at the 500-foot level.  The walls of the monument range in thickness from 
15 feet at the base to 18 inches at the upper shaft.  The exterior walls are composed of white marble. A slight change in 
the shade of the marble perceptible at the 150-foot level marks the two building campaigns. The Maryland marble of the 
first building campaign (up to the 150-foot level) has a lighter tone than the marble (mostly from Maryland with additional 
stone from Massachusetts) employed in the second building campaign. Supporting the entire 81,120-ton edifice is a 
36,912-ton foundation of Portland cement and blue gneiss that reaches a depth of 36 feet 10 inches and covers an area of 
16,002 square feet. 

The exterior walls are underlain by blue gneiss and granite. Commemorative stones donated by various states, 
private groups, individuals, and foreign countries are set into the interior walls.  Interior ironwork supports the elevator at 
the center of the monument and stairs that climb to its summit. A viewing area is located at the 500-foot level. It contains 
eight windows, two to a side.  Two protective features accompany the pyramidion.  The first, dating from 1885, is a system 
of lightning conductors extending down from the engraved 100-ounce aluminum capstone at the tip of the monument.  The 
                         
1 Discussion of the significance of the monument and its grounds is included in Section 8 of the nomination, below. 
2 The descriptions contained in this nomination combine text from the 1981 National Register nomination for the Washington 
Monument, from several National Park Service studies, as well as research and observation. The studies include “Historic Structure 
Report: Washington Monument and Associated Structures,” volumes 1-3 (2004), “Cultural Landscape Report: Washington 
Monument Grounds, Washington Monument” (2003, revised 2011, 2015), and “Cultural Landscape Inventory: Washington 
Monument Grounds” (2009). 
3 A survey conducted by the National Geodetic Survey in 2015 measured the monument as 554 feet 7 11/32 inches tall from current 
monument plaza. The historical determination of the monument’s height, first measured in 1884, was based on brass markers now 
approximately 9 inches below grade, but then at ground level. 
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second is a set of red lights used to alert aircraft to the position of the obelisk, first installed in 1958.  There are eight of 
these lights, one above each of the windows.   

The Washington Monument Grounds cultural landscape centers on the grass-covered knoll upon which the 
monument sits.  The knoll was created in the 1880s to cover the monument’s reinforced foundations. A broad lawn 
continues beyond the knoll to the edges of the 106-acre site. Elm trees delineate the site’s perimeter along the public 
streets. Stands of trees – including elm, chestnut, linden, and maple species – mark other locations. The primary stands 
are located between Maine Avenue and the Tidal Basin, at the northeast corner of the intersection of 17th Street and 
Independence Avenue, and south of Jefferson Drive between 14th and 15th streets. Groups of cherry trees are located near 
the Sylvan Theater, near Constitution Avenue, and elsewhere. In 2004-05 the knoll was regraded to integrate security and 
landscape improvements. A new pedestrian circulation network, also added as part of the security and landscape 
improvements, features a large elliptical walk at the base of the knoll and two smaller ellipses that intersect at a circular 
granite plaza at the base of the monument. The network provides circulation around, as well as up to, the monument and 
links with secondary walks leading to sidewalks along the boundary streets. Granite retaining walls along the edges of the 
elliptical pathways, along with bollards at path intersections, prevent vehicles from approaching the monument. Because 
the retaining walls are below the grass surface of the knoll, views to and from the monument remain uninterrupted by 
vertical barriers. 

Also located on the grounds are other buildings, sites, structures, and objects that were built after the monument 
was completed.  The Survey Lodge/Boiler House and the Monument Lodge – one-story buildings constructed of the same 
granite and marble as the monument – satisfied functional requirements when the monument opened to the public in 
1888. The Survey Lodge/Boiler House, located 750 feet southwest of the monument near Independence Avenue, SW, was 
completed in 1886 to supply steam power for the monument elevator. Originally L-shaped, the building was expanded in 
1901 by filling in the open side of the L. A steel and wood storage building was added on the northwest in 1989. As part of 
a rehabilitation and modernization project in the early 1990s, the structure’s original slate roof and cupola were restored. 
Today, the Survey Lodge/Boiler House houses National Park Service personnel offices and public restroom facilities. The 
Monument Lodge is located about 480 feet east of the Washington Monument. The rectangular, 25 by 30-foot lodge was 
originally built in 1888-89 to hold the archives for the Washington National Monument Society and to provide a room for the 
monument’s custodian. It later functioned as a visitors’ waiting room. Today, the Monument Lodge houses restroom 
facilities, ticketing counters for monument tours, and a book shop.  

The 2-foot square, 3-foot tall Jefferson Pier Marker, erected in 1889 northwest of the monument, marks the 
intersection of axes through the center of the White House and the center of the Capitol – the location proposed by Peter 
(Pierre) L’Enfant as the site of an equestrian statue of Washington in his 1791 plan for the city. The Elevation Obelisk, 
immediately south of the monument plaza, was erected in 1898 to measure settlement of the monument.  Constructed of 
concrete, the obelisk is 13 ½ feet tall and 3 feet wide. It is located below grade; the shaft in which it is contained is marked 
by a manhole cover. 

The Sylvan Theater is located about 450 feet southeast of the monument.  It opened in 1917 as an earthen stage. 
The existing wood stage, which reached its current size in 1976, is 75 feet wide and 32 feet deep and is covered by a 
metal and wood roof. An acoustical wall stands at the rear of the stage. A major renovation of the theater took place in 
1976 as part of national Bicentennial celebrations.  The existing proscenium arch and four auxiliary metal buildings were 
constructed at that time. Two of the flat-roofed buildings, each approximately 36 by 20 feet, function as dressing rooms; 
the other two (also flat-roofed and 16 by 10 feet) provide electrical power and equipment storage.  

The National Museum of African American History and Culture, at the northeast corner of the Washington 
Monument Grounds along Constitution Avenue between 14th and 15th streets, NW, was under construction at the time of 
this nomination, and its significance is not evaluated as part of this amended Washington Monument and Grounds 
National Register nomination. It has been identified as a contributing building in the National Mall Historic District National 
Register nomination.   
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Description of Resources 

The Washington Monument (contributing structure) 

Exterior 

The Washington Monument was built between 1848 and 1884 as the nation’s primary memorial to George 
Washington, commander of the Continental Army during the American Revolution and first president of the United States 
under the Constitution. Its construction took place in two major phases, 1848-58 and 1876-84. Construction of the 
Monument Lodge and a boiler house, now known as the Survey Lodge, as well as landscaping of the grounds, occurred in 
the years immediately following completion of the monument.  Alterations and additions to the monument, its associated 
buildings, and the grounds have occurred throughout the property’s history. 

Peter (Pierre) Charles L’Enfant’s 1791 identified the location for an equestrian monument to Washington 
(proposed by Congress in 1783) to be erected at the intersection of the east-west axis through the Capitol and the north-
south axis through the White House on what is now the National Mall. As built, however, the Washington Monument 
stands 351.6 feet east and 123.17 feet south of that point. The choice of this site may have been influenced by the fact 
that L’Enfant’s location for the monument lay very near the Potomac River, which would have required extensive earth-
moving operations to create a building site suitable to the monument as designed by Robert Mills. The Washington 
National Monument Society, the private entity responsible for funding and building the monument, had continual difficulty 
raising money for the project, which may have encouraged it to seek a location that did not require substantial 
preconstruction preparations. 

Mills, the nation’s Architect of Public Buildings from 1836 to 1842, originally envisioned a neoclassical monument, 
which provided for a nearly flat-topped obelisk surrounded by a circular colonnade that would function as a pantheon 
honoring heroes of the American Revolution.  Construction on the obelisk began in 1848 following Mills’ plan, although a 
decision on whether or not to build the pantheon was deferred until a later date. When the monument project was resumed 
in 1876, Mills’ successor, Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, redesigned the monument 
to resemble an unadorned Egyptian obelisk with a pointed pyramidion in accordance with the suggestions of George 
Perkins Marsh. The United States ambassador to Italy, Marsh had studied the proportions of obelisks located in Rome. 
Casey also discarded the idea of Mills’ pantheon. The monument design revised by Casey and Marsh is essentially what 
appears today.  

The foundation for the monument reflects its two building campaigns.  During the initial construction period, eight 
stepped-back courses of blue gneiss laid with lime mortar constituted the foundation. In the later campaign, Casey 
underpinned and then encapsulated this foundation with hydraulic cement concrete, giving it both a broader spread and a 
deeper footing. The existing foundation base measures 126 feet, 5 ½ inches per side and reaches a depth of 36 feet, 10 
inches below the floor of the monument, and covers an area of 16,002 square feet.  

The completed Washington Monument stands 555 feet, 5 1/8 inches tall, the shaft rising 500 feet while the 
remainder constitutes the capping pyramidion. The shaft tapers from a base width of 55 feet, 1 ½ inches to a width of 34 
feet 5 ½ inches at the 500-foot level. The walls of the monument range in thickness from 15 feet at the base to 18 inches 
at the upper shaft. They are composed of white marble underlain by blue gneiss and/or granite. As part of the first 
construction campaign, paired marble doors, 16 feet tall, were installed at ground level to provide entrance to the 
monument interior from both the east and west facades. When the monument was completed in 1884, the west doorway 
was closed and its exterior ornament removed, and the east door was reduced to 8 feet in height. Its ornament was also 
removed. Removal of the ornament brought the monument closer to a pure obelisk form. The east doorway is 5 feet 8 
inches wide, and the marble doors are fixed in the open position.  

A slight  change in the shade of the exterior marble is perceptible at the 150-foot level, where the second building 
campaign began, and the masonry pattern also changes at this point.4 The coursed, smooth ashlar marble blocks from 
Maryland that were employed in the first construction campaign are of a light tone and laid in a random bond pattern, with 
extremely thin mortar joints. Roughly dressed blue gneiss constitutes the interior construction. Above the 150-foot level, 
                         
4 The HSR states that the second building campaign began at the 150-foot level (HSR, 4-4 – 4-7). This conclusion appears to be based 
on drawings of the work during Casey’s administration. The inscription on the aluminum cap to the pyramidion, however, indicates 
that the first stone of the second building campaign was laid at the 152-foot level. 
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the coursed ashlar exterior marble blocks (mostly from Maryland with additional stone from Massachusetts) have a darker 
tone and are laid in a Flemish bond pattern with slightly thicker mortar joints. Courses of granite and blue gneiss form the 
interior walls of the lower parts of the second building campaign. In the upper part of the monument, marble begins to 
appear more frequently on the interior, forming a checkerboard pattern with the darker granite and, above 460 feet, 
becoming the sole interior surface. The pyramidion at the top of the monument is constructed of ashlar marble laid in a 
running bond pattern. A solid marble capstone sits atop the pyramidion, acting as a keystone. Its cast-aluminum tip, nearly 
9 inches tall, is inscribed on all four sides with information related to the construction and completion of the monument and 
the names of many of those involved.  

Two observation windows pierce each face of the pyramidion. Each window is 3 feet wide. Those on the east are 
24 ½ inches tall, while those on the other three sides are 18 inches tall. The openings were originally unglazed and could 
be closed by interior marble shutters, which hung flush with the exterior surface, rendering the openings nearly invisible in 
accordance with Marsh’s expressed intent. Storm windows were used as early as 1890, and the glazing has changed 
several times during the monument’s history. Bulletproof glass was first installed in 1974-1976. The marble shutters 
remained in the open position until 1975, when the installation of a protective glass wainscoting on the interior walls 
necessitated their removal. Two flashing, red, aircraft-warning lights were installed on each face of the pyramidion in 1958.  
The current window glass and aircraft warning lights date from the 1997-2000 renovation of the monument.  

On August 23, 2011, a 5.8 magnitude earthquake occurred, its epicenter located near Mineral, Virginia. The quake 
caused damage   to the Washington Monument:  broken and cracked masonry blocks, mortar shaken from horizontal and 
vertical joints between stones, damage to the lightning protection system, and bent elevator counterweight rods. Although 
never considered structurally unsound, the monument was immediately closed as a result of the damage, most of which 
took place above the 450-foot level. Exterior repairs consisted of securing loose stones, sealing cracks, patching stones 
and mortar, repointing joints, and removing and reinstalling the lightning protection system. The Washington Monument 
reopened to the public on May 12, 2014.5   

The monument rises from the center of a circular plaza (noncontributing structure) on top of a grass-covered 
knoll. (The knoll and the remainder of the grounds are described below, under “Monument Grounds.”) The current plaza 
around the monument was built as part of security and landscape improvements for the monument designed by the Olin 
Partnership and undertaken in 2004-05. Although it employs different materials, the current plaza retains the extent of the 
paved surface surrounding the monument that was established by the end of the nineteenth century.  The plaza is 
composed of alternating concentric rings of light Ash Rose and darker Mesabi Black granite with eight built-in, curved, 
white marble benches near the outer edge. Surrounding the monument at the outer edge of the plaza are fifty aluminum 
flagpoles displaying American flags (one group of contributing objects). Aluminum flagpoles were installed in 1957. 
The aluminum poles were replaced in kind in during renovations of the monument undertaken from 1997 to 2000. 

 
Interior 

The entrance level of the monument consists of the elevator at its center, surrounded by the east portal and east 
elevator lobby, the south corridor, the west elevator lobby and west chamber, and, on the north, access to stairs ascending 
the interior of the monument. The 1884 east exterior door opens onto the east portal, which leads through the monument’s 
15-foot-thick walls to the east elevator lobby. The portal has granite pavers that slope from the east door down to the 
lobby. The portal is faced with white marble dating to the monument’s first building campaign, and its west opening is filled 
with all-glass double doors topped by a single-pane transom. The doors and transom were installed in 1992. Most of the 
finishes of the east elevator lobby also date to 1992, when the granite pavers were installed, and the north, south, and 
west walls were finished in off-white plaster. The west elevation of the east elevator lobby includes the brushed bronze 
double doors of the elevator, surmounted by a bronze bas-relief portrait of George Washington, which was installed in 
1993. The east wall of the elevator lobby consists of the white marble and blue gneiss masonry from the monument’s 
original construction campaign. Historical graffiti, including carved characters, a profile of George Washington, and the 
date 1861, can be seen on the south side of the east wall.  

                         
5 Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument Post-Earthquake Assessment,” prepared for the National Park 
Service, n.d., 1-3. 
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A corridor on the south side of the monument’s ground level connects the east and west elevator lobbies. The 
corridor functions as a waiting room for visitors. In each corner of the corridor is an iron column that is part of the interior 
structure constructed in the monument’s second building campaign. The corridor has a terrazzo floor with decorative 
mosaic panels bordered in a Greek key pattern, installed and also probably designed by the Office of Public Buildings and 
Grounds during improvements made to the entry level in 1904. Also part of the 1904 improvements are the green and 
white marble baseboards, wainscot, and chair rail in the corridor, as well as the plaster walls above. The current plaster 
ceiling, featuring articulated beams and decorative cove molding, was constructed in 1975. Affixed to the walls are bronze 
garlands, sconce lighting, and a quotation describing Washington, all installed in 1993.  

The west elevator lobby also contains terrazzo and mosaic flooring, marble baseboards, wainscot, and chair rail, 
and plaster walls, all dating from 1904. The brushed bronze elevator doors are located on the east elevation of the lobby. 
These doors are slightly smaller than those in the east lobby and have a simpler surround. The west chamber – planned 
by Mills as the west entrance to the monument – exhibits marble walls from the monument’s original construction, as well 
as a terrazzo and mosaic floor dating to 1913. The west chamber is dominated by a bronze reproduction of the statue of 
Washington designed by French sculptor Jean-Antoine Houdon in the 1780s. The reproduction was part of the 1992-93 
entrance level improvements at the monument. 

The interior structural frame, consisting of two sets of four iron columns arranged in concentric squares and 
stiffened with girders and braces, supports the monument stairs and elevator. The columns are known as Phoenix 
columns because they were originally manufactured by the Phoenix Iron Company of Phoenixville, Pennsylvania, although 
other companies also manufactured columns for the monument. Beginning at the 20-foot level, original stair landings are 
located every 10 feet up to the 480-foot level, with cast-iron stairs alternating on the north and south sides between the 
landings, which are constructed of iron plates covered with terrazzo panels. The interior framing has remained generally 
the same since it was designed by Casey during the monument’s second building campaign. The elevator itself has been 
replaced several times, the latest in 1997-2000, and changes have been made to improve safety. These include the 
installation of metal screening around the elevator shaft in 1929 and the extension of all the landings to the elevator so that 
it could stop on any level. Glass panels have replaced the metal screens in some locations to give visitors better views of 
the monument’s 193 memorial stones as the elevator descends from the top of the monument. Donated by individuals, 
states, and organizations, the first stones were received in 1849 and continued to be donated and inserted into wells in the 
interior walls after the monument opened to the public. 

The 490-foot level contains displays interpreting the history of the monument, updated during the earthquake 
repairs of 2012-14. With the exception of the interpretive displays, marble masonry, and painted iron interior structure, the 
finishes at the 490-foot level date to a 1997-2000 renovation. This work encased the masonry surfaces in protective glass 
panels supported by painted metal framing.  The landing consists of a terrazzo floor around the elevator shaft with stairs at 
the northeast and southeast corners to the 500-foot level. 

The 500-foot level was also completely renovated in 1997-2000, and current finishes, with the exception of the 
interpretive displays and marble masonry, date from that project. The masonry is protected by glass panels held in metal 
frames, as on the 490-foot level. The eight windows in the pyramidion are glazed with bullet-proof glass. The floor of the 
500-foot level has the same terrazzo surface as that of the 490-foot level. The elevator occupies the center of the landing. 

After the 2011 earthquake, repairs were also required on the interior of the monument. These included repairs to 
stone panels, insertion of stainless steel plates or dowels to secure marble panels to their supporting stones, and repair of 
the elevator counterweight rods.  

 
The Monument Grounds Cultural Landscape (contributing site)  

The Washington Monument Grounds cultural landscape encompasses the entire 106-acre historic district. At the 
center of the cultural landscape is the knoll (historic associated feature)6 created in the 1880s to cover the monument’s 
                         
6 The term “historic associated feature” is used to enumerate and describe small-scale and landscape features not individually 
countable according to National Register guidelines. The convention was developed to reconcile the requirements of the NPS List of 
Classified Structures (LCS) and Cultural Landscape Inventories (CLIs) with National Register documentation guidelines. The LCS is an 
evaluated inventory of all historic and prehistoric buildings, structures, and objects that have historical, architectural, and/or 
engineering significance within the National Park System. The CLI is an evaluated inventory of all landscapes that have historical, 
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reinforced foundations. The monument and plaza stand atop this knoll. A broad flat lawn continues beyond the knoll to the 
edges of the site. A natural rise in the ground southeast of the Monument Lodge has been modified several times over the 
years – and as recently as 1997 – to create a berm that provides the illusion of an unbroken greensward stretching from 
the Mall to the monument. Street trees (historic associated feature), consisting mostly of elms, delineate the site’s 
perimeter along the public thoroughfares. Gaps in the elms on 14th and 17th streets maintain the vista between the Capitol, 
the Washington Monument and the Lincoln Memorial. Groves of trees (historic associated feature) – including elm, 
chestnut, linden, and maple species – mark other locations. The primary stands are located between Maine Avenue and 
the Tidal Basin, at the northeast corner of the intersection of 17th Street and Independence Avenue, and south of Jefferson 
Drive between 14th and 15th streets. A mulberry tree (historic associated feature), dating to the period of significance, is 
located southwest of the Washington Monument. Groups of cherry trees (historic associated feature) are located near 
the Sylvan Theater, near Constitution Avenue, along the Tidal Basin, and elsewhere. A planting plan developed by the Olin 
Partnership in 2002 envisioned the addition of more than 700 trees to the grounds, especially cherry trees. Partially 
implemented during the 2004-05 landscape and security improvements, the number of trees was reduced to just over 600 
to accommodate the construction of the National Museum of African American History and Culture (NMAAHC) and the 
Potomac Park Levee. The additional trees are being planted in association with the NMAAHC construction. 

 
Buildings  

The Monument Lodge (contributing building) is located about 480 feet east of the base of the Washington 
Monument. The lodge was originally built in 1888-89 to hold the archives for the Washington National Monument Society 
and to provide a room for the monument’s custodian. Later, it was used as a waiting area for visitors. Today, the 
Monument Lodge houses restroom facilities, ticketing counters for monument tours, and a book shop. 

The one-story, flat-roofed Greek Revival building with a partial basement, designed by Washington architects 
William Poindexter and Co., is rectangular in plan and measures approximately 25 by 30 feet. It is constructed of granite-
faced brick at the foundation and random-coursed ashlar marble blocks above. The exterior granite and marble is dressed 
to a rusticated finish. A thin projecting molding runs along all elevations above the lintels over the windows and doors, and 
a marble cornice caps the walls. Two partially fluted, Doric, in antis columns create a shallow portico entrance at the center 
of the east elevation. The wall behind the columns is constructed of yellow brick; modern metal double doors fill the 
exterior doorway in this wall, below an eighteen-light wood transom. Paired, eight-light wood windows above marble panels 
flank the entrance. While the window sashes date from a 2005-06 restoration, the window trim, including wood pilasters, 
was installed in 1889. The north and south elevations each consist of two bays containing a door (not original) and a 
window above a marble panel.  The windows and trim match those on the east elevation. Portions of the original wood 
pilasters remain in the transom above the later doors on the north and south elevations. The restoration of the Monument 
Lodge in 2005-06 removed a concrete block addition and returned the west elevation to its original appearance, which 
consists of a central projecting bay flanked by windows in the outer bays. The outer bay windows match those on the 
north, south, and east elevations. The three openings in the projecting center bay each contain a single twelve-light sash 
between wood pilasters. All of the windows are located above marble panels. 

The interior of the Monument Lodge consists of three distinct spaces: the central shop and ticketing area, the 
men’s rest room to the north and the women’s rest room to the south. The tripartite division of the lodge’s interior space 
dates to the building’s original construction, but the room uses and most of the finishes in these rooms have been altered. 
Wood double doors dating to 1889 with original hardware remain in place behind the modern exterior door.  The terrazzo 
floor of the central shop and ticketing area, decorated with a central shield and border ornament, dates to 1910.  

The Monument Lodge is located directly east of the Washington Monument, and its site, at the base of the 
monument knoll, maintains unobstructed views of the monument from the east. Exposed aggregate concrete walks 
connect the lodge to 15th Street and the pedestrian circulation network of the monument grounds. On the west side of the 
lodge, a stone retaining wall at the edge of the knoll creates a terrace, paved with exposed aggregate concrete. The 
                                                                                           

designed, vernacular and ethnographic significance within the National Park System. Although not officially part of the NR 
nomenclature, the convention of historic associated features is used by several NPS regions in order to keep track of all NR eligible 
resources managed within the National Parks. All known resources are included in this National Register documentation either as a 
countable resource or as a historic associated feature. 
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concrete walks and the retaining wall were part of the 2004-05 security and landscape improvements to the monument. 
The exposed aggregate concrete paving west of the Monument Lodge was extended to the retaining wall when the 
concrete block addition to the lodge was removed in 2005-06. 

The Survey Lodge/Boiler House (contributing building), located 750 feet southwest of the Washington 
Monument near Independence Avenue, SW, was completed in 1886 by contractor William Bradley to house boilers to 
supply steam power for the Washington Monument elevator. When first constructed, a buried steam tunnel connected the 
building to the underground engine room of the monument. (The tunnel still exists.) Originally L-shaped, the building was 
expanded in 1901 by filling in the open side of the L. The expansion accommodated the conversion of the elevator’s power 
supply from steam to electricity. 

The Survey Lodge/Boiler House is a one-story utility building with a full basement. It employs Greek and Colonial 
Revival decorative motifs, such as sidelights and a transom around the door, lintels over the windows, and a cupola. It was 
built using surplus stone left over from the construction of the Washington Monument. With the exception of the southwest 
façade, the exterior is faced with rusticated ashlar marble with a granite base course, two granite belt courses, and granite 
sills, lintels, and cornice.  The southwest façade, most of which was constructed in 1901, is built of brick surfaced with 
stucco.  

The main southeast façade is four bays wide, with the building’s original entry (now closed) located in the gabled 
east bay. The current entrance is located in the bay next to the original door and was added during the 1901 expansion. 
Two-over-two wood windows fill the remaining two bays. The northeast façade, three bays wide, dates from 1886 and 
contains a door and two windows. The door was installed in a window opening in 1989. The two-over-two windows match 
those on the southeast façade. The original northwest elevation, also part of the 1886 construction, was composed of four 
two-over-two windows (like those found elsewhere in the Survey Lodge) and the 1886 marble and granite chimney at the 
west corner. That elevation is now blocked from view by a wood and steel utility shed added to this side of the building in 
1989. The exception to the stucco-surfaced brick of the southwest elevation is its northernmost bay, which also includes 
the marble and granite chimney. Two two-over-two windows with segmental heads pierce the 1901 construction.  

After 1923, the building no longer served as a power house for the monument elevator. Between 1926 and 1933 it 
was occupied by the Design and Construction Division of the Office of Public Buildings and Public Parks of the National 
Capitol and became known as the Survey Lodge. Use of the building as office space resulted in the division of the large 
interior spaces into smaller rooms. Renovations in 1989 removed any remaining original interior finishes. The renovation 
included construction of the utility shed on the northwest elevation, over a former coal vault. Constructed of steel columns 
and beams, wood board walls, and a corrugated steel gable roof, the addition is used for equipment and vehicle storage. 
As part of a rehabilitation and modernization project in the early 1990s, the original slate roof and cupola of the Survey 
Lodge/Boiler were restored. The square wood cupola features paired pilasters at its canted corners and a metal bell-
shaped roof. Today, the Survey Lodge/Boiler House contains National Park Service personnel offices and public restroom 
facilities.  

The Survey Lodge/Boiler House faces Independence Avenue and is set within a group of trees, including elms and 
catalpa trees (historic associated features), that screen it from view from the Washington Monument. Walks connect the 
building to Independence Avenue and 17th Street, and another walk loops around the lodge and connects to the larger 
monument grounds circulation network. Iron and wood-slat benches (one group of contributing objects) line the walk 
toward 17th Street. An asphalt service drive arcs behind the Survey Lodge, providing ingress and egress from 
Independence Avenue. Cobblestone gutters (one group of contributing objects) run along portions of both sides of 
the drive and may have been constructed as early as 1901. Washington Globe streetlights (one group of contributing 
objects) associated with the drive also contribute to the monument’s significance.  

Two late twentieth-century buildings embody National Park Service efforts to provide visitor services on the 
National Mall. A former Tourmobile kiosk (noncontributing building), later used as an information booth and now by 
concessioners, is located on the south side of Jefferson Drive between 14th and 15th streets. It is hexagonal in shape with a 
pagoda-style roof and approximately 10-15 feet in diameter. The Tourmobile Service was inaugurated in 1969 and ran until 
2011. A larger octagonal kiosk selling refreshments stands at the east end of the parking lot near the Tidal Basin Boat 
Dock. The Refreshment kiosk (noncontributing building) has large service windows and a pointed roof. It is 
approximately 15-20 feet in diameter. 



United States Department of the Interior  
 National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900     OMB No. 1024-0018     (Expires 5/31/2012) 
 

Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District  District of Columbia 
Name of Property                   County and State 
 
 

11 

 

As part of Bicentennial improvements to the monument grounds, a comfort station (noncontributing building) 
was built south of the Sylvan Theater. It was designed by National Park Service architect Ben Biderman. The slightly ovoid 
structure is constructed of aggregate cement panels with a flat roof.  

In 2001, a temporary security screening building (noncontributing building) was constructed at the plaza 
level on the east side of the monument, abutting the east door. It is a one-story building, three bays wide and four bays 
deep, containing two rooms, with a flat, parapet roof. The exterior surface of the building is synthetic stucco scored to 
resemble the masonry pattern of the monument’s marble walls. The metal visitors entrance door is located in the center of 
the east side of the building; the exit door is in the south elevation. Horizontally oriented windows on three sides light the 
interior.  

 
Structures 

Along Constitution Avenue, flanking the 15th Street entrance to the monument grounds, stand two massive, 
square, rusticated sandstone piers known as the Bulfinch Gateposts (2 contributing structures). The Neoclassical 
gateposts are remnants of the enclosure installed around the U.S. Capitol grounds in the 1820s, which included additional 
piers, two gatehouses, and more slender columns.7 They are attributed to architect Charles Bulfinch, who guided 
restoration and completion of the Capitol between 1818 and 1829. The gateposts measure five feet square at the base 
and stand twelve feet high. Decorative features, including Greek guilloche carving and a decorative cap, were designed to 
harmonize with the basement story of the Capitol building. The Bulfinch enclosure was removed from the Capitol grounds 
in 1874 when landscape architect Frederick Law Olmsted, Sr., redesigned Capitol Square. The two monument grounds 
gateposts were relocated to their current site around 1880. These gateposts, along with two others along Constitution 
Avenue and the two gatehouses (now in President’s Park South), were listed in the National Register on November 30, 
1973 (NRIS #73002120). 

Portions of five streets cross the monument grounds: 15th Street between Constitution and Independence avenues 
and its continuation south to Maine Avenue (now called Raoul Wallenberg Place), Madison and Jefferson drives between 
14th and 15th streets, Independence Avenue between 14th and 17th streets, and Maine Avenue from the Tidal Basin to 
Raoul Wallenberg Place.8 Fifteenth Street between Constitution and Independence avenues (noncontributing 
structure) was a winding park road beginning in the late nineteenth century, but was changed to its current symmetrical 
configuration in 1997. Raoul Wallenberg Place (15th Street south of Independence Avenue, contributing structure) 
has followed its current course since at least the early twentieth century. The Independence Avenue corridor 
(contributing structure), consisting of the extension of Independence and Maine avenues through the monument 
grounds, was constructed in 1943 as part of improvements designed to facilitate traffic flow between downtown 
Washington and the new Pentagon building in Arlington, Virginia. The corridor includes an overpass (historic associated 
feature) where eastbound Independence Avenue passes over westbound Maine Avenue. The courses of Madison Drive 
and Jefferson Drive within the monument grounds (noncontributing structures) were altered in 1997.  

In addition to these existing streets, the Tidal Basin Parking Lot Corridor (contributing structure) is a remnant 
of River Road, constructed along the edge of the Tidal Basin in the early twentieth century to connect 15th and 17th streets. 
By 1909, a walk had been built south of River Road along the Tidal Basin. Construction of the Independence Avenue and 
Maine Avenue extensions severed River Road’s connection with 15th and 17th streets, and at some unspecified time, the 
truncated street began to serve as a parking area for visitors to the Tidal Basin. The current parking lot has an asphalt 
surface, striping for diagonal parking, and concrete curbs. The concrete walk with its metal pipe handrail (contributing 
structure) continues to follow the north edge of the Tidal Basin.  

                         
7 A total of eight gateposts and two gatehouses that were part of the Bulfinch enclosure still exist. In addition to the two gateposts 
on the monument grounds, one gatepost is located in President’s Park South and another stands near the National Gallery of Art at 
7th Street and Constitution Avenue. The other four gateposts are located on the grounds of the National Arboretum.  As mentioned, 
the two gatehouses are in President’s Park South. 
8 The rights of way of Constitution Avenue, 14th Street, Independence Avenue between 14th and 15th streets,  and 17th Street function 
as boundaries for, but lie outside of Reservation no. 2. The streets and features within their rights of way (roadways, curbs, 
sidewalks) are therefore not evaluated in this National Register nomination. 
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A service drive has encircled the Survey Lodge since at least the early twentieth century. When originally 
constructed, it connected to a curvilinear drive through the monument grounds. After the curvilinear drive was removed in 
1936, the course of the service drive was altered. The existing Survey Lodge service drive (contributing structure) was 
probably altered to accommodate the extension of Independence Avenue in 1943 and altered again thereafter. 

The 2004-05 regrading of the knoll – part of the security and landscape improvements to the monument grounds – 
also included a new pedestrian circulation system (non-contributing structure) around the monument integrated into 
the existing pedestrian circulation. The existing pedestrian circulation elements include the parallel walks west of the 
monument to 17th Street, walks from the monument north to Constitution Avenue at 15th Street and the German-American 
Friendship Garden, and the walks along 15th Street and Jefferson and Madison drives. The new pedestrian circulation 
network features a large elliptical walk at the base of the knoll and two smaller ellipses that intersect at the monument 
plaza. The walks are constructed of exposed aggregate concrete. Granite retaining walls along the edges of the elliptical 
pathways, along with bollards at path intersections, prevent vehicles from approaching the monument. Because the 
retaining walls are below the grass surface of the knoll, views to and from the monument remain open and uninterrupted 
by vertical barriers. Due to the recent date of the pedestrian circulation system within the monument grounds, it is 
considered a noncontributing feature.  

To satisfy current standards for flood protection, the Flood Control Levee that runs from 23rd Street NW to 17th 
Street NW between the Lincoln Memorial Reflecting Pool and Constitution Gardens was expanded across 17th Street and 
onto the monument grounds. The work was completed in 2014. The original levee was constructed in the late 1930s and 
later altered. The improvements to the levee on the monument grounds consist of a movable post and panel closure 
system across 17th Street in conjunction with flanking permanent barriers. The  monument grounds Flood Control Levee 
segment (noncontributing structure) consists of an arc-shaped flood wall (clad in gray granite), 120 feet long and 9 feet 
tall at its highest point near 17th Street.9  

 
Sites 

The Sylvan Theater (contributing site) has been used as a venue for public gathering and events for nearly a 
century. Although the majority of its physical features have been altered during that time (and do not contribute to the site’s 
significance), its use as a public gathering space has been continuous since it opened in 1917. The theater is located 
about 450 feet southeast of the Washington Monument and is surrounded by a variety of plantings, including cherry trees, 
a row of holly trees, a privet hedge, and shrubs. The theater began as an earthen stage constructed as part of the 
expanded entertainment and recreational use of the Washington Monument Grounds during the early twentieth century. 
The existing flagstone steps (historic associated feature) may date to that original construction or from subsequent early 
improvements. A wood stage supported by iron girders was built in 1944. In 1966, a proscenium arch was constructed 
over the stage.  

A major renovation of the theater took place in 1976 as part of preparations for the national Bicentennial 
celebration. The 1944 wood stage was enlarged and a new proscenium arch constructed. The existing stage is 75 feet 
wide and 32 feet deep, and is covered by a metal and wood roof. An acoustical wall stands at the rear of the stage. Four 
auxiliary structures were also constructed as part of the Bicentennial improvements. All four are brown, metal, flat-roofed 
structures. They are void of windows, instead having vents along the upper portions of the wall which admit air and light. 
The two larger structures, which border the stage on either side, are dressing rooms. They are identical in design, both 
being about 36 feet by 20 feet and 10 feet tall. Both have one entrance on the south side and two on the side facing the 
stage. The two smaller structures at the rear of the stage, each measuring approximately 10 by 16 feet, provide electrical 
power and storage.  

The Sylvan Theater setting was altered in 2004-05 as part of the Washington Monument Grounds security and 
landscape improvements. At this time a path and walled terrace were cut through the monument mound, which had 
previously provided uninterrupted lawn seating from which audiences viewed performances.  

                         
9 The entire Flood Control Levee is a contributing feature of the National Mall Historic District National Register Nomination. The 
segment on the monument grounds, completed in 2014, does not contribute to the monument’s significance. 
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The German-American Friendship Garden (contributing site) is located on the monument grounds near 
Constitution Avenue on either side of the north-south axis through the White House. Designed by Oehme van Sweden and 
Associates and developed in 1987-88, the garden is symmetrically oriented across the 16th Street axis, with identical 
gardens flanking a central lawn, all connected by a network of walks (historic associated feature). Each garden is 
focused on a circular terrace with a fountain and benches. The vegetation of the gardens consists of perennials and small 
flowering trees native to Germany and the United States.  

The Floral Library (noncontributing site), located in the angle formed by Independence Avenue and the Tidal 
Basin Parking Lot, represents an evolution of the Tulip Library on the site that was part of Lady Bird Johnson’s 
“Beautification Program,” a late-1960s effort led by the First Lady to create a more beautiful capital city. The work of the 
National Park Service, the Tulip Library was established in 1968 and subsequently evolved into a seasonal garden. The 
Tulip Library and its subsequent evolution into the Floral Library fall outside the Washington Monument and Grounds 
period of significance for National Register Criterion C and therefore does not contribute to the site’s significance.  

 
Objects 

The Jefferson Pier Marker (contributing object) is a low granite block located at the intersection of the axes 
through the White House and the Capitol, planned by L’Enfant as the location of a monument to Washington. The site is 
371.6 feet west and 123.17 feet north of the Washington Monument. The original pier, established in 1804 during Thomas 
Jefferson’s presidency to mark the nation’s prime meridian, was a more substantial structure of stone with rubble and 
cement fill. It was accidentally destroyed in 1872, and the current marker was erected in 1889 in the original location. The 
square marker, 2 feet on each side and 3 feet 3 inches high, has a pyramidal cap. Inscribed on its western face is the 
following information: 

POSITION OF JEFFERSON 
PIER ERECTED DEC 18, 1804, 

RECOVERED AND RE-ERECTED 
DEC 2, 1889 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 

The marker rests on a square concrete base that sits slightly below grade following the regrading of the monument knoll 
as part of the Washington Monument Grounds security and landscape improvements in 2004-05. 

The concrete Elevation Obelisk (contributing object) was erected in 1898 by the U.S. Coast and Geodetic 
Survey to serve as a benchmark to measure settlement of the Washington Monument. A small-scale replica of the 
monument (3 feet wide at the base, 13 ½ feet tall), the obelisk is located below grade approximate150 feet south of the 
center of the monument.  It is concealed by a standard manhole cover and is not visible from above ground.  

Double-lamp street lights known as Twin Twenty lampposts were the standard fixtures for major roadways along 
and within the National Mall between 1923 and 1960. Twin Twenty streetlights along Independence and Maine 
avenues (one group of contributing objects), either dating from the period of significance or replaced in kind, remain in 
use. Twin Twenty lampposts are also used along the boundary streets with the exception of the segment of 14th Street 
between Madison and Jefferson drives, which now features slender fluted lampposts surmounted by a glass cylinder with 
an ornamental top. These standards are known as Olmsted lights. Twin Twenty streetlights along 15th Street (one 
group of noncontributing objects) within the monument grounds replaced Washington Globe lamps that illuminated this 
street previously. Washington Globe lights along the service drive behind the Survey Lodge (one group of 
contributing objects) and segments of cobblestone gutters (one group of contributing objects) are associated with 
an early twentieth-century configuration of the service drive. Washington Globe lights along Madison and Jefferson 
drives (one group of noncontributing objects) were installed when the routes of those streets were altered in 1997.  

Two 100th Anniversary Plaques (one group of contributing objects) are set into the pedestrian walks 
connecting 17th Street to the ovoid path surrounding the Washington Monument (one in each walk). The bronze plaques 
were laid near 17th Street in 1984 in commemoration of the monument’s 100th anniversary and were donated by the 
National Society of Professional Engineers.  
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Among the earliest amenities on the monument grounds were benches, which provided resting places for visitors 
as early as 1905. By 1932, benches constructed of cast iron with wood slats were located at the base of the monument, 
and more were added in subsequent years along pedestrian pathways. As the walks across the site changed, so, too, did 
the location and style of the benches provided. Currently, iron-and-wood style benches (one group of contributing 
objects) are located only at the edges of the site, along Constitution Avenue, 17th Street, Raoul Wallenberg Place, and the 
Tidal Basin.   

 
Archeological Sites 

Archaeological resources within the Washington Monument and Grounds derive from five sites. Four are with the 
nineteenth-century development of Washington; the fifth comprises a collection of artifacts associated with American 
Indian habitation of the area. None of the sites, however, have been determined to be eligible for the National Register.  

The 17th Street Wharf site (noncontributing site, D.C. Archaeological Site Inventory no. 51NW232) is located 
within the right-of-way of 17th Street south of Constitution Avenue and partially on the monument grounds. In 1807, a wharf 
was built at the southern terminus of 17th Street at the mouth of Tiber Creek. Originally a large earthen causeway retained 
by a massive timber structure, the wharf served as a major shipping point for the city. The wharf was enlarged and 
improved several times during the nineteenth century. Historically, the construction and operation of the wharf was closely 
associated with enslaved and free African-Americans. At the end of the nineteenth century, the 17th Street Wharf was 
buried as part of the land reclamation project that filled the mouth of the Tiber Creek. In 2011, as part of the construction of 
a new closure across 17th Street for the Potomac Park Levee, archeological test pits were excavated in the vicinity of the 
historic wharf. Excavations uncovered well-preserved deposits associated with the site, including building materials, glass 
and ceramic vessels, and food remains. No evidence of the wharf itself, however, was discovered during the excavations, 
and the National Park Service deemed the site not eligible for inclusion in the National Register.10   

Archeological investigations were undertaken at the site of the National Museum of African American History and 
Culture, which is bound by Constitution Avenue, NW, on the north, 14th Street on the east, Madison Drive on the south, 
and 15th Street on the west. One investigation evaluated features and deposits associated with the historical development 
of the Washington Monument Grounds, including a possible remnant of a nineteenth-century circulation system that may 
have been part of the first formal landscaping of the grounds, as well as nineteenth-century domestic refuse (bottle glass, 
ceramics, and other wares), architectural items, and building materials. Phase I and Phase II archaeological studies of the 
African American Museum site concluded that no National Register-eligible archaeological resources were present, and 
the site  no longer exists as a result of the construction of the museum.11  

Archeological investigation at NMAAHC also analyzed the Washington City Canal Archeological Site 
(noncontributing site, D.C. Archaeological Site Inventory no. 51NW241). The Washington City Canal, which once 
connected the Potomac and Anacostia rivers, was completed between to 15th Street by 1815. It was continually repaired 
and improved over the next fifty years before being abandoned, filled, and paved over in the early 1870s. During 
archeological monitoring for the relocation of a Washington Gas line as part of the construction of the NMAAHC, wood 
planks and posts were exposed that may have functioned as timber shoring or served to control erosion. Although the 
planks and posts may be related to the construction of the Washington City Canal, the feature could not be dated due to 
the limited nature of the archeological activities associated with the gas line relocation.12 

An additional urban infrastructure site was located as part of archeological work associated with construction of 
the NMAAHC. Designated the Water Intake Tunnel Archeological Site (noncontributing site, D.C. Archaeological 
                         
10 Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Archeological Monitoring of Construction, Potomac Park Levee, National Mall and Memorial Parks, 
District of Columbia, Final Report,” prepared for the National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, March 2013, 1-6; 
Stephen Potter, Regional Archeologist, National Capital Region, National Park Service, to Catherine Dewey, Historic Architecture 
Program Manager, National Capital Region, National Park Service, December 15, 2014.  
11 Louis Berger Group, Inc. “Phase II Archaeological Investigation for the National Museum of African American History and Culture, 
District of Columbia,” prepared for the Smithsonian Institution, February 2008, 65-76 and 79.  
12 Thunderbird Archeology, “National Museum of African-American History and Culture, Washington, District of Columbia, Results of 
Archeological Monitoring of Gas Line Relocation and Documentation of Water Intake Tunnel,” prepared for AECOM Technical 
Services and the Smithsonian Institution, June 2012, 7-15.  
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Site Inventory no. 51NW243), the study documented the intake tunnel, now abandoned, that originally extended from the 
Tidal Basin toward the intersection of 14th Street, NW, and Constitution Avenue. The date of the tunnel, which appears on 
a 1930 map of the Washington Monument Grounds, could not be determined. The documented tunnel section measured 3 
feet in width by 4.5 feet in height and was constructed of 1-foot-thick concrete. The water intake tunnel was documented 
as part of mitigation for the construction of the National Museum of African American History and Culture on archeological 
resources.13  

The Monument Grounds Archeological Site (noncontributing site, D.C. Archaeological Site Inventory no. 
51NW35) was excavated in the 1880s, likely in association with the underpinning of the Washington Monument in 1879-
1880 and subsequent regrading of the grounds. The excavations occurred before the advent of modern archaeology, and 
today the location of the site cannot be pinpointed with any accuracy. The prehistoric (Native American) artifacts obtained 
from the site form a collection of 147 artifacts that indicate episodic use of the area for at least 7,000 years. This collection 
of Native American artifacts is now held by the Smithsonian Institution.14 

 
Views 

Primary views and vistas that contribute to the site’s significance include views of the Washington Monument from 
the city and surrounding region (historic associated feature); views from the top of the Washington Monument to the 
surrounding city and important sites (historic associated feature); views from the grounds to the Lincoln Memorial, White 
House, Thomas Jefferson Memorial, and the U.S. Capitol (historic associated feature); and vistas associated with the 
cross axis of the National Mall (incorporating the Washington Monument, Lincoln Memorial, White House, Thomas 
Jefferson Memorial, and the U.S. Capitol) (historic associated feature).The landscape plans that have been developed 
for the monument grounds are consistent in protecting the primacy of the monument’s broad lawn and open space. These 
spatial features protect the significant views associated with the monument grounds. 

Future Construction 

National Museum of African American History and Culture  

Authorized by Public Law 108-184, signed by President George W. Bush in December 2003, the Smithsonian 
Institution National Museum of African American History and Culture was under construction at the time of this nomination, 
and is therefore not evaluated for significance.15 Located at the northeast corner of the Washington Monument Grounds 
along Constitution Avenue between 14th and 15th streets, NW, the museum was designed by Freelon Adjaye 
Bond/SmithGroup and construction began in 2012. It is expected to open in the fall of 2016. The 400,000-square-foot 
building, which includes five above-grade floors and five below, will be 216 feet long on each side. It will house galleries, 
administrative and program offices, and an education center. The museum’s defining feature will be a three-tiered corona, 
constructed of perforated, bronze-colored, aluminum panels to allow light into galleries. At night, light emanating from the 
museum will create a glow through the corona. The shape of the corona is based on the column capitals of Yoruba 
architecture, and the angle of the tiers matches that of the Washington Monument (17.4 percent).  

Visitors will enter the museum from the Constitution Avenue or Madison Drive through stone-framed vestibules in 
the glass-walled facades. The Washington Monument will be visible from the south façade, and the museum’s porch roof 
will extend into a paved plaza and seating area surrounding a reflecting pool. On the north, an oculus at the center of a 
seating area near the entrance will allow light into a below-grade Contemplative Court. Between the oculus and 
Constitution Avenue, a polished, black granite wall will recall Tiber Creek and the Washington City Canal, which ran along 
the site until the late nineteenth century. The landscape will also include groves of trees and seating for public activities.  

                         
13 Thunderbird Archeology, “National Museum of African-American History and Culture, Washington, District of Columbia, Results of 
Archeological Monitoring of Gas Line Relocation and Documentation of Water Intake Tunnel,” 25-31.  
14 Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Geoarcheological Investigation for the Washington Monument Visitor Screening Facility, National Mall 
and Memorial Parks, District of Columbia, Final Technical Report,” prepared for the National Park Service, U.S. Department of the 
Interior, September 2011, 5.  
15 The National Museum of African American History and Culture has been evaluated as part of the updated and expanded National 
Mall Historic District National Register nomination and has been found to contribute to its significance. 
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Table of Contributing and Noncontributing Features 

This table lists the contributing and noncontributing resources of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic 
District, combining those identified in the 1981 NR form with the resources identified since 1981. The table also includes 
“Historic Associated Features.” This term is used to enumerate and describe small-scale and landscape features not 
individually countable according to National Register guidelines. The convention was developed to reconcile the 
requirements of the NPS List of Classified Structures (LCS) and Cultural Landscape Inventories (CLIs) with National 
Register documentation guidelines. The LCS is an evaluated inventory of all historic and prehistoric buildings, structures, 
and objects that have historical, architectural, and/or engineering significance within the National Park System. The CLI is 
an evaluated inventory of all landscapes that have historical, designed, vernacular and ethnographic significance within the 
National Park System. Although not officially part of the NR nomenclature, the convention of “Historic Associated 
Features” is used by several NPS regions in order to keep track of all NR eligible resources managed within the National 
Parks. All known resources are included in National Register documentation either as a countable resource or as a 
Historic Associated Feature. A map of the resources is included in the nomination as Appendix C. 

 

Resource Name 

LCS/CLI 
Feature 
Number or 
Archeology 
Site 

Construction 
Date(s) 
and/or 
Period(s) of 
Significance 

Contributing or 
Noncontributing 
Status 

Resource 
Type(s) 

Resource 
Count 

BUILDINGS – 6 

Comfort Station CLI#136236 1976 Noncontributing16 Building 1 
Tourmobile Kiosk CLI#136238 1969 Noncontributing17 Building 1 
Refreshment Kiosk CLI#136246 Unknown Noncontributing18 Building 1 
Monument Lodge LCS# 

100069 
CLI# 136220 

1888-1889 Contributing Building 1 

Survey Lodge/Boiler House LCS# 
100070 

CLI# 136222 

1886 Contributing Building 1 

Historic Associated Feature19      
Vegetation: 
Catalpa tree behind Survey 
Lodge 

136344 Pre -1943 NA  NA NA 

Temporary Screening Building CLI#136242 2001 Noncontributing20 Building 1 
 

SITES – 8 
 

                         
16 The Comfort Station is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
17 The Tourmobile Kiosk is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
18 The Refreshment Kiosk Station is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic 
District because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
19 See introduction for explanation of “Historic Associated Features.” 
20 The Temporary Screening Building is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic 
District because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
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17th Street Wharf Archeological 
Site (Site 51NW232; ASMIS No. 
NAMA00346.000) 

51NW232 1807-1902 Noncontributing21 Site 1 

Floral Library CLI#136366 1968 Noncontributing22 Site 1 
German-American Friendship 
Garden 

CLI# 136360 1987-1988 Contributing Site 1 

Historic Associated Features23      
Circulation: 
Garden Walks 

CLI# 136306 1987-1988 NA  NA NA 

Monument Grounds 
Archeological Site 

51NW035 Prehistoric Noncontributing24 Site 1 

Sylvan Theatre LCS#046850
CLI#136230 

1917; 1944; 1976 Contributing Site 1 

Historic Associated Features25      
Small-scale features: 
Flagstone steps at the Sylvan 
Theatre 

136270 1917-1930s NA  NA NA 

Washington City Canal 
Archeological Site 

51NW241 1810-1815 Noncontributing26 Site 1 

Washington Monument Grounds 
Cultural Landscape (Reservation 
No. 2) 

NA 1791-1943 Contributing Site 1 

Historic Associated Features27      
Views and Vistas: 
Views from D.C. and 
surrounding region to 
Monument 

137108 1848-1884 NA  NA NA 

Views from top of Monument 
to the surrounding city and 
important sites 

137110 1848-1884 NA  NA NA 

Views from the site to the 
Lincoln Memorial, White 
House, Thomas Jefferson 
Memorial, and the U.S. 
Capitol 

137112 1848-1884 NA  NA NA 

Vistas of the Monument from 
Lincoln Memorial, White 

137114 1848-1884 NA NA NA 

                         
21 The 17th Street Wharf is identified as Site 51NW232 in the D.C. Archeological Site Inventory and is assigned ASMIS No. 
NAMA00346.000 in the NPS Archeological Site Management Information System. Due to the fact that conclusive evidence of the 
wharf was not discovered during excavations for the Potomac Park Levee project, the site is not eligible under Criterion D and has 
been evaluated as a noncontributing resource within the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District. 
22 The Floral Library is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because 
it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for 
Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
23 See introduction for explanation of “Historic Associated Features.” 
24 The Monument Grounds is identified as Site 51NW035 in the D.C. Archeological Site Inventory. The exact location of the site is 
unknown; however, recent geoarcheological work on the Washington Monument Grounds identified two buried surfaces, or 
paleosols, that the D.C. Historic Preservation Office considers part of Site 51NW035. Due to the fact that the site is from the 
prehistoric time period and is outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion D, it has been evaluated as a 
noncontributing resource within the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District. 
25 See introduction for explanation of “Historic Associated Features.” 
26 Due to the fact that the archeological features associated with the Washington City Canal Archeological Site could not be dated, 
the site has been evaluated as a noncontributing resource within the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District. 
27 See introduction for explanation of “Historic Associated Features.” 
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House, Thomas Jefferson 
Memorial, and the U.S. 
Capitol 
Vegetation: 
Street Trees along Tidal 
Basin Parking 

137132 varies NA  NA NA 

Lawn 136312 1875-1876  NA NA NA 
Mulberry Tree 136314 Pre-1943 NA NA NA 
Street Trees along 17th 
Street 

136316 ca.1870s NA NA NA 

Street Trees along 
Constitution Avenue 

136318 1874-1875 NA  NA NA 

Street Trees along 14th 
Street 

136320 ca.1850s, 1874-
1875 

NA  NA NA 

Cherry Groves along Tidal 
Basin 

136322 1912 NA  NA NA 

Open Groves 136324 1875-1876, 1888, 
1894-1895,  

NA  NA NA 

Elms along Tidal Basin 
Parking Lot 

136342 1902-1903 NA  NA NA 

Topography: 
Mound (Knoll) 

NA 1848-1884, 1984, 
2004-2005 

NA NA NA 

Water Intake Tunnel 
Archeological Site 

51NW243 no date Noncontributing28 Site 1 

STRUCTURES – 14 
 

     

15th Street between Constitution 
and Independence avenues 

CLI#136298 1997 Noncontributing29 Structure 1 

Raoul Wallenberg Place, SW 
(15th Street, SW) 

CLI#136268 1791-1792 Contributing Structure 1 

Bulfinch Gateposts LCS# 46862, 
46863 

CLI# 136226 

ca. 1820s Contributing Structures 2 

Flood Control Levee Segment  NA 2014 Noncontributing30 Structure 1 
Independence Avenue Corridor 
(including Maine Avenue 
Corridor) 

LCS#046872 
CLI# 136262 

1943 Contributing Structure 1 

Historic  Associated Features31      
Circulation: 
Independence Avenue 
Overpass Bridge 

CLI# 136228 1943 NA  NA NA 

                         
28 Due to the fact that the archeological features associated with the Water Intake Tunnel Archeological Site could not be dated, the 
site has been evaluated as a noncontributing resource within the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District. 
29 In 1997, 15th Street between Constitution and Independence avenues was altered from its historic alignment. This segment of 15th 
Street is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because it is not 
significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion 
C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
30 The Flood Control Levee was first built in West Potomac Park in 1936 and altered in 1939 and 1974. The entire levee is a 
contributing feature of the National Mall Historic District. Further improvements in the levee took place in 2014, and a small section 
was built on the Washington Monument Grounds. This section of the levee is identified as a noncontributing resource of the 
Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under 
Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register 
Criteria Considerations.  
31 See introduction for explanation of “Historic Associated Features.” 
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Jefferson Drive, SW CLI# 136302 1997 Noncontributing32 Structure 1 
Madison Drive, NW CLI# 136300 1997 Noncontributing33 Structure 1 
Monument Plaza CLI#136272 2004-05 Noncontributing34 Structure 1 
Pedestrian Circulation System CLI# 136274 various dates Noncontributing35 Structure 1 
Survey Lodge Service Drive CLI#136254 ca. 1943 Contributing Structure 1 
Tidal Basin Parking Lot Corridor CLI#136264 1902-1903; 1943 Contributing Structure 1 
Tidal Basin Walk (including pipe 
handrail) 

CLI#136266, 
136382 

ca. 1909 Contributing Structure 1 
 

Washington Monument LCS#001372 
CLI# 136218 

1848-1884 Contributing Structure 1 

OBJECTS – 12 
 
100th Anniversary Plaques CLI#136378 1984 Contributing Object 2 
Benches – cast iron-and-wood 
slat at perimeter of site 

CLI#136374 n.d. Contributing 
 

Object 1 group) 

Cobblestone Gutters along 
Survey Lodge Service Drive 

CLI#137128 ca. 1902 Contributing Object 1 (group) 

Benches – concrete-and-wood 
slat, recycled plastic, stone 

NA various  Noncontributing36 Object 1 (group) 

Elevation Obelisk  LCS#046864 
CLI#137136 

1898 Contributing Object 1 

Jefferson Pier Marker LCS# 
011969 

CLI# 136224 

1889 Contributing Object 1 

Ring of aluminum flagpoles CLI# 136376 1958 Contributing Object 1 (group) 
Twin Twenty Streetlights along 
15th Street between 
Independence and Constitution 
Avenues 

NA 1997 Noncontributing37 Object 1 (group) 

Twin Twenty Streetlights along 
Independence and Maine 

CLI#136368 1943 Contributing Object 1 (group) 

                         
32 In 1997, Jefferson Drive, SW, on the Washington Monument Grounds was altered from its previous alignment. This segment of 
Jefferson Drive is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because it is 
not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for 
Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
33 In 1997, Madison Drive, NW, on the Washington Monument Grounds between Constitution and Independence avenues was 
altered from its historic alignment. This segment of Madison Drive is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington 
Monument and Grounds Historic District because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls 
outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria 
Considerations. 
34 The Monument Plaza is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
35 The Pedestrian Circulation System is identified as a noncontributing resource of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic 
District because it is not significant under National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, it falls outside the 1791-1943 period of 
significance for Criterion C, and it does not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
36 The benches on the Washington Monument Grounds (other the cast iron-and-wood-slat benches referred to above) are identified 
as noncontributing resources of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because they are not significant under 
National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, they fall outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion C, and they do 
not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
37 The Twin Twenty Streetlights on 15th Street between Constitution and Independence avenues are identified as noncontributing 
resources of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because they are not significant under National Register 
Criterion A or under Criterion D, they fall outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion C, and they do not meet any of 
the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
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Avenues 
Washington Globe Streetlights 
along Jefferson and Madison 
Drives 

NA 1997 Noncontributing38 Object 1 (group) 

Washington Globe Streetlights 
along Survey Lodge Service Drive 

CLI#136370 ca. 1902? Contributing Object 1 (group) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                         
38 The Washington Globe Streetlights on Jefferson and Madison drives within the monument grounds are identified as 
noncontributing resources of the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District because they are not significant under 
National Register Criterion A or under Criterion D, they fall outside the 1791-1943 period of significance for Criterion C, and they do 
not meet any of the National Register Criteria Considerations. 
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8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria  
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Register listing.) 
 

X A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.  

 B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 
  

   

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics  
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  

   

 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.  

   

 
 
 

Criteria Considerations  
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 
 

Property is: 

 
A 
 

 
Owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes.  

X 
 

B 
 
removed from its original location. 

 
 

C 
 
a birthplace or grave. 

 
 

D 
 
a cemetery. 

 
 

E 
 
a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

X 
 

F 
 
a commemorative property. 

X 
 

G 
 
less than 50 years old or achieving significance 

  within the past 50 years. 

Areas of Significance  
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
Architecture 

Community Planning and Development 

Engineering  

Entertainment/Recreation 

Ethnic Heritage (Black) 

Landscape Architecture  

Politics/Government 

Social History 
 
Periods of Significance  

Criterion A: 1791-Present 

Criterion C: 1791-1943 

 

 
Significant Dates 

1848 

1876 

1884 

1943 

1963 
 
Significant Person  
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
 

 

Cultural Affiliation 

 

 

 

Architect/Builder 

Robert Mills 

Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey 

William Poindexter and Company 
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Summary Paragraphs  

The Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District satisfies National Register Criterion A (properties 
associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history) at the national level in 
three areas of significance. The district is nationally significant in the area of politics and government as part of the 
establishment of the new national capital.  In addition, the monument and grounds are nationally significant in the area of 
social history as a gathering place for American citizens to exercise their First Amendment rights of free assembly and free 
speech in efforts to influence politicians’ actions regarding issues of national importance, including equal rights, military 
involvement, and social and environmental policy.  In the area of ethnic heritage (black), the Washington Monument and 
Grounds are also nationally significant for the important role they played in the 1963 March on Washington for Jobs and 
Freedom – a significant event in the civil rights movement of the 1960s that began on the monument grounds and 
culminated at the Lincoln Memorial.39  

The historic district is nationally and locally significant under Criterion A in the area of entertainment/recreation. 
The grounds are nationally significant as the site of continuing entertainment in the form of memorial visitation, which 
began to be encouraged in the United States in the middle of the nineteenth century as part of a movement aimed at 
advancing the physical and mental well-being of American citizens. In addition, national celebrations, such as those 
surrounding George Washington’s birthday and Independence Day have taken place on the monument grounds since the 
nineteenth century. Theater, music, dance, and other performances have taken place on the monument grounds for most 
of its history; the establishment of the Sylvan Theater in 1917 provided a purpose-built venue for these activities. The 
monument grounds are locally significant as the site of ongoing recreational opportunities for Washington residents.  
Recreational facilities were constructed on the monument grounds beginning in the early twentieth century. Prior to World 
War II, these facilities included roads, bridle paths, tennis courts, football fields, and swimming pools. Even after most of 
the built facilities were removed, the monument grounds have continued to act as the location of recreational activities for 
local residents, such as softball, kickball, and ultimate frisbee. 

The Washington Monument and Grounds are also nationally significant under National Register Criterion C 
(properties significant for their design or construction) within the areas of Architecture, Engineering, Landscape 
Architecture, and Community Planning and Development. The monument is a major example of nineteenth-century 
Egyptian Revival and commemorative architecture in its use of an unadorned obelisk – a memorial form used in Egypt, in 
Roman antiquity, in Europe after the Renaissance, and in the United States in the nineteenth century. The monument is a 
notable accomplishment in structural engineering for its period, having been the tallest structure in the world upon its 
completion in 1884 and remaining to this day the tallest freestanding stone building in the world.  It is also noteworthy as a 
memorial cultural landscape, the form and materials of the site (grass-covered knoll, expansive lawn, perimeter trees) 
emphasizing the massiveness of the obelisk and focusing the visitor’s attention on the individual it commemorates in ways 
that recall late eighteenth- and early-nineteenth century concepts of the sublime and the romantic. The monument and its 
designed cultural landscape (including subsidiary buildings, structures, and objects) are central components of the 
capital’s monumental core, acting as the crucial link between the President’s house and the Capitol in Maj. Peter (Pierre) 
Charles L’Enfant’s 1791 city plan and as the crux of the kite-shaped McMillan Plan of 1901-02.  
   The Washington Monument and Grounds satisfy three National Register Criteria Considerations. The Bulfinch 
Gateposts near Constitution Avenue at 15th Street satisfy Criterion Consideration B (moved properties). The two sandstone 
gateposts attributed to Charles Bulfinch were part of a group moved from the grounds of the United States Capitol after 
Frederick Law Olmsted, Sr., began his alterations to the Capitol grounds in 1874. The gateposts’ design, materials, and 
workmanship remain unchanged as a result of the move, maintaining integrity in these areas, as is required for moved 
properties significant for their design. Although they have lost their association with their original setting and their feeling 
has also been compromised, the two gateposts, along with the two Bulfinch Gatehouses across Constitution Avenue in 
President’s Park South, have been in their existing locations long enough to have created a new context as architectural 
features of their respective parks. The monument also satisfies Criterion Consideration F (commemorative properties) for 

                         
39 It should be noted that other ethnic groups may have significant associations with the monument grounds, but research that 
would document that significance has thus far not been undertaken. 
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the significance of its Egyptian Revival design and as a symbol of the principles the nation cherished in its first president. 
The monument and grounds satisfy Criterion Consideration G (properties less than fifty years old) for the ongoing 
importance of the activities that take place there. As a part of the National Mall, the monument grounds continue to 
function as a significant public gathering space for national celebrations and expressions of First Amendment freedoms. 
 
Periods of Significance  

Periods of significance have been defined for the two National Register criteria that the Washington Monument 
and Grounds satisfy. These intervals are described below. 

Criterion A: The period of significance for Criterion A has been designated as 1791 to the present. This period 
begins with the establishment of the new national capital and Peter Charles L’Enfant’s plan for the city, which included 
symbolic placement of a memorial to George Washington at the intersection of axes running through the sites of the 
executive and legislative branches of government. The area defined by this arrangement of buildings, memorial, and open 
space created a public forum in which issues of national significance would be played out. Celebrations of George 
Washington’s birthday and Independence Day on the monument grounds began in the nineteenth century and continue to 
the present day. As part of the National Mall’s public landscape, the monument grounds have had important roles in 
political demonstrations, becoming the site of, among other things, citizen advocacy of equal rights and opposition to 
American military involvement. The continued use of the monument and its grounds as the location for the expression of 
freedoms guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution and celebrations of significant national events signifies its exceptional, 
ongoing importance as a public gathering space and justifies the continuation of the period of significance to the present 
day.  

Criterion C: The nomination identifies the period of significance for Criterion C as 1791 to 1943. The period begins 
with the site’s designation by L’Enfant as the location of a memorial to George Washington at the great cross axis of the 
Mall. It ends in 1943 when Independence Avenue was extended through the monument grounds and the Thomas 
Jefferson Memorial was dedicated, providing a focal point for the axial view south from the White House across the 
monument grounds and completing the monument landscape as it exists today. Throughout this period the site was the 
location of significant planning, design, construction, and alteration. In 1804, President Thomas Jefferson established the 
intersection of L’Enfant’s two axes with a pier to mark the prime meridian he proposed for the young country. The 
formation of the Washington National Monument Society took place in 1833, resulting in the planning, fundraising, site 
selection, and ultimately, in 1848, the beginning of construction. This first building campaign ended in 1858 when funds 
disappeared in a squabble over control of the society. Calls to complete the monument began soon after the end of the 
Civil War and engendered debate in Congress and in the public media on the most practical means and the most 
aesthetically appropriate form by which to continue. That process did not begin in earnest, however, until August 1876, 
when Congress passed legislation that ensured completion of the monument.  

Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey of the U.S. Army’s Corps of Engineers undertook that task, and the capstone was 
put in place in December 1884. Work continued on the grounds and to make the monument itself ready for public use. The 
monument was opened to the public in 1888. The popularity of the monument with visitors and Washington residents led 
to improvements in the structure and the site throughout the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The size and 
configuration of the grounds also evolved over the course of the period of significance. As depicted on the 1797 Dermott 
map, the site was originally bounded on the east by the proposed line of 15th Street (never constructed as planned by 
L’Enfant), the Potomac River on the west and south, and the Washington City Canal on the north. The establishment of 
14th Street across the Mall, authorized in 1832, provided the eastern boundary for the monument grounds adopted by 
Andrew Jackson Downing in his 1851 plan for Washington’s central public reservations. The canal was converted into a 
sewer in the early 1870s and surfaced as a city street (then North B Street, now Constitution Avenue), which marked the 
northern boundary of the monument grounds. When the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers reclaimed the Potomac Flats west 
of the monument grounds in the late nineteenth century as usable parkland, the monument landscape was extended to the 
west and south and the Tidal Basin built as an aesthetically pleasing way to keep the Washington Channel clear of 
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sediment. With the completion of the Independence Avenue extension and the Thomas Jefferson Memorial in 1943, the 
monument grounds reached their current configuration and all significant features had been built. 

Narrative Statement of Significance   

The 1981 National Register nomination for the Washington Monument cited its significance in the areas of 
Architecture, Engineering, Landscape Architecture, and Commemoration.40 Subsequent studies have expanded our 
understanding of the significance of the monument and its grounds, and National Register classifications have been 
further refined since the original documentation. This narrative statement addresses each of the relevant criteria, 
considerations, and areas of significance, and assesses the level of that importance (national, state, or local).  

Criterion A (Properties associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history) 

 Politics/Government: The Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District is nationally significant in the area 
of politics and government as a significant feature of the plan of the new national capital. In 1791, President George 
Washington selected the site of the nation’s capital, as well as the planner of the new city, Maj. Peter (Pierre) Charles 
L’Enfant. Washington and Congress approved L’Enfant’s plan for the location of the executive and legislative branches of 
the United States government, as well as the green space and proposed statue to Washington that connected the two, by 
the end of the year.  This topographic organization of the branches of government, connected physically and visually 
through open space and a memorial to Washington, has formed the symbolic core of American government ever since. 
The Washington Monument and Grounds are part of the physical representation of the separation of powers that defines 
American democracy, while also symbolizing the necessary interaction between the branches and the importance of 
Washington in the founding of the country.  

The historic district is also nationally significant in the area of politics and government as the site of important 
political demonstrations that influenced the manner in which the nation is governed. See Social History and Ethnic 

Heritage (Black) (below) for a more complete description of the significance of the Washington Monument and Grounds in 
these areas. 

Social History: The Washington Monument and Grounds is nationally significant in the area of social history as 
part of the National Mall – the public forum created by the L’Enfant and McMillan plans that has witnessed demonstrations 
on issues of national significance and rituals of American democracy, as well as national celebrations and observances. 
Standing at the center of the great cross-axis of the Mall, the Washington Monument and Grounds have played an 
important role in these public events, including certain rituals of American government, such as presidential inaugurations. 
The grounds witnessed patriotic rallies during World War II and celebrations at war’s end. Peace rallies took place on the 
monument grounds in 1969 and 1971 as part of Mall-wide demonstrations, and other events on the National Mall since 
that time have extended into the grounds. These included demonstrations on equal rights for African Americans, marches 
for gay and lesbian civil rights, and events designed to raise awareness of HIV and AIDS. The continued use of the 
monument and its grounds as a forum for demonstrations and debates on political and social issues and as the site of 
public gatherings for nationally important events signifies its exceptional, ongoing importance as an integral part of the 
public gathering space of the National Mall. 

Ethnic Heritage (Black): The historic district is nationally significant in the area of ethnic heritage (black) for the 
important role it played in one of the seminal events in the civil rights movement. During the national debate on racial 
equality, the monument and grounds acted as the gathering place for participants in the August 1963 March on 
Washington for Jobs and Freedom. The marchers organized on the monument grounds before proceeding to the Lincoln 
Memorial and the Reflecting Pool. Speakers at the Lincoln Memorial, including the Rev. Martin Luther King, Jr., called for 
justice and economic equality. The march was part of a drive to pass the Civil Rights Act that outlawed discrimination 
based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

                         
40 Section 7 of this nomination explains the relationship of this amended nomination to the 1981 documentation. 
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 Entertainment/Recreation: The Washington Monument and Grounds are also both nationally and locally significant 
in the area of entertainment/recreation. The monument and grounds are nationally significant as the site of continuing 
entertainment and recreation in the form of memorial visitation, which, along with other leisure activities, began to be 
encouraged in the United States in the middle of the nineteenth century as part of a movement aimed at advancing the 
physical and mental well-being of American citizens. The value of such activity also guided the City Beautiful Movement of 
the early twentieth century.  The monument proved immediately popular upon its opening in 1888 and has been an 
important destination for visitors to Washington ever since. The monument and its grounds have also been the location for 
the celebration or observance of important national anniversaries or milestones for more than a century and a half. 
Celebrations of George Washington’s birthday and Independence Day on the monument grounds began in the nineteenth 
century and continue to the present day. The Sylvan Theater has also drawn visitors seeking dramatic and musical 
entertainment since it opened in 1917. The monument grounds are locally significant as the site of ongoing active 
recreational opportunities for Washington residents; these have included swimming pools, tennis and basketball courts, 
and baseball, softball, football, and soccer fields. Although built recreational facilities have been removed, the monument 
grounds continue to be used for softball, frisbee, kickball, jogging, and other recreational activities for local residents.  

Criterion C (Properties that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that 
represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic value, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity 
whose components may lack individual distinction) 

Architecture: Originally designed by Robert Mills, the nation’s Architect of Public Buildings from 1836 to 1842, the 
Washington Monument and Grounds is nationally significant in the area of architecture as the work of a master and 
because it possesses high artistic value as a unique example of a movement in the nineteenth century to commemorate, 
through built works, the lives of important Americans, especially the revolutionary generation. Such monuments were 
based on European precedents (or precedents adopted in Europe), which often took the form of columns, obelisks, or 
mausoleums. Examples in the United States include Mills’ 1813 columnar monument to Washington in Baltimore (175 feet 
tall) and the Bunker Hill Monument, a 225-foot-tall granite obelisk in Boston designed by Solomon Willard and completed 
in 1842. The Washington Monument designed by Mills in 1848 – at a planned 600 feet tall – by far eclipsed the size of 
these early memorials and was seen from the beginning as the nation’s tribute to the enduring influence of Washington’s 
principles. The refinement of the design to more closely represent Egyptian obelisks erected as commemorative works in 
Rome, undertaken during the monument’s second building campaign by Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey and George 
Perkins Marsh, the United States’ minister to Italy, reinforced the sense of Washington’s eternal significance and created 
an outstanding example of Egyptian Revival architecture.   

Community Planning and Development: The Washington Monument is nationally significant as a principal feature 
of the Plan of the City of Washington, the country’s foremost example of both Baroque and City Beautiful planning 
principles. The monument and grounds are located at the intersection of the great cross axis of the National Mall, the 
central feature of Maj. Peter (Pierre) Charles L’Enfant’s 1791 design for the new capital of the new United States. 
L’Enfant’s design had its roots in French Baroque precedents such as the royal court at Versailles and the royal chateau at 
Marly, but it was also influenced by the Paris of the late eighteenth century – in particular, the L-shaped public space 
composed of the Louvre, the Tuileries Garden, the site of the Church of the Madeleine, and the Place Louis XV (later the 
Place de la Concord).  L’Enfant proposed an equestrian statue in memory of George Washington at the intersection of the 
axes through the President’s house and the Capitol. The statue would be visible from the President’s house and from the 
Capitol and vice versa.  By emphasizing the physical distinction between the homes of the president and Congress, 
L’Enfant illustrated the separation of powers inherent in the Constitution and the Bill of Rights.  By connecting those sites 
visually with the Washington statue, he linked the legislative and executive branches in the common pursuit of the first 
president’s vision of republican government. While the Washington Monument was ultimately constructed south and east 
of the proposed location, it has remained as a visual link between the White House and Capitol and has continued to 
function as the hinge of the central public space planned by L’Enfant.  

The Senate Park (or McMillan) Commission, which included some of the nation’s leading designers (Charles 
Follen McKim, Daniel H. Burnham, Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr., and Augustus Saint-Gaudens), reimagined L’Enfant’s plan 
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at the beginning of the twentieth century. The plan reemphasized the importance of the monument by angling the 
greensward of the Mall to place the monument on axis with the Capitol and by locating memorials (ultimately dedicated to 
Lincoln and Jefferson) at the ends of the axes that crossed the monument grounds. The commission members all 
participated in the design of the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition in Chicago, the first fully fledged exercise in the 
principles of the City Beautiful movement, which emphasized broad boulevards, rectilinear landscape compositions, public 
art, and Beaux-Arts buildings. The implementation of the Senate Park (or McMillan) Plan in Washington is the most 
completely realized, permanent implementation of City Beautiful ideas in the United States, and the Washington 
Monument and Grounds retains primary significance at the center of the governmental and memorial cross axis its 
implementation reinforced.  

Engineering: The Washington Monument is nationally significant in the area of engineering as a milestone of mid- 
and late-nineteenth-century construction. The tallest building in the world when it was completed in 1884 (it was eclipsed in 
height by the Eiffel Tower in 1889), the monument remains the world’s tallest, free-standing stone structure. Lt. Col. 
Thomas Lincoln Casey of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers superintended the completion of the monument, beginning 
his task in 1879. Casey determined, in consultation with George Perkins Marsh, the American minister to Italy, the final 
design and proportions of the monument. He developed the means to strengthen the existing foundations using complex 
excavating techniques and concrete rather than stone for strength. He also developed the means of raising the monument 
using marble facing and granite backing stones and designed the monument’s interior iron structure as a framework for an 
elevator that transported materials and workmen to the top of the monument as it was constructed. The monument’s 
importance has been recognized by the American Society of Civil Engineers, which designated it a Historic Civil 
Engineering Landmark in 1981. 

Landscape Architecture:  The grounds of the Washington Monument are nationally significant in the area of 
landscape architecture, possessing high artistic value as a complement to the unique design of the monument itself. Upon 
completion of the monument in 1884, Casey designed the landscape to remain simple and dignified as an appropriate 
foreground to the purity of the obelisk itself. From the beginning, the monument grounds have consisted of a grass-
covered knoll on which the monument sits, a broad expanse of grass reaching to the boundaries of the site, trees 
concentrated near the perimeter of the grounds, and pedestrian and vehicular pathways linking the monument with 
surrounding streets. Other structures on the site, such as the Monument Lodge, which originally acted as the keeper’s 
lodge and as archives for monument records, and the Survey Lodge/Boiler House, which once supplied power to the 
monument elevator, were located in such a way as to remain unobtrusive and to complement the monument in terms of 
materials and design. The form and materials of the landscape emphasize the massiveness of the obelisk and focus the 
visitor’s attention on the individual it commemorates in ways that recall late eighteenth- and early-nineteenth century 
concepts of the sublime and the romantic. The landscape design is therefore significant as Casey’s adaptation of the site 
to its commemorative purpose, using elements of earlier landscape design principles. 

Criterion Consideration B (Properties removed from their original or historically significant locations can be eligible if their 
significance is primarily for architectural value or they are a surviving property most importantly associated with a historic 
person or event) 

  The Bulfinch Gateposts satisfy Criterion Consideration B as significant architectural features of the monument 
grounds. The two sandstone gateposts currently located at Constitution Avenue and 15th Street were designed by Charles 
Bulfinch as part of the fence surrounding the United States Capitol grounds. The pair was removed after Frederick Law 
Olmsted, Sr., began his alterations to the Capital grounds in 1874 and relocated to the monument grounds around 1880. 
As a resource significant under Criterion C, such a moved property must retain enough of its original features to convey its 
architectural values. The gateposts’ design, materials, and workmanship remain unchanged as a result of the move, 
maintaining integrity in these areas. No longer located on the Capitol grounds, the gateposts have lost their association 
with their original setting and their feeling has also been compromised, although their use at the entrance to the monument 
grounds does convey their original use at the perimeter of the Capitol compound. Further, the two gateposts (along with 
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the two Bulfinch Gatehouses across Constitution Avenue in President’s Park South) have been in their existing locations 
long enough to have created a new context as architectural features of their respective parks.  

Criterion Consideration F (Properties primarily commemorative in intent can be eligible if design, age, tradition, or symbolic 
value has invested it with its own historic significance) 

  The monument and grounds satisfy Criterion Consideration F because they possess significance in their own right 
for their design, age, tradition, and symbolic value. When it was conceived by Robert Mills, the Washington Monument’s 
size and mass were said to symbolize George Washington’s towering and enduring importance to the United States. The 
symbolic importance of the monument was recognized in the Senate Park Commission’s 1901-02 plan for Washington, 
which used the obelisk as the focal point of memorials to leaders of the American Revolution and the Civil War that 
stretched across the National Mall. Development of this memorial landscape has continued with the monument at its 
center, symbolizing the principles for which Washington stood and his significance to the country’s founding, unification, 
and endurance. The obelisk Mills proposed represented a recognizable commemorative form that dated back to the 
Egyptians and was adopted in Rome during both the antique and modern periods. The final form of the monument, 
conceived by Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey and Ambassador to Italy George Perkins Marsh, created a pure obelisk that, 
along with its isolated setting on a rise of ground, reflects the eclectic and Romantic inspirations of late nineteenth-century 
design. The tallest building in the world when it was completed in 1884, the monument is also a milestone of mid- and late-
nineteenth-century construction. It remains the world’s tallest, free-standing stone structure.  

Also located on the Washington Monument Grounds are a small number of commemorative works and markers 
were either not congressionally authorized, are small in scale, represent less well known events in American history, or 
commemorate local history.  They include the German American Friendship Garden and plaques commemorating the 
100th anniversary of the monument’s construction. These works are considered contributing as signifiers of broader 
cultural attitudes and represent the value placed on the commemorated subjects by their sponsors. They show how the 
monument grounds, like the National Mall of which it is a part, continues to serve as a canvas upon which successive 
generations of local citizens and communities have written the story of the events, persons, and organizations that have 
shaped our society. 

Criterion Consideration G (A property achieving significance within the last fifty years is eligible if it is of exceptional 
importance)  

The monument and grounds satisfy Criterion Consideration G for their ongoing importance as a part of the 
nationally significant public space of the National Mall and as a continuing venue for entertainment and recreation for 
visitors and local residents. In recent years the monument grounds have been the site of public gatherings related to many 
political and social issues, including American military involvement, ongoing pursuit of equal rights, as well as marches for 
gay and lesbian civil rights and AIDS awareness. Celebrations of George Washington’s birthday and Independence Day on 
the monument grounds began in the nineteenth century and continue to the present day, and the grounds have become an 
important part of the landscape for presidential inaugurations. The monument grounds are also home to cultural events 
such as concerts and films and a significant location for recreational activities by Washington citizens. The continued use 
of the monument and its grounds as a forum for the debates on political and social issues, as the site of national 
celebrations of significant national events and cultural activities and as a location of recreational opportunities signifies its 
exceptional, ongoing importance as an integral part of the public gathering space of the National Mall.  

Assessment of Integrity 

The Washington Monument retains a high degree of integrity to the Criterion C period of significance (1791-1943) 
in nearly all of the National Register’s seven categories: location, setting, form, design, materials, feeling, and association. 
The monument itself remains in the location chosen by the Washington National Monument Society and approved by 
President James Polk in 1848. The setting of the monument in a broad open space at the center of the National Mall, 
remains unchanged since the early twentieth century, when West Potomac Park and the Tidal Basin were created, 
establishing the site’s southern and western boundaries.  The obelisk form of the monument remains unchanged since its 
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design was finalized by Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey in the monument’s second building campaign, and virtually all of 
the significant materials (marble, blue gneiss, and granite, aluminum capstone, iron internal structure, terrazzo lobby floor) 
remain in place. Alterations to the design and materials mainly derive from upgrades to the elevator, electrical, and lighting 
systems, stairs, and signage. Repairs during the major renovations to the monument (1934, 1964, and after the 2011 
earthquake) resulted in minor loss of original material. 

The monument grounds cultural landscape has witnessed greater changes than the obelisk itself, but the grounds 
retain moderate integrity and continue to display the most important character-defining features of Casey’s original design. 
The monument still sits on its grass-covered knoll, surrounded by a broad lawn punctuated with groups of trees and 
vegetation at its borders. Subsidiary buildings and objects, such as the Monument Lodge, the Survey Lodge/Boiler House, 
the Elevation Obelisk, and the Jefferson Pier Marker, remain in their original locations and have been maintained in or 
restored to their original exterior appearance. Details of the grounds have changed, however, having an effect on the 
grounds’ feeling and association. The size of the grounds increased with the filling of the Potomac Flats in the late 
nineteenth century. The added grounds on the south became the location of additional features, such as the Tidal Basin, 
Sylvan Theater, the Thomas Jefferson Memorial, and Independence Avenue. The general form, design, materials, and 
setting of the current monument grounds date from the completion of the Jefferson Memorial and Independence Avenue in 
1943. Additional, more recent changes include the German-American Friendship Garden near Constitution Avenue, the 
addition of a temporary screening building on the monument plaza, redesign of the pedestrian circulation to incorporate 
vehicular security barriers, realignment of 15th Street as it travels through the site, insertion of a segment of the Potomac 
Park Levee in the northwest portion of the grounds, and construction of the National Museum of African American History 
and Culture at the intersection of Constitution Avenue and 14th Street. Most of these changes diminish but do not obscure 
an understanding of the salient features of Casey’s original design. One of the changes, the redesign of the pedestrian 
circulation system, reinforced Casey’s simple design for the monument grounds and emphasized the form of the grassy 
knoll. Modifications to the grounds have continued to support and enhance its monumental commemorative purpose as 
well as the first amendment activities that the property also derives significance from. 

The ancillary buildings, sites, structures, and objects also retain integrity to the Criterion C period of significance. 
(See table, p. 24.) All of these features remain in their original locations, with the exception of the Bulfinch Gateposts, 
which were moved to monument grounds in 1880.  Original design, materials, and workmanship retain integrity, except for 
the Sylvan Theater, which has been frequently altered since its original construction, which consisted of an earthen stage 
with shrub-enclosed wings. The theater is, however, significant as the ongoing site of cultural events, rather than for its 
design. Alterations have affected the integrity of some contributing features. A steel and wood storage building was added 
on the northwest side of the Survey Lodge/Boiler House in 1989, and the interior of the Monument Lodge has been 
remodeled to accommodate evolving functions. Both those buildings benefitted from restoration campaigns that returned 
their exteriors to closer approximations of their original design. The slate roof and cupola of the Survey Lodge was 
restored in the 1990s, and a 1950s addition on the west side of the Monument Lodge was removed in 2005-06. The 
immediate settings of these features have been most affected by changes over time, especially to circulation. These 
changes have altered the ways visitors approach the secondary resources. Still, since these features have remained in 
their original locations and their relationships to the monument and grounds are unchanged, the feelings and associations 
they arouse have integrity to the period of significance. 

Developmental History/Additional Historic Context   

Native American and Colonial History in the Tiber Creek Area  

Nearly 13,000 years ago, small groups of Native Americans foraged in the Potomac River watershed. Transient 
use of the area continued until about 4,000 years ago, when archeological studies show that inhabitants quarried stones 
from the banks of Rock Creek to transport to nearby campsites to be transformed into tools.  Artifacts collected from the 
Washington Monument Grounds in the 1880s suggest that Native American peoples used the mouth of Tiber Creek for at 
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least 7,000 years, most likely as a seasonal residence.41 In the five centuries before Europeans began to immigrate to the 
Mid-Atlantic region, the lower Potomac watershed witnessed an expansion of the native population and the development of 
villages and complex social structures. The village known as Necochtank, inhabited by a native group called the 
Necostans, functioned as a local trading center. It stood on the east bank of the Anacostia in what is now Washington’s 
Benning neighborhood.  

The earliest account of contact between native populations and Europeans in the area dates to 1608, when 
Captain John Smith explored the Potomac River from its mouth at the Chesapeake Bay to the falls above what is now 
Georgetown.  European immigration soon followed Smith’s voyage, with Jesuit missions to the lower Potomac watershed 
by 1639 and the first land grant on the Potomac shore of the Maryland colony in 1662. A year later, Francis Pope patented 
land around a creek he named the Tiber. His patent (“Rome”) lay north of the land on which the Capitol was eventually 
built. By early in the eighteenth century, as European immigration increased, the native inhabitants had largely moved 
away from the confluence of the Potomac and Anacostia rivers, although native hunting parties continued to move through 
the region.   

Pope’s patent was among the earliest in the part of Maryland that eventually became the District of Columbia. 
Another early patentee was George Thompson, who in 1664 patented three land grants (Duddington Manor, Duddington 
Pasture, and New Troy) totaling nearly 1,800 acres. Most patents in the area, however, were not received until the end of 
the seventeenth century, bringing the earliest European residents to Tiber Creek and its surrounding land.  The turn of the 
century brought a consolidation of land holdings in colonial Maryland and the transition from a labor force composed 
mostly of European indentured servants to one made up primarily of enslaved Africans. The land west of the Anacostia 
River, including what are now the Washington Monument Grounds, developed slowly, in large part due to the more fertile 
soil along the east bank, which favored the cultivation of tobacco and drew more settlers. By some estimates, it wasn’t until 
after 1720 that the land that became Washington, D.C., began to display the characteristics of a stable settlement, 
especially increasing numbers of women and families and a rising birth rate.  

Throughout the eighteenth century, the future federal district lands remained sparsely settled. As the century 
progressed, the reliance of planters in the Maryland and Virginia tidewater on tobacco as a cash crop began to wane, 
giving way to more diversified agriculture that included corn and wheat as well as tobacco.  On the dispersed land holdings 
of plantations at this time, laborers – enslaved, indentured, and free – were often transported to the sites of their work for 
seasonal residence in accordance with the agricultural cycle. Housing and agricultural buildings at these sites were of 
impermanent construction: wood-framed or built of logs. Most plantations had a more substantial dwelling house for the 
owner, which was surrounded by outbuildings for cooking, cleaning, storage, and servant housing. Enslaved domestic 
workers played an important role in the running of these plantation households.42 

In the late eighteenth century, Daniel Carroll of Duddington, owned the land that became the site of the 
Washington Monument. Carroll inherited Cerne Abbey Manor, a collection of tracts totaling nearly 1,400 acres that had 
formerly belonged to George Thompson, through his father’s 1773 will. The property also included much of the area that 
would become the National Mall and the Capitol Grounds. Carroll, who in 1790 began a manor house on what is now 
South Capitol Street at Q Street, was a planter and a brickmaker, both professional pursuits that would have required 

                         
41 The Monument Grounds archeological site is identified as Site 51NW35 in the D.C. Archaeological Site Inventory. The 147 artifacts 
in the collection were collected in the 1880s, likely in association with excavations for the underpinning of the Washington 
Monument in 1879-1880 and the subsequent regrading of the grounds. The excavations occurred before the advent of modern 
archeology, and today the location of the site cannot be pinpointed with any accuracy. Because the exact location of the site is 
unknown and the ability of the resource to convey its significance is low, the Monument Grounds site has been evaluated as a 
noncontributing site. 
42 Louis Berger Group, “Phase IA Archaeological Investigation for the Potomac Park Levee, National Mall and Memorial Parks,” 
prepared for the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service. January 2009, i-iii, 3; John Milner Associates, 
“Washington Monument Grounds Cultural Landscape Report,” prepared for National Park Service, Denver Service Center and 
National Capital Region, December 2003 (revised August 2011), 2-1 – 2-2; Louis Berger Group, “Phase I Archaeological Investigation 
for the National Museum of African American Museum of History and Culture,” prepared for the Smithsonian National Museum of 
African American History and Culture, July 2007, 25-35. 
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structures in various locations on his holdings and involved the employment of enslaved and free labor. According to the 
1790 federal census, Carroll held thirteen slaves, and he was known to have hired out some of these laborers to others for 
making bricks. When Carroll rebuilt his manor house in 1794, the bricks are documented to have come from his own kilns, 
undoubtedly made by his own enslaved workers.43 

 
The Washington Monument Site in the L’Enfant Plan 

President George Washington, empowered by the Residence Act of July 16, 1790, chose the site of the first 
permanent capital of the United States.  On January 24, 1791, Washington made his choice public. The capital would be 
located on a ten-mile-square site of tidal plain and river terrace, mostly in the state of Maryland, at the confluence of the 
Potomac and Anacostia rivers. Washington also chose the architect of the future capital: Peter (Pierre) Charles L’Enfant, a 
French-born former military officer who studied at the Royal Academy of Painting and Sculpture in Paris.  L’Enfant had 
served in the Continental Army during the American Revolution, including a stint at Valley Forge under Washington’s 
command.  After the United States gained its independence from Great Britain, he settled in New York, working as an 
architect. Among his commissions there were a temporary structure for a Federalist pageant encouraging ratification of the 
Constitution, and alterations that turned New York’s city hall into Federal Hall.  Following those alterations,  Federal Hall 
became the home of Congress until it moved to the District in 1800, and was the setting,  in 1789, for George 
Washington’s inauguration  as the nation’s first president.44 

L’Enfant and a team consisting of surveyor Andrew Ellicott; Benjamin Banneker, an African American farmer, 
surveyor, and astronomer; engineer Isaac Roberdeau; and others surveyed the site for the new city, and in the summer of 
1791, L’Enfant provided Washington with a detailed plan that survives today in both original and facsimile form. (Historical 
Figure 1) His design had its roots in French Baroque precedents such as the royal court at Versailles and the royal 
chateau at Marly, but it was also influenced by the Paris of the late eighteenth century. In particular, the L-shaped public 
space composed of the Louvre, the Tuileries Garden, and the site of the Church of the Madeleine, with the Place Louis XV 
(later the Place de la Concord) and its equestrian statue of the king at the angle of the L, seems to have resonated with the 
transplanted Frenchman.  L’Enfant transformed the Paris precedent into the central motif of his plan for Washington: A 
proposed residence for the president and a building for the legislature, both on eminences above the flood plain, stood at 
two termini of a T-shaped public space.  L’Enfant proposed an equestrian statue in memory of Washington – already 
approved by the Continental Congress in 1783 – at the intersection of the axes through the buildings, much as the statue 
of the monarch formed the hinge between the church and the royal palace in Paris. In the United States capital, the 
proposed statue conceptually linked the executive and legislative branches of the republican government.  The statue of 
Washington, the nation’s first great leader and symbol of national unity, would be visible from the President’s house and 
from the Capitol and vice versa.  By emphasizing the physical distinction between the homes of the president and 
congress, L’Enfant illustrated the separation of powers inherent in the Constitution and the Bill of Rights.  By connecting 
those sites visually with the Washington statue, he linked the legislative and executive branches in the common pursuit of 
the first president’s vision of republican government.45  

                         
43 Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Phase II Archaeological Investigation for the National Museum of African American Museum of History 
and Culture,” prepared for the Smithsonian National Museum of African American History and Culture, February 2008, 13-19, 76-79; 
Priscilla W. McNeill, “Rock Creek Hundred: Land Conveyed for the Federal City,” Washington History 3:1 (Spring/Summer 1991), 41-
45. 
44 Kenneth Bolling, “Introduction” to Special Bicentennial Issue: Washington, D.C., 1791-1991, Washington History 3:1, 
Spring/Summer 1991, 6-7; William C. Allen, History of the United States Capitol (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 
2001), 4; John W. Reps, Monumental Washington: The Planning and Development of the Capital Center (Princeton, New Jersey: 
Princeton University Press, 1967), 5-9; Scott Berg, Grand Avenues: The Story of the French Visionary who Designed Washington, D.C. 
(New York: Pantheon Books, 2007), 39-43. 
45 Pamela Scott, “’This Vast Empire’: The Iconography of the Mall, 1791-1848,” in The Mall in Washington, 1791-1991, Richard 
Longstreth, ed. (Washington, D.C.: National Gallery of Art, 1991), 37-45; Silvio A. Bedini, “The Survey of the Federal Territory: Andrew 
Ellicott and Benjamin Banneker,” Washington History, 3:1 (Spring/Summer 1991), 77-89. 
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The first step in turning L’Enfant’s plan into a built and peopled city was the acquisition of land within the federal 
district.  The property owners in the area, who have come to be known as the “original proprietors,” agreed on March 30, 
1791, to a plan and compensation for transfer of the land to the government.  Daniel Carroll of Duddington, who owned the 
largest amount of land in the area designated to become the capital, was one of the nineteen proprietors engaged in these 
negotiations. In essence, the landowners would be paid for land on which public buildings were built or were reserved to 
the government and would receive half of the lots laid out on their former holdings.  These lots could subsequently be sold.  
The government would receive the remaining half of the proprietors’ lots, which it would sell to raise money for 
development of the city.  The government would also receive land designated for city streets, for which the proprietors 
would not be compensated.46   

On March 2, 1797, Washington issued a description of the lands reserved to the government, which became 
known as appropriations or reservations. The location of the President’s house was designated Reservation no. 1. 
Reservation no. 2 encompassed both the Capitol site and the Mall. Washington’s memorandum designated the site on 
which L’Enfant proposed to place the equestrian statue of the first president Reservation no. 3. (Historical Figure 2) The 
site was defined as: 

 
The public appropriation beginning at the intersection of the south side of Canal Street [now 
Constitution Avenue], drawn on the south side of the Canal, and the west side of fifteenth street 
west. Thence south with the west side of fifteenth street west, until it intersects the Potomac River, 
thence northwesterly until it intersects the Canal, thence easterly with the Canal to the 
beginning.47 
 

Development of the Public Reservations in the First Half of the Nineteenth Century 

Early development of the land acquired for federal uses in the District centered on features most needed for the 
functioning of the government, rather than symbolic or ornamental elements.  The Residence Act provided for the removal 
of the federal government from Philadelphia by November 1800, and the city commissioners, as well as Washington and 
Thomas Jefferson, the first president’s secretary of state, concentrated on construction of the President’s house and the 
Capitol in order to meet this deadline.  Such a pragmatic approach was necessitated by the difficulties inherent in the 
development of a capital city of ambitious plan on an essentially undeveloped site by an infant country with limited financial 
means and immature building, labor, and transportation networks. 48 

After he became president, Jefferson sought to use a feature of L’Enfant’s plan to establish a prime meridian to 
serve as a baseline for timekeeping, mapping, and surveying in the United States. A national line of longitude meant that 
the new country would not have to rely on a prime meridian located elsewhere, such as the Greenwich meridian in Great 
Britain. The idea had been floated in 1791, with the planned American meridian following a north-south course through the 
center of the Capitol. Jefferson, however, hired surveyors Nicholas King and Isaac Briggs to run a north-south line through 
the center of the President’s house. The meridian would have followed the L’Enfant street that terminated at the center of 
the President’s house (now 16th Street) and continued through the executive mansion south through the spot the planner 
had designated as the site of Washington’s statue. Jefferson had three markers erected to identify the meridian. One was 
placed on what is now Meridian Hill, another at the intersection of the national meridian with an east-west line through the 
                         
46 McNeill, 39-45.   
47 “Description of Appropriations (Reservations) selected and set aside by President Washington for the use of the United States, 
upon the laying out of the Federal City – Washington, D.C.,” in “Legislative History of National Capital Parks and Description of the 
Seventeen Original Reservations,” National Park Service, National Capital Region, Washington, D.C. The monument grounds 
reservation was changed from its original designation (no. 3) to its current number (no. 2) in the nineteenth century. The boundaries 
of the site also changed as the National Mall evolved. These alterations are addressed below, under the heading “The Monument 
Grounds between Building Campaigns.” 
48 Scott, “’This Vast Empire,’” 46; William C. Allen, History of the United States Capitol (Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing 
Office, 2001), 34. 
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south end of the Capitol. The third marker stood on the site L’Enfant intended for Washington’s equestrian statue. With its 
location 6 feet from the edge of Tiber Creek, this marker was built in a more substantial manner than the other two, which 
were obelisks hewn from single stones. Freestone walls filled with broken stone and cement comprised the Jefferson Pier 
(also called the Jefferson Stone), which was capped by a 10-inch-square slab of sandstone into the top of which the lines 
of the axes had been carved. The marker, erected in October 1804, stood 3 to 4 feet above the surrounding grade.49 

Of all the proposed features of the L’Enfant plan, only one element beyond the buildings for the president and 
congress was undertaken on Washington’s central public grounds in the early nineteenth century – the city canal. Planned 
to link the Anacostia and Potomac rivers as a means of transporting goods in an efficient manner, L’Enfant also envisioned 
the canal as an ornamental complement to the monumental buildings, incorporating fountains, cascades, pools, and other 
elements. As with the priority given to the President’s house and the Capitol, construction of the canal focused on 
practicalities rather than urban embellishments.  Daniel Carroll of Duddington was one of the commissioners of the 
congressionally chartered canal company, first organized in 1802 and reorganized in 1809. The company hired architect 
Benjamin Henry Latrobe to design and oversee construction of the waterway, and Latrobe produced the first drawings in 
1804. Construction on the first phase began in 1810, and the canal, stretching from a lock at 6th Street across the Mall and 
through southeast Washington to the Anacostia River, officially opened in the fall of 1815. This portion of the work involved 
both digging the canal through the low ground in some locations and filling in the banks of Tiber Creek in others. The canal 
company also operated wharfs along the creek west of 6th Street, which generated funds and required improvements and 
maintenance.  

In 1831, the Washington Canal Company sold its interest in the waterway to the City of Washington, which 
appropriated $20,000 for its completion. Two years later, Congress confirmed the sale with the requirement that the canal 
be completed to 15th Street; it also appropriated money to do so. The expanded canal was navigable by 1840. As the 
second phase of construction included the broad mouth of the creek, this work necessitated filling in either side of the 
creek to create an embankment and presumably remove the existing wharfs. Archeological monitoring on the Washington 
Monument Grounds undertaken during the construction of the National Museum of African American History and Culture 
uncovered wood planks and posts that may have functioned as timber shoring or served to control erosion in the canal. 
Although the planks and posts may be related to the construction of the Washington City Canal, the feature could not be 
dated due to the limited nature of the archeological activities associated with the gas line relocation. 50  

Construction of the canal is often considered “the major Irish construction project in the District.,” although Irish 
immigrants were also heavily involved, as bricklayers, masons, stonecutters, and laborers, on most public works projects 
in Washington before the Civil War. Enslaved African American workers were also hired out for public works projects, 
including the President’s house and the Capitol. For the canal, enslaved workers were engaged in some of the initial 
digging of the channel, as well as subsequent improvements and maintenance.  The portion of the canal and its 
embankments between 14th and 15th streets included an area that is part of the Washington Monument Grounds, now the 
location of the National Museum of African American History and Culture.51  

Construction of the city canal narrowed Tiber Creek, providing the opportunity to bridge the waterway and connect 
the northwest and southwest portions of the city. A provision in a May 7, 1822, congressional act provided for “one or more 
bridges” over the canal between 2nd and 6th streets, and ten years later legislation authorized the continuation of 7th, 12th, 

                         
49 John Milner Associates, “Washington Monument Grounds Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-3, 2-32, n. 15. 
50 Lee W. Formwalt, “Benjamin Henry Latrobe and the Development of Transportation in the District of Columbia, 1802-1817,” 
Records of the Columbia Historical Society 50, 1980, 47-59; Cornelius W. Heine, “The Washington City Canal.” Records of the 
Columbia Historical Society: 53-56, 1956, 11-15; Thunderbird Archeology, “National Museum of African-American History and 
Culture, Washington, District of Columbia, Results of Archeological Monitoring of Gas Line Relocation and Documentation of Water 
Intake Tunnel,” prepared for AECOM Technical Services and the Smithsonian Institution, June 2012, 7-15.  
51 Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Phase I Archaeological Investigation for the National Museum of African American Museum of History 
and Culture,” 36-37; Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Phase II Archaeological Investigation for the National Museum of African American 
Museum of History and Culture,” 19-20, 32-36. The quote comes from the Phase II investigation, p. 19. The African American 
Museum site is identified as Site 52NW203 in the D.C. Archaeological Site Inventory. The archaeological studies of the site concluded 
that no National Register-eligible archaeological resources are present.  
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and 14th streets through the Mall across bridges over the canal. These later bridges were presumably constructed in 
association with the extension of the canal from 6th to 15th streets in the 1830s, and they appear in DeKrafft’s 1846 map of 
Washington. (Historical Figure 2) The location of these streets, which functioned as de facto boundaries of segments of 
the Mall and the monument grounds, would influence future development of these public spaces.52 

Transportation also spurred other public works associated with the Washington Monument and Grounds. The city 
council authorized construction of a wharf at the foot of 17th Street on November 10, 1806, and appropriated $2,000 for its 
construction. The National Intelligencer and Washington Advertiser published specifications in 1807, and the wharf began 
its operations later that year. The city funded its expansion to 200 feet in length and 25 feet in width in 1808. Twenty years 
later, Washington’s city council appropriated $500 to complete the wharf’s walls. 

 In its early years, stevedores unloaded building supplies, produce, and household items at the wharf. As workers 
frequently engaged on Washington’s wharves and in construction enterprises, free and enslaved African Americans were 
undoubtedly included in the labor force that built the 17th Street Wharf and participated in its daily operation. Expansion of 
the wharf continued as Washington’s transportation infrastructure developed further. The Chesapeake & Ohio Canal was 
extended east to meet the city canal by 1833, and a lock was built in what is now Constitution Avenue as a transition 
between the two waterways. In 1837, a stone house for the lockkeeper was constructed west of the wharf. Later moved, 
the Lockkeeper’s House is now located in West Potomac Park.53 

 
Design and Location of the Washington Monument 

Several attempts were made to fulfill the Continental Congress’s resolution to commemorate Washington’s service 
to the country with a monument located in the capital’s central public space.  After the first president’s death in 1799, at 
least two proposals were made for a mausoleum to house his remains (one within the Capitol and one on the lawn in 
front), and Congress revisited the equestrian statue proposal three times, in 1816, 1819, and 1824. During the centennial 
of Washington’s birth in 1832, Congress authorized a full-length copy of Gilbert Stuart’s portrait of the president and a 
marble sculpture of a seated Washington in Roman dress by Horatio Greenhough. None of the proposals for more 
monumental commemoration, however, succeeded in the first fifty years after Congress had authorized the equestrian 
statue. 

On September 26, 1833, dozens of citizens met in the capital’s City Hall to address the lack of success in building 
an appropriate monument to Washington. As a result, the Washington National Monument Society was formed. At its 
second meeting, the society elected officers. The membership selected Supreme Court Chief Justice John Marshall as 
president. When Marshall died in 1835, former President James Madison replaced him. Other officers included Judge 
William Cranch of the District of Columbia Circuit Court, Washington Mayor John P. Van Ness, and former Librarian of 
Congress George Watterston. In addition to these officers, the society selected a board of thirteen managers and 
determined its method of fundraising. Seeking broad participation in the project, the society limited donations to a dollar 
per year. The board of managers appointed agents to collect the funds and offered them a commission on donations 
collected as an incentive.  

By 1836 the society had raised over $28,000 and invested the money in stocks and securities. In the same year, it 
invited designs for the monument from American artists. The society imposed no restrictions on the design and made no 
suggestions on its form. Proposals should only “harmoniously blend durability, simplicity, and grandeur,” according to the 
society’s advertisement, which indicated that the estimated cost should not total less than $1 million.54  

The initial submissions to the design competition failed to capture the society’s imagination. The organization then 
appointed a committee, in November 1844, “to procure a suitable design” for the monument. The following spring, the 

                         
52 George J. Olszewski, “History of the Mall, Washington, D.C.,” Office of History and Historic Architecture, Eastern Service Center, 
National Park Service, Washington, D.C., March 1970, 7-11. 
53 Louis Berger Group, “Phase IA Archaeological Investigation for the Potomac Park Levee, National Mall and Memorial Parks,” iii-iv, 
14; Louis Berger Group, Inc., “Archeological Monitoring of Construction, Potomac Park Levee, National Mall and Memorial Parks,” 
prepared for the Department of Transportation, Government of the District of Columbia, March 2013, 24. 



United States Department of the Interior  
 National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  
NPS Form 10-900     OMB No. 1024-0018     (Expires 5/31/2012) 
 

Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District  District of Columbia 
Name of Property                   County and State 
 
 

35 

 

committee endorsed a design submitted by Robert Mills, and the society formally adopted this design on November 18, 
1845. Mills, who studied architecture under both Jefferson and Latrobe, had been the Architect of Public Buildings in 
Washington between 1836 and 1842, during which time he had designed the Treasury Building, the Patent Office (with 
Ithiel Town and William P. Elliot), and the General Post Office.  His design for the monument called for a circular 
colonnade 250 feet in diameter and 100 feet high, which functioned as a base for a 500-foot-tall obelisk, producing a 
monument that reached 600 feet into the sky. (Historical Figure 3) The design featured an elaborate decorative scheme in 
bronze on the colonnade’s entablature (including the coat of arms of each state), and at the entrance to the monument, 
Mills envisioned a tetrastyle portico which would support a “triumphal car” carrying a statue of Washington. On each face 
of the shaft just above the colonnade, bas reliefs would depict the four most important (although unidentified) events in 
Washington’s career, and a simple star would mark the shaft 50 feet from the top. On the inner wall of the colonnade, 
engaged columns were planned to respond to the freestanding columns on the perimeter and to frame niches for the 
reception of sculpture. This gallery would serve as a national pantheon dedicated to the heroes of the American 
Revolution.  At the center of the monument would be a tomb for Washington’s remains, should authorization for their 
removal from Mount Vernon be given. “[A]n easy graded gallery, traversed by a railway,” was proposed to ascend through 
the shaft to a “circular observatory” at the monument’s summit.  The society estimated that Mills’ design could be 
constructed for $200,000, the shaft alone for $50,000.55 

The obelisk, deriving as it did from ancient Egyptian models, had long been associated with commemorative 
works in classical architecture.  It had been used in the United States to commemorate the Battle of Bunker Hill outside 
Boston. Solomon Williard’s monument to the battle, a 225-foot-tall granite obelisk, was completed in 1842. Mills’ 
combination of a simple, tapering shaft with classical features such as the colonnade and sculpture had also appeared in 
Neoclassical monument designs, especially the reconstruction of the Tomb of Mausolus at Halicarnassus in Turkey by 
Comte de Caylus and a monument to the French Revolution on the ruins of the Bastille proposed by Jean Molinos and 
Jacques Le Grand. What set Mills’ design apart from these memorials was its ambitious size. Mills and the society 
intended for the monument’s height and mass to convey Washington’s significance to the young country and to set it apart 
from all previous monuments. In his remarks at the laying of the monument’s cornerstone, Congressman Robert C. 
Winthrop specifically linked Washington’s importance to the unprecedented scale of the design. “Build it to the skies,” he 
said, “you cannot outreach the loftiness of his principles! Found it upon the massive and eternal rock: you cannot make it 
more enduring than his fame!” 56   

At the time that the Monument Society selected Mills’ design, the final site had not been identified.   In 1838, the 
society petitioned Congress to provide an unspecified site “on the public mall” for the monument, and in 1844, a joint 
resolution was introduced in the House of Representatives that would have placed the monument at the center of a site 
bounded by the city canal, B Street South, and 7th and 12th streets.  Congress took no action on either of these 
propositions, but on January 31, 1848, it approved a resolution providing for the president of the United States, along with 
the board of managers of the society, to select a site for the monument “upon . . . some portion of the public grounds or 
reservations within the city of Washington, not otherwise occupied.”  On February 2, 1848, President James K. Polk and 
the society managers determined that the monument would be located in Reservation no. 3 – the site that L’Enfant had 
envisioned for the equestrian statue of Washington.  The deed was executed on April 12, 1848, and recorded in city land 
records on February 22, 1849. The society later described the beauty of this site, its practicality for transportation of 
materials, its visibility from Mount Vernon, its choice by Washington as the location for a memorial to the American 
Revolution, and L’Enfant’s proposal as reasons for its selection.57 

                                                                                           
54 Frederick Harvey, “History of the Washington National Monument and Washington National Monument Society,” Senate doc. No. 
224, 57th Congress, 2nd session, February 6, 1903, 25-26.  
55 Harvey, 13-28; John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. I, 
Washington Monument, prepared for National Park Service, Denver Service Center and National Capital Region, June 2004, 2-2 – 2-3. 
The quotations are from Harvey, 26-28. 
56 John M. Bryan, Robert Mills, America’s First Architect (New York: Princeton Architectural Press, 2001), 290-291; Scott and Lee, 100-
101. Winthrop is quoted in Bryan. 
57 Harvey, 305-307. 
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In a history of the Washington Monument Society, its secretary, Frederick Harvey, states that the huge colonnade 
and pantheon Mills planned to surround the obelisk were never formally approved by the society.  “The first purpose,” he 
wrote, “was to erect the shaft and secure funds to that end.”  In April 1848, a committee of the monument society 
recommended that the height of the monument reach 500 feet and that the surrounding pantheon be left in abeyance – 
that is, suspended temporarily.  Illustrations available to donors to the society in 1848 showed the monument both with and 
without the colonnade, implying that a final decision had not yet been made.  

In part, this stance resulted from financial circumstances. Very soon after the Washington National Monument 
Society issued its call for designs for the monument, a national economic downturn slowed the flow of donations for its 
construction. Questions about the legitimacy of its fundraising methods also hindered the society’s efforts. The board of 
managers made various attempts to increase donations, such as dropping the $1 limit and increasing the commissions of 
its agents to enhance their incentive to gather funds. The illustrations offered to donors were also intended as incentives. 
The returns on these efforts, however, “did not meet the expectations of the Society,” according to Harvey. 58 

The uncertainty of the final design and the society’s shaky financial footing may have some relevance for the 
ultimate location of the monument.  When its cornerstone was laid in an elaborate, well-attended, Masonic ceremony on 
July 4, 1848, the site stood 371.6 feet east and 123.17 feet south of the spot L’Enfant had intended for Washington’s 
equestrian statue.  Speculation about the reason for this off-axis location has included the inability of the marshy soils on 
the banks of Tiber Creek to support the weight of the monument and its foundations, the need for extensive landfill to 
create a large enough building surface to support the monument and colonnade, and the fact that the canal and its 
adjacent street had pushed the center line of the Mall’s green space to the south.  Accounts of the monument society’s 
proceedings shed no light on this decision, and no other primary sources have been uncovered that explain the choice 
more definitively. Given that the society’s fundraising efforts consistently fell below expectations, however, the site 
ultimately chosen had important advantages, not the least of which would have been that it did not require the additional 
expense of substantial filling and grading that L’Enfant’s site would have entailed.59 

 
The First Construction Campaign, 1848-1858 

Construction on the monument’s foundations from large rough blocks of bluestone gneiss began in June 1848. 
William Early of Washington received the contract for the bluestone. Thomas Symington of Baltimore, who won the 
contract to supply the monument’s marble, donated the 24,500-pound marble cornerstone. It was laid during the July 4, 
1848, ceremony that included President Polk, members of his cabinet and Congress, representatives of the Grand Lodge 
of Free and Accepted Masons of the District of Columbia, military units, fire companies, and bands. The cornerstone held 
a zinc case filled with mementoes, and the festivities ended in a fireworks display. Work continued rapidly thereafter, and 
the monument grounds began to resemble a small village composed of construction buildings: a watchman’s lodge, an 
office and reception room for visitors, an engine house, sheds for sawing lumber, cutting stone and storing cement, shops 
for carpenters and blacksmiths, a stable, and a feed house. A wharf was constructed on the river side of the site; ox-drawn 
wagons transported the stone to the monument.60 

Construction of the monument and its associated outbuildings meant that some private uses of the site had to end. 
Washington’s public grounds had long been used for private purposes, with or without authorization. Some residents grew 
crops there, grazed their animals, stored property, dumped trash, and apparently even lived on the public reservations, 
including the monument grounds. In August 1848, the board of managers of the monument society determined to notify 
“’the persons now occupying a portion of the ground assigned to the Society as a site for the monument to remove their 
houses and fences thereupon within three months.” Peter Shiphaws and his family were among these residents, and in 
December 1848 they sought the intercession of an “R. Cochran” with the monument society’s managers. The African 

                         
58 Harvey, 28-47. 
59 John Milner Associates, “Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2:3. 
60 John Milner Associates, “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. I, Washington 
Monument, 2-4; John Milner Associates, “ Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2:6; Louis Torres, “To the immortal 
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American family had had problems finding another place to live since receiving the notice to move and did not wish to be 
perceived as intruders, which might result in “legal action,” according to Cochran’s letter. The family sought permission to 
remain on the site until they could find another place to live. Cochran attested to the family’s good character and referred 
the society to several well-regarded citizens, including Washington’s mayor, for confirmation. One of the Shiphaws’ 
references, J. Pettibone, received permission from the society to create an ice pond on the south side of the reservation at 
a rent of $50 per year.  It is not known whether the Shiphaws received the permission they sought. 61  

Once the society had removed private uses from the site and constructed the appropriate buildings and 
machinery, work progressed with relative rapidity. Although the rough gneiss, delivered in blocks at least 16 feet long and 7 
feet thick, was finished by hand, a crew of twenty-one skilled laborers headed by foreman David Hepburn completed the 
foundations by the end of the first construction season. For increased strength, the foundation stones were dovetailed into 
each other, as well as laid with mortar composed of hydraulic cement, lime, and sand. Construction on the shaft began in 
1849, and the construction crew, which included masons, blacksmiths, carpenters, stonecutters, riggers, and laborers, had 
grown to fifty-seven by the end of the year. William Dougherty acted as Mills’ superintendent of construction, overseeing 
the daily work at the monument. Gneiss continued to be used for the interior of the monument with marble facing the 
exterior of the structure. Although problems beset the construction – delays in transportation due to the lack of capacity of 
the railway between Baltimore and Washington, the cost of the architrave stones for the monument doors, and difficulties 
in funding – the monument shaft reached 126 feet in height by the end of 1852. Included among this work were what have 
come to be known as “memorial stones” – stones donated by states, organizations, and individuals for the monument’s 
construction. The first was donated by a group of citizens in Alabama in 1849. The monument society then adopted a 
policy for the donated stones, first seeking to have all the American states and territories represented and then expanding 
opportunities for donations from American Indian tribes, professional organizations, labor unions, individuals, and even 
foreign countries. Ninety-two stones, all of which were integral to the monument’s structure, had been installed on the 
interior of the shaft by 1855. 

The shaft had risen to 152 feet by this date, but the society’s building funds were exhausted. As a result, the board 
of managers sent a memorial, or petition, to Congress, describing its efforts and the failure to raise enough funds to 
continue.  A committee of the House of Representatives selected to study the matter recommended, on February 22, 1855 
(the anniversary of Washington’s birth), to appropriate $200,000 to continue construction. On the same day, however, a 
group of individuals representing a political party called the Know-Nothings called a meeting of the monument society, 
packed the meeting with their own members, and elected a new board of managers. As both the meeting and the election 
contradicted the process stipulated in the society’s by-laws, the previous managers, as well as superintendent Dougherty, 
refused to recognize the authority of the new board, throwing management of the monument into chaos. Not surprisingly, 
Congress refused to appropriate funds to continue construction of the monument under these circumstances. 62 

The Know-Nothing Party began in the 1840s as a nativist organization opposed to immigration, especially of Irish 
Catholics, to eastern cities. It officially identified itself as the American Republic Party, and then the American Party. A 
secret society, the Order of the Star Spangled Banner, affiliated itself with the party, but members were instructed to 
respond to questions about the society with the phrase “I know nothing.” The party began to be called the Know-Nothings 
by 1853. It exercised political power in east coast cities, including Baltimore and Washington, and brought several 
congressmen to office. John T. Towers, elected mayor of Washington in 1854, was a member of the Know-Nothing Party. 
Its political philosophy was apparent in its takeover of the monument society’s board of managers. It argued that the 
society employed too many foreign-born workers and Catholics and therefore should be replaced with a new board that 
would hire American-born workers. The Know-Nothings were also responsible for the March 6, 1854, theft of a memorial 

                                                                                           

name and memory of George Washington”: The United States Army Corps of Engineers and the Construction of the Washington 
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stone donated by Pope Pius IX, the head of the Catholic Church and political leader of the Papal States. The location of 
the stone remains unknown.  

The two rival boards of managers existed simultaneously for three years, but, in part because the Know-Nothings 
had replaced William Dougherty as superintendent of construction with Samuel L. Briggs, the earlier board of managers 
lost physical control of the monument site. Not surprisingly, donations to the monument society completely evaporated. In 
its three years of control over the monument, the Know-Nothing board managed to add two courses (approximately 4 feet) 
of additional masonry to the shaft using marble that had been previously rejected. The national political power of the party 
declined steeply after the 1856 elections, when its presidential candidate, former President Millard Fillmore, carried only 
one state. The party subsequently disbanded. The monument society’s Know-Nothing managers ultimately relinquished 
their control of the monument, the monument site, office, and ledgers on October 20, 1858. 63 

Know-Nothing control of the Washington National Monument Society hastened the end of the first period of 
construction on the monument. Its lack of progress, the disappearance of donations resulting from competing boards of 
managers, the Civil War and its aftermath, changing architectural tastes – all these events contributed to a fallow period in 
the monument’s construction that lasted nearly two decades. 

 
The Monument Grounds between Building Campaigns 

The monument grounds, on the other hand, received great attention and witnessed greater activity than the 
monument itself during this time. In October 1850, a contingent of city leaders – including Joseph Henry, secretary of the 
Smithsonian Institution, Mayor Walter Lenox, and W.W. Corcoran, a financier, art collector, and a member of the 
Washington National Monument Society – approached President Fillmore with the idea of landscaping Washington’s 
central public spaces.  The mission to the president coincided with efforts on the part of Commissioner of Public Buildings 
Ignatius Mudd to improve the Mall in association with the construction of the Smithsonian Institution and the Washington 
Monument.  Mudd, at the suggestion of the civic leaders and with the president’s approval, subsequently invited Andrew 
Jackson Downing, the country’s preeminent theoretician of landscape design in the first half of the nineteenth century, to 
inspect the public grounds and produce a plan for their improvement. 64 

Dated February 1851, the plan Downing produced consisted of a series of “different, but compatible gardens,” in 
the words of landscape historian Therese O’Malley.  (Historical Figure 4) Using the existing streets to divide the gardens, 
Downing created what he called six “scenes,” including a “Botanic Garden” between 1st and 3rd streets, a “Fountain 
Garden” between 3rd and 7th streets, the “Smithsonian Pleasure Grounds” between 7th and 12th, an “Evergreen Garden” 
between 12th and 14th, “Monument Park” between 14th Street and the Potomac, and the “Parade or President’s Park.”  The 
designer varied the plantings and composition of each scene’s features, but circulation paths and planting lines leaped 
across the boundaries of the individual parks to knit the entire composition into a whole. On the Washington Monument 
Grounds, Downing proposed picturesque compositional techniques:  looping, asymmetrical paths and spare plantings of 
trees near the monument, with denser groups of trees along the boundaries of the site. He also envisioned an additional 
bridge at the west end of the city canal to link Monument Park with President’s Park. Downing intended the curving lines 
and soft edges of his massed plantings to relieve the angularity of the classical forms of L’Enfant’s original plan and the 
city’s public buildings.65 

President Fillmore initially approved only the portion of Downing’s plan west of 7th Street, but in 1852 also 
approved the design to the east.  The plan would, however, only be implemented in a fragmentary way. In the spring of 
                         
63 Thomas J. Curran, “Know-Nothing Party,” The Oxford Companion to United States History, Paul S. Boyer, editor in chief (New York: 
Oxford University Press, 2001), 423; Torres, 25-27; Harvey 56-64. The 1981 nomination states that 13 additional courses (26 feet) 
were added to the monument by the Know-Nothing party. Harvey, who, as secretary of the Washington National Monument Society 
had access to primary sources for his report to Congress, states that 4 feet were added during the Know-Nothing period. The HSR for 
the monument adheres to this conclusion.  
64 Therese O’Malley, “’A Public Museum of Trees’: Mid-Nineteenth Century Plans for the Mall,” The Mall in Washington, 1791-1991, 
Richard Longstreth, ed. (Washington, D.C.: National Gallery of Art, 1991), 64-65; U.S. Commissioner of Public Buildings, Report of the 
Commissioner of Public Buildings, 1850, 9.  
65 O’Malley, 66-71. 
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1851, grading, draining, and clearing of the Smithsonian grounds began.  Funding to landscape the grounds south of the 
President’s House was also approved at this time.  However, likely due to the construction on the monument grounds, 
funds for its landscaping were either not requested or, if requested, not appropriated. The following year, when Downing 
died in a steamboat accident on the Hudson River, the landscape plan lost the chief advocate of its principles. It also lost 
the detailed plans of the design, which were known to exist but never found after Downing’s death.  Work following 
Downing’s plans continued until the funds already appropriated by Congress were exhausted.  The Smithsonian grounds 
and President’s Park were the only areas to have been completed in a manner approaching Downing’s intentions, as 
shown in Albert Boschke’s 1857 map of the city. (Historical Figure 5) 66  

Downing’s landscape plan was part of a movement that began in the middle of the nineteenth century that 
emphasized recreation and leisure as methods of producing mental, physical, and spiritual health in the American 
citizenry. The movement responded to the Industrial Revolution’s impact on the American workplace and on cities, 
especially the long, inflexible hours and crowded urban areas that critics considered responsible for increased crime, 
disorder, and unhealthy living conditions. Parks provided clean air and open land, recalling rural values that were seen as 
antidotes to urban crowding.  Downing’s winding paths and informal plantings, influenced by nineteenth-century Romantic 
conceptions of landscape design, followed this call for echoes of the countryside within the city. In addition to the 
recreational value of strolling through beautiful scenery, the recreation and leisure movement advocated “rational 
recreation,” which included other activities, including team sports and visits to libraries, museums, and memorials. All such 
activity was understood as exercise for the mind and the spirit as well as the body. Central Park in New York, initially 
opened in 1857 and then altered by Frederick Law Olmsted and Calvert Vaux, was the first comprehensive example of 
such a park in the United States. While Downing’s plan for “Monument Park” was not implemented precisely as he had 
envisioned, his design provided the inspiration for the winding drives and walks that characterized the grounds after the 
monument was completed and opened to the public in 1888.67 

One of the more important and long-lasting ramifications of the Downing plan for the Washington Monument 
Grounds was its extension to the east:  Downing identified 14th Street as the eastern boundary of his Monument Park.  
Since 14th Street where it crossed the Mall was an existing street in 1851, while 15th Street, the original eastern boundary 
of Reservation no. 3, existed only in half-century-old documents from George Washington’s time, Downing’s plan followed 
a practical logic. President Fillmore approved that logic when he approved the Downing plan in 1851, and Commissioner of 
Public Buildings John B. Blake adhered to it in his 1858 description of the landscape’s divisions.  He described 
Reservation no. 3 as “the park and part of the Mall, being the whole of the public grounds West of 14th Street to the Tiber 
Creek and the Potomac.” The Office of Public Buildings and Grounds, a unit of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers that 
became responsible for Washington’s government buildings and public parks in 1867, subsequently followed the Downing-
Blake subdivisions, including the Monument Grounds. The Corps numbered these units in a system that diverged from the 
original reservation numbers set down by President Washington, and the Monument grounds became Reservation no. 2.  
An 1898 law that defined the extent of the District’s parks codified this reservation system.  Those reservation numbers 
and boundaries remain in use to the present day.68  
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1983 (Epilogue 1983-1997):  The White House and President’s Park,” National Park Service, December 2001, 90-94. 
67 “A History of Recreation in East and West Potomac Parks” (revised draft), 6-7. 
68 Historic American Buildings Survey, “The National Mall and Monument Grounds (Reservation Numbers 2, 3, 3A, 3B, 4, 5, 6, 6A),” 
HABS No. DC-678, 1993, 9-15; Statutes at Large, 30 Stat. 570, July 1, 1898. These paragraphs address the issue of the Monument 
Grounds boundaries that was raised during Section 106 consultation for the National Museum of African American History and 
Culture. During that consultation, an inconsistency was pointed out between the eighteenth-century boundaries of the Monument 
Grounds, with its eastern border at the proposed line of 15th Street, as identified in Washington’s description of the original 
appropriations and Dermott’s 1797 mapping of the city, and the site’s current limits, which uses 14th Street as the eastern edge. 
Based on the research cited in this section, the updated Washington Monument and Grounds nomination concludes that the actions 
of Downing, President Fillmore, the commissioner of public buildings, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and congress resulted in the 
expansion of the monument grounds east to 14th Street in the nineteenth century.    
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With the coming of the Civil War, the public grounds were appropriated for military uses. As central public spaces 
near the major transportation route of the Potomac River and near the important government buildings, the Mall, the 
Washington Monument Grounds, President’s Park, and the Capitol grounds were called into service for the duration of the 
war.  President Abraham Lincoln ordered the use of the Washington Monument Grounds as a cattle yard in May 1861, and 
forty-five head of cattle were transported to the site. The army stored hay in one of the monument society’s outbuildings. 
This use of the grounds expanded over the course of the war. Additional cattle grazed within the yard’s fence, and a 
slaughterhouse was built.  In addition, extensive horse stables, officers’ quarters, a bunkhouse for civilians, and a mess 
hall were built on the monument grounds.  On February 22, 1862 – the 130th anniversary of George Washington’s birth – a 
Navy rigger installed a 45-by-30-foot Union flag given to the Washington National Monument Society on a pole on top of 
the unfinished monument. The flag flew for the remainder of the war. 69  

After the war, the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds became responsible for dismantling military intrusions on 
the public grounds and restoring the landscape.  Col. Orville Babcock, who headed the office from 1872 to 1877, 
considered the monument grounds to be in very bad condition – subject to flooding, ungraded, and without roads, walks or 
trees. Babcock began the process of improving the grounds with the cooperation of the reorganized Washington National 
Monument Society, which offered Babcock the use of its buildings for his work. Babcock stored tools and other property in 
one, and the society auctioned the remaining buildings, as well as stones, tools, the engine boiler, and other property to 
clear the grounds.  

Babcock began draining the marshy area between the Washington Monument and President’s Park as a means 
of flood control, ultimately expanding the monument grounds by 25 acres.  Presumably, this work was accomplished in 
conjunction with, or at least approximately at the same time as, the territorial government of Washington’s conversion of 
the city canal into a covered sewer in the early 1870s. B Street North (now Constitution Avenue) was established above 
the sewer line. The filling in of the marsh resulted in the accidental demolition of the original Jefferson Pier from its location 
at the intersection of the axes through the White House and the Capitol. Babcock established three small ponds (one of 
which was subsequently called Babcock Lake) south of B Street North, where the mouth of Tiber Creek had once been 
located. The ponds helped control flooding and provided the U.S. Commission of Fish and Fisheries the opportunity to 
hatch and raise carp.  He also leveled the high ground around the unfinished Monument and planted grass over the site.  
OPBG built two tree-lined roads through the grounds: Meridian Avenue, 69 feet wide, which extended from the line of 16th 
Street into the center of the grounds before branching into several curves, and a 35-foot-wide park road beginning at the 
line of 15th street and curving east to 14th Street. OPBG also established propagating gardens in the southern part of the 
site near the river. The establishment of B Street North and the park road opposite 15th Street provided the opportunity to 
reuse two gateposts attributed to Capitol architect Charles Bulfinch that had been removed from the Capitol grounds in 
1874. Two Bulfinch gatehouses and a gatepost were installed in President’s Park South in 1880. One of the gatehouses is 
located at the northwest corner of 15th Street, opposite the westernmost gatepost on the monument grounds.  The 
monument grounds gateposts may have been relocated at the same time as the other Bulfinch-designed features. 70 

Through the third quarter of the nineteenth century and beyond, the monument grounds remained a working 
landscape. Early in the period, it was a construction site, the wood buildings of which were devoted to erecting a structure 
planned to be the largest in the world. Nearby, the 17th Street Wharf had been widened to 150 feet and extended 750 feet 
into Tiber Creek. The USS Pawnee was anchored at the end of the wharf during the Civil War, in the event that federal 
officials needed to escape from Confederate attack. At least six buildings stood on the wharf, according to Boschke’s 1857 
map. The wharf became known as Galt Wharf when Thomas J. and William M. Galt moved their coal and wood business 
there near the beginning of the Civil War. By this time, wharf business consisted mainly of unloading coal and wood.  
Later, sand dealers would establish themselves on the wharf. John Lord placed his sand business on the wharf around 
1878 or 1879, heralding a wave of such businesses that eventually took it over.  
                         
69 Historic American Buildings Survey, “The National Mall and Monument Grounds (Reservation Numbers 2, 3, 3A, 3B, 4, 5, 6, 6A),” 
HABS No. DC-678, 1993, 10-11; Boyle, 98, 103; John Milner Associates, “ Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-8. 
70 HABS No. DC-678, 1993, 11-15; U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National Capital Region, “Cultural 
Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 2009, 22-24; John Milner Associates, “ 
Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-8 – 2-9. 
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Throughout the period, the wharf’s business owners and their employees were a mixture of Americans of both 
European and African descent.   Prior to the emancipation of enslaved workers (which included nineteen-year-old Ophelia 
Calvert, held in bondage by Thomas Galt), African Americans labored at loading and unloading the ships that arrived at the 
wharf and continued to do so as free stevedores after the Civil War. By 1880, both black and white businessmen would 
own sand-dealing operations on the wharf, and an African American named Henry Heill ran a lunch room there in 1881. 
Investigations of the 17th Street Wharf archeological site, undertaken as part of the Potomac Park Levee expansion, 
recovered a variety of nineteenth-century artifacts likely related to the wharf and its operations. These included timbers that 
may have been part of the wharf itself; building materials such as roofing slate, window glass, and sheet metal; glass, 
ceramic, and stoneware bottles and jars; and food remnants such as oyster shells and animal bones. Some of these 
artifacts were discovered beneath the current street, others to the east, beneath the sidewalk and on the monument 
grounds. No definitive evidence of the wharf itself, however, was found.71  

 
Thomas Lincoln Casey and the Completion of the Monument 

The improvements to the Washington Monument Grounds that took place in the years after the Civil War set the 
stage for the completion of the monument itself.  The approach of the centennial observance of the Declaration of 
Independence spurred renewed interest in finishing the work, and the Washington National Monument Society began to 
seek funds from the government to restart construction, rather than relying on private contributions. As early as 1872, 
society president John Carroll Brent appealed for funds to the House Committee for the District of Columbia, which, the 
following year, appointed a select committee to consult with the society to determine how to complete the monument in 
time for the one hundredth anniversary of American independence. The committee turned to the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers for advice on matters of engineering and construction. Debate on how to complete the monument continued for 
several years, owing to concerns about the stability of the original foundations and about the advisability of constructing the 
colonnaded pantheon according to Mills’ original design. These issues remained unresolved, and the society missed the 
centennial deadline.  

On July 5, 1876, however, legislation was introduced authorizing the federal government to assume responsibility 
for the monument. On August 2, Congress passed a bill that returned ownership of the monument, its grounds, temporary 
structures, and machinery to the United States; provided for a commission to oversee completion of the work; and 
authorized $200,000 to carry out the project.  The Joint Commission for Completion of the Washington Monument 
included the President of the United States, the Supervising Architect of the Treasury Department, the Architect of the 
Capitol, the Chief of Engineers of the Corps of Engineers, and the First Vice-President of the Washington National 
Monument Society.  The commission appointed a board of engineers to examine the monument’s foundations. The board, 
the joint commission, and, ultimately, Congress determined that the monument’s foundations needed to be strengthened 
before the monument could be completed. Congress authorized $36,000 for this work on June 14, 1878. 

A few days later, the joint commission appointed Lt. Col. Thomas Lincoln Casey as Engineer in Charge of the 
project and Capt. George W. Davis as his assistant.  Casey, son of Brev. Maj. Gen. Silas Casey, had graduated first in his 
class from the U.S. Military Academy at West Point. Experienced in constructing fortifications during the Civil War, he also 
supervised construction of a road through the Washington Territory and taught at the academy. In March 1877, he became 
Superintending Engineer in Charge of Public Buildings and Grounds in Washington, from which post he directed 
construction of the State, War, and Navy Building (now the Eisenhower Executive Office Building), the Washington 
Aqueduct, and other public buildings in Washington. Davis served in the infantry during the Civil War and became a 
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captain in the regular army at its conclusion. Stationed in the southwestern United States, Davis superintended building 
operations there. At the monument, Davis administered contracts and handled the daily business of construction.72 

Casey’s plan to strengthen the monument’s foundations required excavation under the original foundation to both 
broaden its spread and deepen its underpinning. Tunnels four feet wide were dug by hand and filled with concrete.  The 
new slab was then tied into the existing foundations with concrete buttresses. The new work was then encapsulated in 
concrete to provide a solid, nearly pyramidal base. Needless to say, the work required extraordinary planning in order to 
maintain the monument’s stability. The initial labor force acting under Casey to carry out this work consisted of his 
assistant George W. Davis, a clerk, a draftsman, six riggers, a stone mason, three stone cutters, two drillers, two 
carpenters, twenty-six laborers, a night watchman, and a water boy. Casey looked all over the country for the special skills 
required for the underground excavations, seeking out miners in Nevada and water supply excavators in Baltimore.  The 
first work involved repairing existing structures on the site to be used as shops for the various trades and storage for 
materials. Work on the foundations commenced in February 1879 and was completed by May 28, 1880. The base of the 
finished work measures 126 feet, 5 ½ inches per side and reaches a depth of 36 feet, 10 inches below the floor of the 
monument. Despite the delicate nature of underpinning the foundations for the immense structure, no cracks or other 
damage appeared in the shaft when the strengthening was complete.73  

As work on the foundations progressed, Casey turned his attention to the design of the monument itself, as well as 
the method of its construction. During the 1870s debate over how to complete the monument, objections to Mills’ original 
design (both the Egyptian Revival shaft and the classically inspired colonnade) were raised by members of Congress, in 
architectural circles, and among the public.  As much as any objective criticism of the Mills design, these objections 
document changing architectural tastes in Victorian America.  Critics generally scorned the unornamented obelisk, 
preferring instead more ornate Gothic, Romanesque, or Italianate proposals. Such designs had been submitted to the 
Washington National Monument Society, Congress, and the joint commission, although no competition for completion of 
the monument was ever considered. Wooed by its advocates and sometimes appearing to lean toward a more ornate 
Victorian approach, the monument society ultimately remained committed to Mills’ obelisk, submitting a memorial to 
Congress on April 29, 1880, stating its desire to complete the monument based on the earlier design. The document 
included letters from George Perkins Marsh, the American ambassador to Italy that documented the appropriateness of 
the obelisk form for commemorative purposes. During the construction of the foundations, Casey had consulted  with 
Marsh on the final design of the monument shaft, refining it to resemble an unadorned Egyptian obelisk with a pointed 
pyramidion, its 10-to-1 ratio of height to base width taken from Marsh’s studies of Egyptian obelisks in Rome.74 

Work on continuing the shaft began in the summer of 1880, beginning with the removal of the two courses of 
inferior stone added during the Know-Nothing management of the monument. The internal iron structure also had to be 
constructed and an elevator installed in order to raise materials to the top of the shaft. The ironwork consisted of 
concentric squares composed of columns and stiffened with girders and braces. The Phoenix Iron Company of 
Phoenixville, Pennsylvania, J.B. and J.M. Cornell of New York City, and H.A. Ramsay and Son of Baltimore supplied the 
ironwork. The interior skeleton supported stairs, as well as an Otis Brothers elevator, and the equipment for the new work 
required two steam engines constructed at the base of the monument to supply power. A cornerstone marking the 
resumption of the work was laid at the 150-foot level on August 7, 1880. President Rutherford B. Hayes placed a coin 
etched with his initials and the date in the bed of mortar on which the cornerstone was laid.  

Hugh Sisson’s Beaver Dam Quarry, in Cockeysville, Maryland, provided most of the marble for the monument’s 
second building campaign, with John A. Briggs supplying a few blocks from the Lee Marble Quarry in Sheffield, 
Massachusetts. The granite backing stone came from four quarries: Davis Tillson and Bodwell Granite Company of 
Rockland, Maine, Cape Anne Granite Company of Boston, and William S. White of Hurricane Island, Maine. A spur from 
the Baltimore and Potomac Railroad, branching off of Maryland Avenue, SW, down 14th Street to the monument grounds, 
delivered materials. Awaiting them was a labor force of 175 workers, including stonecutters, masons, blacksmiths, 
                         
72 Torres, 31-44. 
73 Ibid., 59-66. 
74 Harvey, 96-99: Torres, 49-57. 
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carpenters, riggers, engine drivers, machinists, firemen, water and tool boys, and laborers. Stone cutters and laborers 
accounted for the largest segments of the labor force.  

The large, specialized pool of workers, the use of rail service much improved since the first building campaign, 
and especially the availability of steam power to dress the stones and raise them to the top of the shaft allowed 
construction of the monument to advance at a rapid rate. Four-and-a-half years after construction began at the 150-foot 
level, the shaft had reached the base of the pyramidion at the 500-foot level. Casey and assistant engineer Bernard 
Richardson Green redesigned the pyramidion in the fall of 1884. The new design employed marble, rather than iron and 
glass, as had been planned, so that oxidation of the iron would not discolor the shaft below, and a system of supporting 
ribs that allowed the pyramidion to be relatively light while maintaining suitable wind resistance. Stone for the pyramidion 
was delivered in October 1884, dressed the following month, and quickly set into place. The cast-aluminum capstone of 
the pyramidion was hoisted to the monument’s pinnacle on December 6, 1884. On February 21, 1885, the monument was 
dedicated in a ceremony attended by President Chester A. Arthur, and featuring an oration by Robert C. Winthrop, who 
had spoken at the original cornerstone ceremony in 1848. When it was completed, the Washington Monument was the 
tallest building in the world, and the interior structure the largest iron frame in the world. Although both achievements would 
soon be eclipsed by the Eiffel Tower in Paris, the monument remains the tallest freestanding stone building in the world. 75 

As historian Kirk Savage has pointed out, the Washington Monument as completed accomplished a fundamental 
alteration of the L’Enfant Plan that Mills’ design had implied but which was not perceptible until the monument’s 
completion.  L’Enfant had placed the capital city’s most important building – the Capitol – on the tallest eminence in his 
composition of intersecting legislative and executive axes, with the President’s house on a slightly lower rise of ground.  
The spot chosen for the statue of Washington, on the other hand, would have been at the lowest elevation of the central 
landscape, and the memorial would not have been expected to rival the buildings that housed Congress and the president 
either visually or symbolically.  As built, however, the Washington Monument rose hundreds of feet higher than either 
government edifice.  By constructing the tallest building in the world as the monument to the first president, Casey and the 
Corps of Engineers shifted the emphasis of the intersection of L’Enfant’s axes away from its symbolism as the meeting 
point of public spaces linking the branches of government with the ideals of Washington and the founding generation. 
Instead, the monument became the undisputed visual focus of a developing public landscape, leading to its importance as 
a symbol of the city itself. Further, by providing a means for visitors to reach the top of the monument and look down from 
its height, the completed memorial rivaled and, in some sense, displaced, the west terrace of the Capitol as the viewing 
platform from which the city would best be known.76 

During the five years after the monument’s completion, the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds improved the 
monument to allow for public visitation.  The work included closing the west door, reducing the east door in size, and 
removing the Mills-designed ornament from the openings in order to conform more closely to the pure obelisk form. Also 
accomplished were the insertion of the remaining memorial stones on the interior walls, conversion of the freight elevator 
to passenger use, replacement of the wood stairs with iron treads, and construction of a bluestone-paved lobby floor 
supported by iron beams and plates.77  

When the expanded foundations had been completed in 1880, they were covered with earth, formed into a steep 
terrace, and sowed with grass. As the shaft neared completion four years later, Casey again took up the final disposition of 
its grounds. Casey offered two proposals on how to landscape the grounds to the Joint Commission on the Completion of 
the Washington Monument. The more elaborate proposal envisioned a marble terrace ornamented with statuary resting on 
an earthen substratum that covered the foundations. Casey’s second proposal involved a naturalistic approach to the 
landscape. “The other method of finish proposed,” he wrote in his 1884 annual report to the commission, “is to fill earth 
about the present terrace, and joining with it, and to extend this filling so far from the Monument as to fade the slopes of 
the embankment gradually into the surrounding surfaces, and this to be done with so much skill as to give to the mound an 
                         
75 Torres, 65, 95; John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. I, 
Washington Monument, 2-7 – 2-12; 3-5 – 3-10.  
76Kirk Savage, Monument Wars (Berkeley, California: University of California Press, 2009), 55, 103-105, 132-134.  
77 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. I, Washington 
Monument, 3-11-3-12. 
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appearance as far from artificial as possible . . . with a pavement to be put around the foot of the Monument.” This 
approach to the landscape accorded with a suggestion made in 1873 by Army Corps of Engineers First Lieut. W.L. 
Marshall. Reporting to Chief of Engineers Gen. A.A. Humphreys on the strength and stability of the monument at that time, 
Marshall had suggested that the monument foundations should be covered with earth to present “the appearance of a 
massive obelisk shooting vertically from the solid earth.” The joint commission adopted the second, naturalistic approach. 
An 1886 topographical map guided the work, which was complete enough by November 1887 for a granolithic plaza to be 
placed at its base. The plaza, with a radius of 70 feet, was encircled by a 50-foot-wide gravel roadway.78  

Casey’s completed landscape design emphasized the obelisk itself – and therefore the man it memorialized – by 
setting it off from the surrounding city and providing clear views of the monument from within the landscape precinct. This 
approach has affiliations with concepts of the sublime and the romantic from the late eighteenth and early nineteenth 
centuries in its emphasis on the massiveness of the obelisk and its symbolic association with commemoration, as well as 
in its focus on a single individual. Designs influenced by these concepts looked on landscape as a stimulus to reflection on 
philosophical subjects, especially time, death, and the power of nature. Similar installations, although with much smaller 
built elements, can be found in the eighteenth-century English landscapes at Castle Howard, Stowe, and Stourhead. In 
these instances, classical temples were set on high ground visible across broad lawns, their lonely settings and 
architecture based on ancient precedents intended to prompt thoughts on an individual’s relationship to the cosmos.79  

Curving gravel roads (35 feet wide) and plank paths for pedestrians (9 feet wide) linked the plaza to 14th Street on 
the east and B Street on the north. Early photographs of the monument and its grounds show that the knoll was a grass-
covered open expanse, on which the monument sat, with trees at the perimeter of the site. In addition to this landscape 
treatment, Babcock Lake near the corner of 17th and B streets was filled in. The presence of the lake was thought to have 
affected the monument’s stability, as subsidence was greater on that side of the monument.80 

The steam engine and boiler that provided power for the monument elevator had been located in separate 
buildings at the base of the structure on its west side. As these wood outbuildings would have detracted from the dignity 
and purity sought for Washington’s monument, the boiler was moved 750 feet to the southwest and placed within a new 
building, known as the Boiler House (now the Survey Lodge). Designed by Casey’s office and completed June 30, 1886, 
by contractor William Bradley, it was built from marble and granite left over from the construction of the monument. A 
buried steam tunnel connected the boiler house to the underground engine room at the monument. Although utilitarian in 
purpose, the boiler house incorporated aesthetic touches in its contrast between quarry-faced marble walls with smooth-
dressed granite water tables, sills, and details and in its domed cupola with decorative pilasters.81  

The Boiler House was built with Congressionally appropriated funds, but the Washington National Monument 
Society provided funding for design and construction of the Monument Lodge, located 480 feet east of the monument 
entrance. The building was intended to provide for the management of the monument, as well as its maintenance, and to 
act as an archive for records of the society and the Joint Commission for the Completion of the Washington Monument. 
Casey asked William Poindexter and Company for a design on June 8, 1887. Poindexter had been employed by the 
Supervisory Architect of the Treasury before establishing an independent practice. He had designed buildings for the 
Soldiers Home, the Virginia State Library, and Randolph-Macon Women’s College, and was co-founder of the Washington 
chapter of the American Institute of Architects. His design combines Greek columns with a variety of stone textures. Late 
nineteenth-century American architecture frequently featured such eclectic combinations of motifs. 

John Lane and Antonio Malnati won the construction contract for the Monument Lodge and began building on May 
28, 1888. The lodge was not ready in time for the monument’s opening to the public on October 9, 1888, and the 
completion date was extended three times. Construction crews finished the building at some point after January 22, 1889, 

                         
78 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. I, Washington 
Monument, 3-13-3-14. 
79 Elizabeth Barlow Rogers, Landscape Design: A Cultural and Architectural History (New York: Harry N. Abrams, 2001), 234-247; 
Geoffrey and Susan Jellicoe, The Landscape of Man (New York: Thames and Hudson, 1996), 232-247.  
80 John Milner Associates, “ Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-15; 3-12. 
81 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. III, Survey Lodge, 
prepared for National Park Service, Denver Service Center and National Capital Region, June 2004, 2-1 – 2-2. 
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and it was subsequently transferred from the monument society to the federal government. Lane and Malnati also used left 
over marble and granite from monument construction, although the building also likely used purchased stone. The lodge’s 
in antis Doric columns face east and frame its entrance. The door opens onto a public room, which was originally flanked 
on one side by a room containing the archives of the monument society and the joint commission and on the other by a 
keeper’s room and restrooms. A plank walk linked 14th Street to the lodge, which was intended as a meeting point for 
visitors to the monument. So many people began to visit the site, however, that many bypassed the lodge and headed 
directly for the monument itself. 82 

One other addition to the monument grounds completed its early landscape. A new Jefferson Pier Marker was 
erected on the foundations of the original pier at the intersection of the axes through the White House and the Capitol. The 
original pier was accidentally destroyed in 1872 during alterations to the monument grounds. The square granite marker, 2 
feet on each side and 3 feet 3 inches high, has a pyramidal cap and an inscription on its western face.83  

 
Expansion of the Monument Grounds and the McMillan Plan, 1882-1902 

In the last two decades of the nineteenth century, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers planned and completed a 
program of improvements along the Potomac River that pushed the shoreline west of its original location, significantly 
enlarging the land mass of Washington’s central public space. The changes resulted from a project initially undertaken by 
the Corps in 1874 to improve navigation of the Potomac, which had been impeded by sediment.  The potential of the 
channel dredging to provide earth with which to control flooding and to raise the muddy, unhealthy area known as the 
Potomac Flats soon became evident, and in 1882 the Corps began implementing a plan, developed by Maj. Peter C. 
Hains, to accomplish these goals.  On August 2 of that year, Congress made the first appropriation of funds for the work, 
and reclamation of land near the monument grounds began in August 1884 to prepare for the creation of the Tidal Basin.  
By the end of the century the dredging and filling project had created 739 additional acres of usable land, as well as the 
Tidal Basin (which borders the south side of the monument grounds), the gates used to flush the Washington Channel of 
sediment, and a retaining wall along the new shoreline. Congress determined that the new land mass would be used for 
park purposes by legislation approved on March 3, 1897.  The law designated the reclaimed land “Potomac Park.” In 
August 1901, 31 acres of the new park (between the Tidal Basin, 17th Street, and the former western edge of the 
monument grounds) were designated the “Monument Park Annex.” Additional land was ceded to the monument grounds a 
few years later, when, in 1907, the U.S. Fish and Fisheries Commission relinquished to the Office of Public Buildings and 
Grounds the area under its jurisdiction at the southeast corner of the intersection of 17th Street and B Street North. With 
the addition, the monument grounds reached its current extent, covering approximately 106 acres.84   

The public land added by the reclamation of the Potomac Flats provided the canvas on which the Senate Park (or 
McMillan) Commission, expanded on and reimagined the public spaces L’Enfant had designed in 1791 and that Downing 
had redefined in the middle of the nineteenth century. The commission was named for Michigan Sen. James McMillan, 
who headed the Senate Committee on the District of Columbia, and sought to reconcile a variety of plans that had been 
proposed for Washington’s downtown as the city entered the new century. Multiple individuals, government bodies, and 
organizations championed proposals for improvements, including the OPBG, the American Institute of Architects, and the 
Washington Board of Trade.  McMillan introduced a resolution on March 8, 1901, authorizing a committee, in consultation 
with appropriate professionals, to report to the full Senate on plans for improving Washington’s park system, which 
included the Mall, the Washington Monument Grounds, Potomac Park, and President’s Park, as well as Rock Creek Park, 
Civil War fort sites, public squares, and recreational parks.  Less than two weeks after the resolution passed, the 
                         
82 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” vol. II, Monument 
Lodge, prepared for National Park Service, Denver Service Center and National Capital Region, June 2004, 2-1 – 2-9.  
83 John Milner Associates, “ Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-9. 
84 U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National Register Nomination: “East and West Potomac Parks Historic 
District (revised nomination), November 11, 2001, 8.60-8.61; Gordon Chapell, “Historic Resource Study – East and West Potomac 
Parks: A History,” Denver Service Center, National Park Service, June 1973, 19-66; Robinson & Associates, Inc., “Historic Preservation 
Report for the National Museum of African American History and Culture,” prepared for the Smithsonian Institution, July 2007, 28; 
“Cultural Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 20-38.  
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committee appointed architects Daniel H. Burnham and Charles F. McKim and landscape architect Frederick Law 
Olmsted, Jr., to be the consulting experts.  Sculptor August Saint-Gaudens joined the commission in June to provide 
advice on memorials to Abraham Lincoln and Ulysses Grant, both of which had been proposed prior to the commission’s 
creation.85 

All four commission members had been involved with the World’s Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1893, 
perhaps the most completely realized example of City Beautiful planning in the United States.  The City Beautiful 
movement constituted a progressive attempt by American architects, landscape architects, civic organizations, and 
municipal administrators to address the functions and appearance of burgeoning cities at a time when urban planning as a 
discipline did not exist.  Using principles of composition taught at the École des Beaux-Arts in Paris, with their largely 
Baroque emphasis on movement through space and hierarchical groupings of buildings, the City Beautiful movement 
attempted to grapple with the ugliness perceived in the unplanned and unruly growth of American cities, as well as 
practical matters such as recreation, transportation, and sanitation.  The World’s Columbian Exposition provided a 
successful model of ways to address all these real-life concerns, albeit in a relatively small and temporary manner.86    

Washington at the beginning of the twentieth century, with its street plan based to a great extent on Baroque 
precedents, offered an opportunity to establish a large and permanent urban center according to the principles developed 
for the World’s Columbian Exposition.  Almost from the beginning, members of the McMillan Commission recognized this 
opportunity and determined not to limit the scope of their efforts to Washington’s parks, as provided for in the Senate 
resolution.  Following a suggestion by Burnham, the commission broadened its charge to address the placement of 
buildings and memorials and transportation patterns in downtown Washington and in the city’s outer reaches.  The plan 
proposed to ring Capitol Square with office buildings serving Congress and to place the executive departments around 
Lafayette Square. It envisioned municipal government buildings to replace the run-down private properties south of 
Pennsylvania Avenue east of the White House and a memorial bridge from the Lincoln Memorial site to Arlington National 
Cemetery.  No American city had ever contemplated such a sweeping, comprehensive redefinition of its physical fabric.  It 
was, as planning historian Jon Peterson has written, “a new and comprehensive vision for the capital and the nation.”87  

The commission’s report to Congress – The Improvement of the Park System of the District of Columbia, 
published in 1902 – noted that “the great space known as the Mall, which was intended to form a unified connection 
between the Capitol and the White House, and to furnish sites for a certain class of public buildings, has been diverted 
from its original purpose and cut into fragments, each portion receiving a separate and individual treatment, thus invading 
what was a single composition.”88  The commission’s task was to develop “such a plan as shall tend to restore that unity of 
design which was the fundamental conception of those who first laid out the city as a national capital.” In addition to their 
opportunity to “restore” L’Enfant’s plan, Burnham, McKim, and Olmsted saw the chance to extend it.  “The reclamation of 
the Potomac flats,” they wrote, “has added to the public grounds a considerable area, one portion of which must be treated 
as a continuation of the Mall and Monument grounds.”89   

The Senate Park Commission plan extended the Mall beyond the Washington Monument to include a site 
proposed for the Lincoln Memorial at the western end of the Capitol axis and a second memorial space (its purpose not 
determined in the plan published in 1902) at the southern end of the White House axis.  From the commission’s earliest 

                         
85 Jon A. Peterson, “The Senate Park Commission Plan for Washington, D.C.: A New Vision for the Capital and the Nation,” in 
Designing the Nation’s Capital: The 1901 Plan for Washington, D.C., Sue Kohler and Pamela Scott, eds.  (Washington, D.C.: U.S. 
Commission of Fine Arts, 2006), 6-14. 
86 Thomas S. Hines, “The Imperial Mall: The City Beautiful Movement and the Washington Plan of 1901-02,” The Mall in Washington, 
1791-1991, Richard Longstreth, editor (Washington, D.C.: National Gallery of Art, 1991), 79-84; Peterson, 1-2; “Cultural Landscape 
Inventory: National Mall and Memorial Parks, the Mall,” 2006, 49. 
87 Pamela Scott, “’A City Designed as a Work of Art’: The Emergence of the Senate Park Commission’s Monumental Core,” Designing 
the Nation’s Capital: The 1901 Plan for Washington, D.C., Sue Kohler and Pamela Scott, editors (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Commission 
of Fine Arts, 2006), 90; Charles Moore, ed., The Improvement of the Park System of the District of Columbia, Report of the Senate 
Park (McMillan) Commission, 57th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Report No. 166, 1902, 33-64; Peterson, 5.  
88 Moore, 23.  
89 Ibid., 10. 
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studies, the Washington Monument functioned as a focal point for this composition. A drawing from the end of April 1901 
shows an open corridor at the center of the Mall, flanked by rows of trees, and the Capitol axis realigned to bisect the 
monument.  A June plan extends this axis to the proposed Lincoln Memorial space on the edge of the Potomac.  The 
monument retained its importance in the final composition: the commission’s report stated that it “has taken its place with 
the Capitol and the White House as one of the three foremost national structures.” The final plan proposed reconfiguring 
the Washington Monument grounds into a Greek cross ornamented by terraces and pools to emphasize the intersection of 
the two axes and the relationship between the two branches of government. Immediately west of the monument, the 
planners envisioned a sunken pool and garden at the site L’Enfant proposed for Washington’s statue. The plan also 
proposed Fifteenth Street as the eastern boundary of the monument grounds. 90  

Since the Senate resolution establishing the McMillan Commission provided no authority for carrying out the plan, 
its directives were implemented on a project-by-project basis, often with strong advocacy by Burnham, McKim, Olmsted, 
Jr., and Charles Moore, the commission secretary. The design and construction of a new building for the Department of 
Agriculture (first phase completed 1908) and the new National Museum (now the Smithsonian’s National Museum of 
Natural History; opened 1910), for instance, helped establish building setback lines on the Mall and reorient the Capitol 
axis through the Washington Monument. Congress authorized the U.S. Commission of Fine Arts (CFA) in 1910 to advise 
the federal government on the location of statues, fountains, and monuments and the selection of their artists.  Burnham, 
Olmsted, and Moore were all CFA members at various times in its first quarter of the twentieth century, giving the McMillan 
Commission direct influence over aspects of the plan’s implementation.91 

 Comprehensive efforts to implement the McMillan Plan did not begin, however, until the late 1920s and early 
1930s. Legislation approved in 1929 included funding for improvements to the Mall from Union Square to 14th Street. At 
about the same time, legislators and the city’s planning and advisory organizations – the Office of Public Buildings and 
Public Parks (OPBPP), CFA, and the National Capital Park and Planning Commission (NCPPC) – addressed the 
monument and its grounds.92  Legislation was introduced in Congress in 1928 that included language calling for the 
completion of the monument grounds according to the McMillan Plan.  It was hoped that the work could be accomplished 
by the bicentennial of Washington’s birth in 1932. Ulysses S. Grant III, the director of OPBPP, and NCPPC were aware, 
however, of concerns dating to Lt. Col. Casey’s time that changes to the monument grounds could affect the monument’s 
stability, and the legislation was amended to provide $30,000 during fiscal year 1930 for evaluation of the effects of the 
McMillan Plan on the monument before any work took place. The legislation included the selection of an advisory 
committee to oversee the work, which was made up of Olmsted, Jr.; architect William A. Delano, an NCPPC member and 
former CFA commissioner; civil engineers J. Vipond Davies and Lazarus White; Maj. D.H. Gillette, U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers; and John L. Nagle, who was described as “designing engineer.”93 

The advisory committee first met in June 1930 and undertook a study of soil conditions at the monument that 
included borings to the bedrock some 80 feet below ground level. It concluded that the added earth required for the 
McMillan Plan terrace on the east side of the monument and the cuts into the earth to create the pool and sunken garden 
on the west would unbalance the loads on the monument’s foundations and therefore threaten the obelisk’s stability. The 
only way to ensure that stability, the committee determined, would be to underpin the monument to bedrock or dismantle 

                         
90 Kohler and Scott, plates V-VI; Mall Cultural Landscapes Inventory, 49-50; Moore, 47-48. The quotation is in Moore, p. 48. 
91 Sue Kohler, “The Commission of Fine Arts: Implementing the Senate Park Commission’s Vision,” Designing the Nation’s Capital: 
The 1901 Plan for Washington, D.C., Sue Kohler, and Pamela Scott, editors. (Washington, DC: U.S. Commission of Fine Arts, 2006), 
249-263.   
92 Congress created OPBPP by legislation approved on February 26, 1925, which abolished the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds, 
removed its responsibilities from the Corps of Engineers, and concentrated design, construction, and maintenance of all of 
Washington’s federal parkland in a new independent agency.  NCPPC evolved from the National Capital Park Commission, created by 
Congress in 1924 to oversee development of the parks and playgrounds of the National Capital. On April 30, 1926, legislation 
changed the commission’s name to the National Capital Park and Planning Commission and enlarged its responsibilities to include 
comprehensive planning for the capital and its environs. 
93 U.S. Congress, House of Representatives, Improvement of the Washington Monument Grounds, House Doc. No. 528, 72nd Cong., 
2nd sess., 1934, 1-6; John Milner Associates, “ Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-21 – 2-23. 
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the monument, construct a new foundation that was anchored to the bedrock, and then reconstruct the monument on the 
new foundation. Due to the costs of such an approach and due to an historical appreciation of the monument’s original 
construction, the advisory committee recommended abandoning the elaborate McMillan Plan for the site and seeking new 
plans that linked the monument grounds to the Lincoln Memorial on the west and the Mall on the east in an appropriate 
manner. Delano subsequently produced a plan known as the “Formal” or “Balustrade” plan that continued the McMillan 
Plan’s tree-lined central greensward from Union Square up to the monument itself and on the west added a large open 
space across the east-west axis from the Capitol that echoed the shape of the Rainbow Pool at the east end of the Lincoln 
Memorial grounds. Olmsted and Henry Hubbard, a former pupil of Olmsted and a member of the Olmsted Brothers firm, 
developed what became known as the “Informal” plan, which included brief reinforcement of the east-west and north-south 
axes at the edges of the site through the use of framing walks, but also provided two egg-shaped circulation paths that 
converged at the monument.  Olmsted and Hubbard also proposed dense plantings of trees on the north and south to 
frame views of the monument.94  

The report issued to Congress by Grant in January 1933 (with which President Herbert Hoover concurred in his 
transmittal letter) concluded that neither plan completely ensured the monument’s stability without underpinning the 
foundation to bedrock. It also stated that no general consensus had been reached as to which plan was most aesthetically 
appropriate for the site. (NCPPC and CFA both considered the plans and agreed only that the monument’s stability 
needed to be guaranteed.) Given the economic crisis in the country at the time – the United States was well into the Great 
Depression – the report recommended following the Informal plan with regard to the roads on the monument site to link it 
with the Lincoln Memorial grounds and the Mall and to make sure the site’s plantings also blended with the public grounds 
to the east and west. That approach, Grant wrote, would avoid any improvements that would “materially change the 
characteristics of the setting of the Monument as planned and intended by its builders.” He further recommended that the 
government should make it a general policy to change the monument grounds a little as possible. This policy seems 
generally to have been followed. Work on the monument grounds up to 1936 – undertaken by the National Park Service, 
which became responsible for Washington’s parks as a result of President Franklin Delano Roosevelt’s reorganization of 
the executive branch in 1933 – involved only removal of the existing curvilinear roads through the site, leaving the 
Monument sitting on its knoll in a large open greensward linked to the perimeter circulation by a single road to the east.95  

 
Operational, Entertainment, and Recreational Improvements before World War II 

As the McMillan Commission proposal for the monument grounds was conceived, disseminated, debated, placed 
on hold, and ultimately shelved, the monument, its ancillary structures, and the site continued to evolve in order to satisfy 
operational and visitor needs. Some of the changes would barely have been noticed by the public. The Boiler House (now 
the Survey Lodge) was altered from its L-shaped original footprint to a rectangular plan in 1901 to accommodate the 
transition from steam to electricity to power the monument elevator. Constructed mostly of stuccoed brick, the addition 
housed an electric dynamo and generator. At the same time, OPBG replaced the steam elevator at the monument with an 
electric one and installed an elevator motor in what had been the original engine room below grade on the west side of the 
monument. This space, called the motor room after the changeover, was further altered to accommodate the new use. 
Lockers were installed for attendants (1904-05), a concrete floor replaced the existing wood floor (1906-07), and a vertical 
wall was built against the sloping exterior surface of the monument foundation, creating a shelf at the top (1908-09).  The 
use of the Boiler House to hold the electrical power plant was, however, short-lived. In 1923, a private company began to 
supply electricity to the monument grounds, and three years later, OPBPP turned the Boiler House into offices.96 

The alteration to the elevator paved the way for renovation of the monument lobby as a waiting area. The 
renovation was needed because the waiting room at the Monument Lodge proved too small for the increasing number of 

                         
94 U.S. Congress, House of Representatives, Improvement of the Washington Monument Grounds, 7-17. 
95 U.S. Congress, House of Representatives, Improvement of the Washington Monument Grounds, 29-42; John Milner Associates, 
“Washington Monument Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-22 – 2-23. The quotation from Grant’s report is on page 42. 
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visitors. In 1903, a storeroom at the monument’s entrance level was emptied and matting placed on the granite floor to 
function as a temporary waiting area.  The following year, this space was improved, creating the L-shaped waiting area on 
the south and west sides of the entrance level that exists, largely unchanged, today. The work included steel framing, new 
walls with two-toned marble wainscot, coved ceiling with crown molding, and a terrazzo floor with an inlaid Greek key 
pattern and wreathes holding quotations related to Washington’s life. Four oak settees provided seating, and glazed wood 
doors separated the waiting room from the entrance through the thick stone walls. The 1904 work at the monument also 
included improved heating (both in the lobby and at the observation level at the top of the monument), iron gates and a 
revolving door at the entrance, and wood shutters over the pyramidion windows. OBPG extended the lobby improvements 
to the west alcove in 1913, using the same terrazzo floor with mosaic inlay, plaster walls, and marble wainscot. In 1910, 
the public waiting area at the Monument Lodge received the same kind of improvements to the walls and floor as the 
monument elevator lobby.  The exterior of the monument received its first comprehensive cleaning and repair in 1934. In 
that year, contractor Alexander Howie, Inc., encased the entire structure with aluminum scaffolding, and then repointed 
mortar joints, cleaned the exterior stones, and repaired cracks in the masonry. The work was completed in January 
1935.97 

Work on the monument grounds during this period addressed operational needs. In 1898, the U.S. Coast and 
Geodetic Survey erected the Elevation Obelisk, a 13-foot-tall, concrete replica of the monument, 150 feet to the south to 
serve as a benchmark against which to measure settlement. A year later, OPBG expanded the propagating gardens along 
15th Street south of the monument with the addition of reclaimed land near the Tidal Basin. The office developed a grid of 
streets on the property over the next few years and began moving structures to the site. A two-story frame building 
associated with the construction of the Gen. William Tecumseh Sherman statue in President’s Park and five White House 
greenhouses were moved there in 1901-1902. Brick buildings supplanted some of the older wood structures along 15th 
Street at about the same time, and two granite gateposts were erected at the 15th Street entrance. In 1907, a greenhouse 
near the Fish Commission ponds was moved to the propagating gardens. OPBG used the greenhouses and shop 
buildings on the monument grounds to support all their maintenance and improvement work in Washington’s downtown 
parks. 

Improvements for visitors addressed those who came to experience the commemorative aspect of the site, but 
also expanded its uses to include recreational and entertainment opportunities that neither Robert Mills nor Col. Casey 
probably had foreseen. In the years between 1901 and 1903, OPBG extended 17th Street south of B Street North to the 
Tidal Basin, forming the site’s western boundary, and constructed a macadam road that connected 15th and 17th streets, 
known as River Road, that followed the curving northern edge of the Tidal Basin. A cinder walk bordered the road along 
the basin and a bridle path followed its course on the opposite side. OPBG also built new board walks or repaired existing 
ones and planted dozens of trees, especially American elms, along the streets it established. In 1912, a shipment of 3,020 
Japanese cherry trees was sent from the city of Tokyo to Washington, D.C., as a symbolic gesture of Japanese-American 
understanding and friendship. Hundreds of the trees, mostly specimens of the white or pale pink Yoshino cherry, were 
planted around the perimeter of the Tidal Basin, in some cases replacing the elm trees planted earlier. It may have been at 
around this time that the mulberry tree southwest of the monument first appeared. Aerial photographs from 1919, 1923, 
and 1930 show vegetation in the current location of the tree. Eighty-four benches consisting of iron frames with wood slats 
were distributed in a circle around the monument plaza in 1932. Lighting to expand the time in which visitors could come to 

                                                                                           
96 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume III, Survey 
Lodge, 3-3 – 3-4; John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume 
I, Washington Monument,   3-20. 
97 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume II, Monument 
Lodge, 3-14 – 3-17; John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” 
Volume I, Washington Monument, 3-14 – 3-20. The precise location of the 15th Street entrance to the propagating gardens, with its 
granite gateposts, is not specified in the CLR. A 1924 map of the area from the Office of Public Buildings and Public Parks depicts such 
an entrance opposite the Bureau of Engraving and Printing, at approximately the line of C Street SW. 
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the monument was also installed. In 1904, OPBG erected twelve electric lights around the monument and added fifty-five 
gas lights in 1911. Floodlights to illuminate the monument itself were first installed in 1931.98 

If neither Mills nor Casey had foreseen recreational opportunities on the monument grounds, the McMillan 
Commission did – or at least in this vicinity. The commission’s report noted that “the positive dearth of means of innocent 
enjoyment for one’s leisure hours is remarkable” in the city. To satisfy this need, the planners envisioned ball fields, tennis 
courts, playgrounds, and stadiums in the area designated “the Washington Common” near what is now the Thomas 
Jefferson Memorial.99 Although built facilities never followed the McMillan Plan in detail, recreational activities on the 
Washington Monument Grounds beyond strolls through its green space flourished early in the twentieth century.  OPBG 
concentrated the recreational facilities it developed at the monument grounds in its northwest quadrant near 17th and North 
B streets. In 1907, OPBG leased one of the ponds created by the U.S. Fish and Fisheries Commission to city authorities 
for use as a swimming pool. In 1910, the office canceled that lease and filled in the pond, but leased another strip of land 
on the grounds on which to build swimming pools. That same year, a building on the Fish Commission site was renovated 
for use by visitors and two rest rooms were installed nearby. The remaining fish ponds were filled, graded, and sown with 
grass by 1911.  

OPBG also developed facilities for organized sports on the monument grounds. (Historical Figure 6) Three 
baseball diamonds were added in 1911 to the nine that had been established at an unknown previous date, and three 
more were laid out in 1914. A year later, OPBG built a track and field facility that included high jump, broad jump, and pole 
vault pits; shot put, hammer, and discus courts; and a half-mile turf running track. Local universities, public and private 
schools, social organizations, and police and fire departments used the facility. Over the next decade, a soccer field, three 
football fields, several tennis courts, a basketball court, and an archery range were built. Changes took place in the 
number of these facilities over the period, and some were altered. The football fields were removed in favor of additional 
tennis courts, for instance, and the surfaces of three of the tennis courts were changed from clay to concrete. The number 
of baseball diamonds had been reduced to eight by 1927. Such changes to these facilities over a relatively short period of 
time suggest that OPBG responded to the recreational needs of Washington citizens as they evolved.100 

The importance of the recreational facilities on the monument grounds to Washington residents is well illustrated 
by the public’s resistance to construction of a flood control levee proposed for the monument grounds and West Potomac 
Park in 1934. Resistance revolved around the necessity of removing the swimming pools run by the District of Columbia 
that had been constructed near the intersection of 17th and the former B Street North (by then renamed Constitution 
Avenue). The protests delayed demolition of the pools until new pools could be constructed elsewhere. A disastrous flood 
in 1936, however, resulted in the construction of a temporary levee that same year. In 1938, the permanent flood control 
levee, a concrete and earth structure that raised the ground level on the north side of the Reflecting Pool, was constructed. 
While no levee construction took place on the monument grounds itself, the area immediately east of 17th Street – where 
the pools had stood – was regraded to provide flood protection.101  

Many of the remaining recreational facilities on the monument grounds were removed during World War II.  On 
April 28, 1942, the National Park Service transferred 22.17 acres in the northwest portion of the grounds to the Public 
Buildings Administration for the construction of three temporary buildings for war-time use. A parking lot was also 
established along the line of 16th Street. A fence encircled the war-time buildings, separating them from the rest of the 
monument grounds. Three additional wings were built on one of the temporary buildings in 1943, and the parking lot was 
expanded. Construction for non-park purposes continued, and by 1949, temporary office buildings covered the western 
section of the monument grounds for almost the entire length of 17th Street. Such construction necessitated the removal of 

                         
98 John Milner Associates, “Cultural Landscape Report,” Executive Summary – 5-10, 2-16, 4-24; Melanie Choukas-Bradley, City of 
Trees: The Complete Field Guide to the Trees of Washington, D.C., 3d ed. (Charlottesville, VA: University of Virginia Press, 2008), 38-
43; “Cultural Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 99.  
99 Moore, 49-50. 
100 John Milner Associates, “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-16 – 2-20. 
101 John Milner Associates, “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-23; U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National 
Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: East and West Potomac Parks Historic District (revised nomination), November 11, 
2001, 7:19, 8:81. 
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many of the purpose-built recreational facilities, and these facilities were not rebuilt after the war, although recreational use 
of the grounds continued.102 

The early years of the twentieth century also witnessed the first use of the monument grounds as a venue for 
public entertainments. Festivities on the monument grounds had frequently, of course, included music, fireworks, and 
other forms of entertainment, but those activities played secondary roles to what were primarily commemorative events. 
The McMillan Plan designated the Mall as the location of museum buildings and considered festive occasions (at which 
fireworks might be displayed) appropriate for the Washington Common, it but did not recommend the construction of 
theaters, opera houses, or other performance venues. The dearth of such facilities was evident when the first film was 
shown on the monument grounds in 1916: The white marble wall of the monument itself acted as the background for the 
moving images in the absence of a proper screen.103  

A more permanent location for public performances was established the following year, when the Sylvan Theater 
was built through the efforts of Alice Pike Barney and the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds. Barney, a painter with 
exhibitions in Paris, London, Boston, and Washington to her credit, also wrote, produced, and directed a variety of 
theatrical works during the first two decades of the twentieth century, when she made the District of Columbia her primary 
home. The daughter of philanthropists Samuel and Ellen Pike of Cincinnati, Alice married wealthy Cincinnati businessman 
Albert Clifford Barney in 1876. When the couple moved to Washington, the Society of Washington Artists, the city’s most 
important arts organization, accepted Alice as a member. She subsequently built a house, designed by local architect 
Waddy B. Wood, on Sheridan Circle that became known as Studio House. There, in addition to continuing her painting 
career and creating a salon on the Paris model, she hosted meetings of the society as it discussed its plans to promote the 
arts in Washington. A philanthropist like her parents, Barney often created theatrical performances to raise money for the 
charities she supported. Her work progressed from private showings at Studio House to productions in public venues such 
as the Willard Hotel, and ultimately to performances in the city’s purpose-built theaters.  

In the spring of 1916, Barney persuaded the husband-and-wife Shakespearean actors R.D. Shepherd and Odette 
Tyler to perform scenes at Dumbarton Oaks in honor of the 300th anniversary of the Bard’s death. The performance took 
place on May 26, and the funds raised provided for a free performance the following night at the base of the Washington 
Monument. The crowds on the monument grounds grew so large that many could not see the two actors, which prompted 
Barney to seek a permanent outdoor venue for Shakespeare and other classical theater.  She invited Col. William W. 
Harts, the Officer in Charge of the Public Buildings and Grounds, to dinner at Studio House on several occasions to 
discuss the project, and the colonel proved receptive to the idea. In the late summer of 1916, OPBG staff began 
constructing a theater site southeast of the monument at the base of the knoll, and work continued through the fall. The 
sod stage – 5 feet above grade, 30 feet deep, and 80 feet across – matched the size of the stage of the Metropolitan 
Opera in New York. Thirty-foot-square “wings” of grass and screening shrubbery flanked the stage. Three flights of 
flagstone steps ascended to the stage from the rear. In addition to filling and grading, sodding, seeding, and planting, 
OPBG installed lights as well as a drainage system consisting of nearly 400 feet of terra-cotta pipe. By 1931, a screen of 
trees stood at the back of the stage and privet hedge masked the wings.  

The Sylvan Theater was scheduled to open on June 1, 1917, but rain canceled the performance after the crowd, 
estimated at 13,000, had already begun to gather. The inaugural program, produced and directed by Barney, instead took 
place the following day, with as many as 15,000 in attendance. Barney remained involved with the Sylvan Theater only 
until 1920, when she moved to Europe and, subsequently, to California. After her departure, the theater hosted a wide 
variety of functions. Private organizations, such as the Order of Elks and the Ku Klux Klan, held rallies and ceremonies 
there; various organizations promoted public speeches and programs; and numerous military bands performed. During the 
1920s, Easter services and summer vespers took place there. This list of uses suggests the theater’s popularity, as does 

                         
102“ Cultural Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,”  46; John Milner Associates, “Cultural 
Landscape Report,” 2-24 – 2-25. 
103 John Milner Associates, “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-20, 4-7; Moore, 49-50. 
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the determination of the National Park Service to erect a wood stage supported by iron girders, replacing the original 
earthen one, in 1944.104 

The remaining significant construction on the monument grounds during this period was undertaken to enhance 
city and regional circulation, rather than access to the monument, the Mall, and West Potomac Park. The extension of 
Independence Avenue, SW, from 14th Street to 23rd Street (along with the connection of Maine Avenue, SW, to 
Independence) was built at this time in part to improve vehicular access to the Pentagon, which was being constructed on 
the Virginia side of the Potomac River. Philadelphia-based architect and former Commission of Fine Arts member Paul 
Cret and consulting engineers Modjeski and Masters of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, designed the extension as a dual 
highway system in which all drives were one way. This approach limited alterations to the Tidal Basin and maintained the 
area’s park-like appearance by protecting existing views and vegetation. The roadwork did, however, require flattening the 
shoreline of the northern lobe of the Tidal Basin from its original rounded shape, slightly altering the southern boundary of 
the monument grounds. Highway Engineering and Construction Company of Washington, D.C., built the extension in two 
sections – first from 17th Street, SW, to the Lincoln Memorial and then from 14th Street, SW, to 17th Street. An overpass 
was constructed where eastbound lanes of independence Avenue passed over the westbound Maine Avenue lanes. 
Highway Engineering was awarded the construction contract in 1942, and all roadwork was complete by September 1943. 
The project necessitated the relocation of all but around twenty National Park Service greenhouses, shops, warehouses, 
storage garages, and offices at the propagating gardens west of 15th Street, SW. The completion of the Independence 
Avenue extension occurred in the same year as the dedication of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial on the south side of the 
Tidal Basin. Designed by John Russell Pope, the circular, marble memorial to George Washington’s secretary of state and 
the country’s third president fulfilled a McMillan Plan vision for a monumental building to terminate the north-south axis 
through the White House and across the monument grounds.105  

 
Development of the Monument and Grounds since World War II 

Mission 66 and Related Development 

Mission 66 was an NPS-wide effort to address park needs after years of deferred maintenance and to 
accommodate substantial increased visitation after World War II. The program received backing from President Dwight 
Eisenhower, and Congress first appropriated funding in 1956. NPS set the fiftieth anniversary of the agency ten years later 
as the program’s projected end date. All told, Congress appropriated more than a billion dollars for park projects across 
the country during that time, which NPS used to establish new parks, build or improve park roads, add visitor parking, 
upgrade interpretive facilities, expand historic preservation efforts, increase staffing and employee housing, and establish 
a wide variety of recreational facilities. Perhaps the signature feature of the program was the visitor center – a centralized 
facility to provide visitor services and interpretation and to control circulation. Centralizing these services near a park’s 
most important attractions was an attempt to restrict the footprint of built features and therefore limit their impact on a 
park’s natural or historic resources. 106 

Planners in NPS’s National Capital Parks (NCP) envisioned a few variations on  the Mission 66 visitor center for 
the parks under its jurisdiction, which included the Mall, the Washington Monument, East and West Potomac Parks, and 

                         
104 U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: Alice Pike Barney 
Studio House, March 30, 1995, 8:1-8:9; Col. William W. Harts, “Report upon the Improvement and Care of Public Buildings and 
Grounds, and upon the Care and Maintenance of the Washington Monument and of the Highway Bridge across the Potomac River, 
District of Columbia, and upon the Erection of Monuments, Memorials, etc., Washington, D.C.,” Annual Report of the Chief of 
Engineers, 1917, 3715; John Milner Associates, “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-20, 2-25, 4-20. The Studio House National Register 
Nomination reports that six chestnut trees had been planted at the back of the stage for acoustical purposes by the time the theater 
opened, but Harts’ annual report on the work does not mention these trees. The CLR notes their presence on a 1931 plan of the site. 
105 Scott G. Shultz, “The Development of the Historic Landscape of the Washington Monument Grounds and West Potomac Park,” 
prepared for the National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 1995, 17-22. 
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Rock Creek Park, among others. 107 One was a $176,000 visitor facility at the Washington Monument, intended to resolve 
multiple issues. Like nearly all the other NPS historic sites in Washington at this time, security personnel, rather than 
trained interpreters, manned the monument. Visitors gained their understanding of the historic importance of Washington 
and the monument from these guards. At the proposed visitor center, trained staff would perform interpretive duties. The 
building would also provide shelter for those waiting to enter the monument, as well as exhibits, concessions, and 
restrooms. Parking for 600 cars would be located nearby, to be used not only by those visiting the monument, but also by 
participants in the numerous civic events that took place on the monument grounds or in the vicinity, such as the Cherry 
Blossom Festival, Independence Day celebrations, and the Christmas Pageant of Peace. Planning documents listed only 
the purpose and anticipated cost of the projects it described. Details of the visitor center design, even its location, were not 
included, so little is known about NCP’s specific plans for the building. In any event, NPS planners at the national level did 
not approve the visitor center at the Washington Monument and it was never built.108 

The Mission 66 program, did, however, fund other projects at the monument. NCP also proposed replacement of 
the existing elevator and the floodlights that had illuminated the monument since 1931, as well as installation of aircraft 
warning lights on the world’s tallest freestanding stone structure. In 1958, much of this work was carried out. As a result of 
the changes to the elevator, visitors entered the elevator cab on the west to be transported to the observation (500-foot) 
level. (They had previously entered on the east.) On their return, they descended one flight of stairs to the 490-foot level, 
where they entered the elevator, and exited on the east when they reached the ground. This change in the circulation 
pattern required new framing and floor plates and an added stair at the 490-foot level. A total of eight red aircraft warning 
lights were also installed above the windows of the pyramidion, and the floodlights were replaced.109 

The Mission 66 plans also called for the elimination of the approach road to the monument from the east and the 
conversion of the circular drive at its base to a pedestrian walk. As part of the new pedestrian circle, new permanent 
flagpoles were proposed. A ring of flags at the monument’s base representing the forty-eight states had first been 
employed in 1920 in a celebration of George Washington’s birthday. After that time, the flags (on wood poles) were placed 
around the monument on a temporary basis for the Washington birthday celebrations and similar events. Preparations for 
a permanent flag display were made during 1957, and on February 22, 1958 – the 236th anniversary of Washington’s birth 
– forty-eight flags on permanently placed aluminum poles were displayed. A flag representing Alaska was added on the 
July 4, 1959, and one representing Hawaii a year later. Automobile access to the monument ended in 1960.110 

Regional planners also envisioned replacing the Sylvan Theater, using $100,000 in Mission 66 funding. While the 
theater was not replaced, a proscenium arch was added over the existing stage. Other work that took place during the 
Mission 66 era (although not necessarily funded through the program) included improvements to the concession stand on 
the west side of Monument Lodge. First planned in 1948, the concessions operation was expanded in 1955, adding a 
larger canopy and a fenced eating area. In fiscal year 1963-1964, a cinder block, shed-roof addition replaced the earlier 
concession stand. Workers cleaned the monument exterior and repaired damaged stones and joints in 1964, using rigging 
rather than scaffolding to perform their work. The World War II temporary buildings that filled the west side of the 
monument grounds along 17th Street were also removed in 1964. Two information kiosks were constructed on the 

                                                                                           
106 Ethan Carr, Mission 66: Modernism and the Park Dilemma (Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press, 2007), 142-197; Sarah 
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monument grounds in 1966, one north of the Monument Lodge and one near the parking area entered from 16th Street. 
Two groves of Yoshino cherry trees were also planted in 1966, one on either side of the parking area.111 

Two other mid-1960s planning efforts proposed changes at the Washington Monument, but altered the monument 
and grounds only in minor ways. “The Washington Mall Master Plan,” by Skidmore, Owings & Merrill (SOM), was the first 
comprehensive plan for the National Mall since before World War II. Proposed in 1966 under NPS contract, the plan 
proposed to remove automobiles from the National Mall by tunneling north-south streets under the park or terminating 
them at Constitution and Independence avenues, turning the east-west roads within the Mall into pedestrian pathways, 
providing satellite parking and shuttle bus transportation, and instituting an internal sightseeing vehicle route distinct from 
pedestrian traffic.  Within the automobile-free zone, new amenities, such as visitor centers, bandstands, and kiosks and 
pavilions for concessions, would be created. The signal alteration at the monument would be a “Grand Overlook Terrace” 
located on the 14th Street cross axis to emphasize the view of the Washington Monument and its grounds. The most 
prominent projects accomplished under the SOM plan were the creation of Constitution Gardens and the Capitol 
Reflecting Pool and the institution of the Tourmobile service to transport visitors to various locations on the National Mall. 
An existing kiosk along Jefferson Drive between 14th and 15th streets was built at this time to sell Tourmobile tickets. Many 
other aspects of the proposal, including the overlook terrace at the Washington Monument, were, however, never built.112 

Lady Bird Johnson chose the “field of conservation and beautification” as one of the areas in which she wished to 
become involved during the presidential administration of her husband, Lyndon Baines Johnson.  She convened the first 
meeting of the “Committee for a More Beautiful Capital” at the White House on February 11, 1965, to determine ways to 
improve the city’s appearance and to make it a model that other cities in the United States could emulate. In 1966, a 
“Beautification Task Force” was created in National Capital Region (NCR) headquarters, which planned and designed the 
work that would be carried out. 113 The task force and the committee accomplished a tremendous amount of work in the 
four-year period (1965-1969) of the program’s existence. Among the most visible outcomes were the floral displays and 
permanent plantings established in many NCR parks. These included hundreds of thousands of daffodil bulbs in Rock 
Creek and Potomac Parkway and on Columbia Island. One of the unusual and permanent floral installations resulting from 
the committee’s work was the “Tulip Library” on the monument grounds south of Independence Avenue near the Tidal 
Basin, where a brochure provided visitors with the names of the varieties of flowers they saw. Established in 1968 on a 
half-acre plot, the area quickly became a seasonal garden, with tulips, annuals, and chrysanthemums succeeding each 
other as the year progressed. The variety of flowers planted in the area led to its being renamed the Floral Library.114 

 
Preparations for the Bicentennial 

An anticipated increase in the number of visitors to the Nation’s Capital to celebrate the Bicentennial of the 
American Revolution in 1976 also resulted in substantial funding of park improvements in Washington, including the 
Washington Monument. Edwin C. Bearss, a longtime NPS historian who became the chief of the History Division in 1981, 
likened the park development that took place in anticipation of the Bicentennial to the 1930s work by the Civilian 
Conservation Corps and to the Mission 66 program, although the Bicentennial work affected fewer parks than either of the 

                         
111 “National Capital Parks Preliminary Prospectus,” 33; John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” ES-11, 2-25; John 
Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume I, Washington 
Monument, 3-15 – 3-17; John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” 
Volume II, Monument Lodge, 2-6; “Cultural Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 49. 
The concessions addition was removed when the Monument Lodge was restored in 2005-2006. 
112 Skidmore, Owings & Merrill, “The Washington Mall Master Plan,” prepared for the National Park Service, January 1966, 1-7, 10-
14; John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” 3-19. 
113 In 1962, National Capital Parks were organized as a National Park Service region, which later became known as the National 
Capital Region (NCR). The region also included federal parkland in suburban Maryland and Virginia. See Robinson & Associates, Inc., 
“National Park Service, National Capital Region Administrative History, 1952-2005,” prepared for the National Park Service, 
Department of the Interior, 2008, 17-20. 
114 Robinson & Associates, Inc., “National Park Service, National Capital Region Administrative History, 1952-2005.” Prepared for the 
National Park Service, Department of the Interior, 2008, 99-101. 
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earlier programs. Still, $100 million was spent on infrastructure, preservation, and visitor services construction at twenty-
two parks between July 1, 1973, and June 30, 1976.115 

As part of the Bicentennial preparations, substantial work was carried out on the interior of the monument between 
1974 and 1976. At the entrance, new granite flooring replaced the existing floor, and revolving doors (installed in 1972) 
were removed in favor of glass double doors in aluminum framing. The entrance passage walls were surfaced with 4-inch-
thick marble slabs. New marble seats were installed on the south side of the elevator lobby, and the lobby’s plaster ceiling 
replaced with a suspended acoustic ceiling. On the east, at the elevator threshold, an open space in the floor was closed 
with reinforced concrete and a suspended ceiling installed above. NPS also improved the finishes at the upper levels. Both 
the 490- and 500-foot levels received new marble chip floors. At the 490-foot level, glass panels held in aluminum frames 
were laid against the walls and a suspended acoustical ceiling like that of the entrance lobby was hung. Bullet-proof glass 
was installed in the eight windows of the pyramidion and the shutters removed. NPS also ended the public use of the stairs 
in the monument at this time, after having limited its use to down traffic in 1971. Restoration of the lightning rods on the 
pyramidion and repointing of the exterior masonry was also included in the Bicentennial work.116  

The Sylvan Theater received considerable attention at this time. The theater itself underwent a substantial 
overhaul.  The proscenium arch was replaced and the stage enlarged to its current size. In addition, four auxiliary metal 
structures were built. Two were dressing rooms, located on either side of the stage. The other two buildings, located at the 
rear of the stage, provided electrical power and storage. Architect Ben Biderman designed the oval exposed-aggregate 
comfort station, approximately 30 feet across, that was built near the theater. A temporary theater building, known as the 
Kodak Theater, was also built between the Sylvan Theater and the Monument Lodge. The Kodak Theater operated 
between April and October, showing a short film on the life of George Washington, before being removed.117 

 
Improvements since the Bicentennial 

The German-American Friendship Garden also resulted from a centennial observance, in this case the three-
hundredth anniversary of the founding of Germantown, Pennsylvania, in 1683, marking the beginning of German 
immigration to what would become the United States. Planning for the garden began in 1983, but work did not begin until 
1987. The land at the entrance to the 16th Street parking lot was set aside for the garden, which was designed by Oehme 
van Sweden and Associates. The design featured identical planted areas flanking a central lawn. Each garden focused on 
a circular terrace with a fountain and benches. The vegetation of the gardens consisted of perennials and small flowering 
trees native to Germany and the United States. The project was completed in 1988.118 

In 1989, an extensive rehabilitation program began at the Survey Lodge/Boiler House to repair termite damage, 
modernize the building’s interior, and to restore missing features. While the modernization replaced the existing wood 
floors with concrete and installed modern finishes, the work also included reconstruction of the original cupola and 
installation of a new slate roof over the original iron-truss structure. The cupola and original slate roof had been removed in 
1932. The work was completed by early 1993.119  

Alterations at the Washington Monument in 1992 and 1993 reversed some of the Bicentennial improvements in 
the elevator lobby and restored some original features. Bicentennial alterations such as the acoustic ceiling, the new 
marble finish of the entrance passage, and the aluminum-framed glass doors were removed. Repairs were made to the 
                         
115 Merrill J. Mattes, “Landmarks of Liberty: A Report on the American Revolution Bicentennial Development Program of the National 
Park Service” (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, History Division, 1989),  National Park 
Service website, http://www.cr.nps.gov/history/hisnps/NPShistory.htm, v, 1-4.   
116 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume I, Washington 
Monument, 3-18. 
117 John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” ES-11, 2-27;“Cultural Landscapes Inventory: Washington Monument 
Grounds, Washington Monument,” 49. 
118 John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-27, n. 223, 2-40; “Cultural Landscapes Inventory:  Washington 
Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 50. 
119 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume III, Survey 
Lodge, 3-5. 
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original passage walls. Frameless glass doors with a glass transom were installed at the end of the passage. The marble 
wainscot and mosaic floors were also restored. New work included new bronze doors and a limestone surround for the 
elevator that emulated Mills’ design for the exterior doors, and bronze inscriptions, swags, and a bas relief plaque on the 
walls. A reproduction of Jean-Antoine Houdon’s eighteenth-century statue of Washington was installed in the chamber 
west of the elevator lobby at this time. 

A three-year program of improvements to the monument began in 1997. Alterations to the elevator allowed visitors 
to view memorial stones on three levels as the elevator car descended. The work required removal of railings and 
protective wire screens and the installation of glass panels at the three levels, and NPS instituted a conservation program 
on the memorial stones. After the elevator changes were complete, the 490- and 500-foot levels were remodeled, with new 
terrazzo floors and new protective glass panels in metal frames on the walls. New exhibits were also displayed.  

A campaign to clean and repair the exterior of the monument began in 1998. Michael Graves designed the 
aluminum scaffolding for the work, which featured a mesh covering marked to resemble ashlar stone. Six hundred thirty 
lights illuminated the mesh covering from the inside. NPS closed the monument to the public while the scaffolding was 
erected, between October 5, 1998, and February 22, 1999, but it remained open when the exterior cleaning and repairs 
commenced. The 1997-2000 work also altered vehicular circulation on the east side of the monument. In 1997, Fifteenth 
Street and Madison and Jefferson drives between 14th and 15th streets were all realigned to their current symmetrical 
arrangement, with 15th Street bowing around the Monument Lodge and the two drives running diagonally toward the lodge. 
New Twin Twenty and Washington Globe streetlights and new sidewalks accompanied the realignment of the streets.120  

In August 1998, the National Park Service installed two rings of concrete Jersey barriers around the base of the 
monument in response to bombings of the United States embassies in Kenya and Tanzania. The attacks on the World 
Trade Center and the Pentagon on September 11, 2001, created a deeper involvement in security issues on the National 
Mall, including the Washington Monument. Senior leadership in the Department of the Interior, including Secretary of the 
Interior Gale Norton and National Park Service Director Fran Mainella, concluded immediately after the attacks to increase 
security at several NPS units across the country, including the major monuments and memorials in Washington.  The 
Washington Monument was one of the NPS memorials in the city closed for a period of time after September 11 for 
security reasons. NPS also instituted visitor screening at the monument in a temporary building attached to its east      
face.121 

In subsequent years, the National Park Service and other federal agencies began to consider how best to face the 
terrorist threat to the National Mall’s museums, galleries, offices, monuments, and visitors. In October 2002, the National 
Capital Planning Commission (NCPC) released “The National Capital Urban Design and Security Plan,” a document that 
offered a framework and strategy to improve security in the monumental core and downtown. The plan was developed in 
cooperation with federal and city agencies that included NCPC, the Commission of Fine Arts (CFA), the Advisory Council 
on Historic Preservation, the General Services Administration, the National Park Service, the Secret Service, the offices of 
the District of Columbia mayor and city council, and others. In general, the permanent measures envisioned in the plan 
mirrored but refined the temporary ones already implemented. The design of the most visible aspects of the permanent 
security features (bollards, post-and-rail fencing, low walls, site features such as lamp posts and benches) were intended 
under the plan to be compatible with the architecture of the building the barriers protected and remain as “transparent” as 
possible. Achieving a measure of transparency for the added security construction at some of the more visible and 
significant National Mall sites called for solutions beyond bollards and fencing. This was an especially important issue for 
those properties associated with the Mall axes. 122  

                         
120 John Milner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument and Associated Structures Historic Structure Report,” Volume I, Washington 
Monument, 3-16, 3-21, 4-15; John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-29; “Cultural Landscapes Inventory:  
Washington Monument Grounds, Washington Monument,” 51-52. 
121 Janet A. McDonnell, The National Park Service: Responding to the September 11 Terrorist Attacks (Washington, D.C.: U.S. 
Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National Center for Cultural Resources, 2004), 2-18, 90. 
122 U.S. Government Accountability Office, National Mall: Steps Identified by Stakeholders Facility Design and Approval of Security 
Enhancements, GAO-05-518, June 2005, 12-22.  
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At the Washington Monument, in 2002, the Olin Partnership designed the main security feature – 30-inch-high 
rose-colored granite walls that also functioned as retaining walls along the walks. The interlocking concentric barrier rings 
created a 400-foot perimeter around the monument, preventing approach by motor vehicles. Because the level of the 
ground was raised on the inside of the perimeter, the security features, while visible, read as a part of the landscape, 
rather than a vertical barrier between visitors and the monument. In addition, the work reconfigured existing pedestrian 
paths to enhance the new walls’ elliptical shape and established a stone plaza with built-in modern benches at the base of 
the monument.  Both the current shape of the knoll and the current plaza around the monument were created as part of 
these security and landscape improvements.  Although it employs different materials, the new plaza retained the extent of 
the paved surface surrounding the monument that was established by the end of the nineteenth century.  After closing in 
September 2004 for the extensive landscape redesign, the Washington Monument officially reopened July 4, 2005. The 
Olin Partnership’s initial planning for security at the monument also included an underground visitor facility entered through 
the Monument Lodge, and a tunnel to the monument itself. Although the idea received conceptual approval from planning 
agencies, it failed to win public support or congressional funding and was ultimately abandoned. The temporary security 
screening structure at the base of the monument, constructed in 2001, remained in place. The Monument Lodge was 
restored after the completion of the Olin landscape and security improvements. The work removed the 1963-1964 cinder 
block concessions addition and added a paved terrace to the west.123 

At about the same time as the alterations to the monument grounds and the Monument Lodge, a temporary visitor 
services building consisting of a steel structure with a blue cloth roof was built northeast of the monument along Madison 
Drive between 14th and 15th streets. Donated by Discovery Communications, the $2 million facility included four galleries 
that provided information about George Washington, the city of Washington, the history of the monument, and the 
monument grounds as a public gathering space. The facility was removed when construction on the National Museum of 
African American History began.124 

 
The National Museum of African American History and Culture 

In the last two decades of the twentieth century, the desirability of the National Mall as a location for 
commemorative works and museums, as well as the controversy associated with a few of the projects, raised concerns 
over the potential for an overload of such construction in the monumental core. Congress and federal planning agencies 
responded to these concerns with legislation and planning proposals.  The 1986 Commemorative Works Act established 
the National Capital Memorial Commission (NCMC) to oversee future commemorative projects in Washington, and ten 
years later the National Capital Planning Commission (NCPC) formed a Memorials Task Force. The memorial commission 
and the task force then combined resources with the U.S. Commission of Fine Arts to study the problem. The resulting 
Joint Task Force on Memorials issued, in December 2001, the Memorials and Museums Master Plan at the request of 
Congress. The document identified one hundred potential sites for new monuments and museums, the vast majority 
located away from the National Mall. The Joint Task Force also worked with congressional staff to draft language to 
amend the Commemorative Works Act to further limit new construction on the National Mall. Signed into law on November 
17, 2003, the “Commemorative Works Clarification and Revision Act,” among other actions, created a “Reserve,” which 
included Union Square, the Mall greensward, the Washington Monument Grounds, the White House Grounds and 
President’s Park South, and almost all of West Potomac Park. The legislation concluded that the Reserve was “a 

                         
123 John Milner Associates, Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-30 – 2-31; Cultural Landscapes Inventory:  Washington Monument 
Grounds, Washington Monument,” 54; American Society of Landscape Architects, “Monumental Security.” LAND online: Landscape 
Architecture News Digest 10 April 2006, http://www.asla.org/land/2006/0410/olin.html; Vernon Mays, “Invisible Barriers,” 
Landscape Architecture September 2002, American Society of Landscape Architecture online archive 
http://www.asla.org/lamag/lam02/september02/feature1.html. 
124 John Milner Associates,  Inc., “Cultural Landscape Report,” ES-13; “Cultural Landscapes Inventory:  Washington Monument 
Grounds, Washington Monument,” 52, 54. Citing the Cultural Landscapes Inventory, the Cultural Landscape Report states that the 
temporary structure went up in 2004. The CLI, however, lists the construction date as both 1999 and 2004. 
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substantially complete work of civic art” and prohibited future memorial construction in “the great cross-axis of the Mall,.” 
with the exception of those memorials already approved.125  

The Memorials and Museums Master Plan addressed the potential locations of future museums, but it 
acknowledged that no legislation existed comparable to the Commemorative Works Act to govern their placement.  
Instead, enabling legislation specified the museum location or left the decision to the museum’s governing board. An 
example is the Smithsonian Institution’s National Museum of African American History and Culture (NMAAHC), which, at 
the time of this nomination, was under construction on a site bounded by Constitution Avenue, 14th Street, Madison Drive, 
and 15th Street. The public law authorizing construction of the museum, signed by President George W. Bush on 
December 16, 2003, gave the Smithsonian’s Board of Regents the power to choose a site among four possibilities. The 
choices included two locations on the National Mall (the chosen site and the Smithsonian’s Arts and Industries Building). 
The regents chose the prominent 5.3-acre location on the monument grounds on January 30, 2006. The National Park 
Service transferred administrative jurisdiction over the site to the Smithsonian on June 1, 2007. Detailed studies of the 
location and its relation to the museums to the east, the Mall centerline, the Washington Monument, and the Federal 
Triangle buildings informed the design by David Adjaye and the partnership of Freelon Adjaye Bond/Smith Group.126  

The development of the NMAAHC also affected the implementation of the planting plan for the monument grounds 
developed by the Olin Partnership in 2002, as did the construction of a portion of an upgraded flood control levee for West 
Potomac Park and downtown Washington. The Olin plan envisioned the addition of more than 700 trees to the grounds, 
especially cherry trees. Partially implemented during the 2004-05 landscape and security improvements, the number of 
trees was reduced to just over 600 to accommodate the construction of the museum and the levee. The additional trees 
are being planted in association with the NMAAHC construction. 127 

 
Earthquake Damage and Repairs 

At approximately two o’clock in the afternoon on August 23, 2011, a 5.8 magnitude earthquake shook the earth 
150 miles around its epicenter near Mineral, Virginia. Several aftershocks followed the initial quake. The geology of the 
east coast of the United States allows for earthquakes to be felt across a greater distance than quakes of similar 
magnitude in the west. The U.S. Geological Survey reported that the August 23, 2011, event was, geographically, the most 
widely felt earthquake in United States history, causing damage in, among other places, Washington, D.C., more than 80 
miles away from the epicenter. Earthquakes on the east coast can be more damaging than those in the west because 
eastern buildings are often older and were not designed to withstand strong quakes. At the Washington Monument, the 
seismic action broke and cracked some marble blocks, shook mortar from joints between stones, damaged the lightning 
protection system, and bent the elevator counterweight rods. One of the marble pyramidion panels sustained a 1-inch-
wide, 4-feet 4-inch vertical crack all the way through its 7-inch thickness. Pieces of stone also fell in the interior of the 

                         
125 National Capital Planning Commission, “Joint Task Force on Memorials Report, Memorials and Museums Master Plan, December 
2001, 2-7, National Capital Planning Commission website, 
http://www.ncpc.gov/DocumentDepot/Publications/2MPlan/MemorialsandMuseumsMasterPlan_PartOne.pdf, accessed October 
23, 2013; An Act to authorize the design and construction of a visitor center for the Vietnam Veterans Memorial, Public Law 108-126, 
U.S. Statutes at Large 117 Stat. 1349, November 17, 2003. The Commemorative Works Clarification act constituted Title II of the 
legislation.  
126 117 Stat. 2676; Jacqueline Trescott, “Mall Site Is Chosen for Black History Museum,” Washington Post, January 31, 2006, 
Washington Post website, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/01/30/ AR2006013001562.html, accessed 
May 19, 2014. 
127 John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” ES-13; U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service.  “Cultural 
Landscape Inventory: National Mall and Memorial Parks, Constitution Gardens,” 2008, 68-69. The largest part of the levee runs 
parallel to the Reflecting Pool at the Lincoln Memorial. To provide more reliable flood protection to a portion of the monumental 
core and downtown Washington, D.C. and to meet U.S. Army Corps of Engineers standards, the flood protection system at the east 
end of the levee (which had consisted of sandbags, moveable concrete barriers, and soil) was replaced with a movable post and 
panel closure system across 17th Street in conjunction with flanking permanent masonry barriers. One of these barriers stands on the 
Monument Grounds. The work was completed in 2014. 

http://www.ncpc.gov/DocumentDepot/Publications/2MPlan/MemorialsandMuseumsMasterPlan_PartOne.pdf
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monument, and cracks occurred in some of the haunches that support the ribs of the pyramidion and in some beams that 
tie into the pyramidion ribs. Although never considered structurally unsound, the monument was immediately closed as a 
result of the damage, most of which took place above the 450-foot level. Exterior repairs consisted of securing loose 
stones, sealing cracks, stone and mortar patching, repointing joints, and removing and reinstalling the lightning protection 
system. The Washington Monument reopened to the public on May 12, 2014.128 

 
The Washington Monument and Grounds as Public Gathering Space and Political Forum 

 The symbolic value of the Washington Monument was recognized even as the structure was being built. Fourth of 
July fireworks displays on the grounds of the national memorial to the victorious commander in the American Revolution 
and the country’s first president began in the 1850s. They were televised for the first time in 1947, and the practice of 
celebrating the founding of the United States with fireworks illuminating the sky above the Washington Monument 
continues to the present day. Other patriotic events of national importance have also been staged on the monument 
grounds. The Grand Army of the Republic, a fraternal organization of veterans of all the branches of the United States 
military who had served during the Civil War, commemorated the country’s reunification by holding their annual national 
encampment on the monument grounds in 1892 and 1902. A large war-bond rally took place there in September 1943, 
and 250,000 people attended the “Cavalcade of Freedom” on July 4, 1944. The end of World War II brought additional 
celebrations to the grounds a year later 129  

The Washington Monument and Grounds has also for many years been the chosen venue for celebrations of 
nationally significant events and anniversaries, as well as other special events of a celebratory, cultural, or educational 
nature. Fourth of July celebrations at the monument, which began in the 1850s, now draw as many as 500,000 visitors 
each year. The presidential inauguration occurs every four years on the west lawn of the Capitol, and the adjacent Mall 
and monument grounds offer citizens the space from which to participate in this ritual of American government. 130 

The use of the monument grounds as a venue for the exercise of the freedoms of speech, assembly, and 
government petition granted by the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution did not properly begin until the twentieth 
century.  Early political demonstrations in Washington’s public spaces took place at the seats of power. “Coxey’s Army,” 
for instance, composed of five hundred unemployed men led by stone quarry owner Jacob Coxey, traveled from Ohio to 
Washington to petition Congress for relief in the summer of 1894. The National Women’s Party aimed at securing the right 
to vote for women by marching from the Capitol to the White House the day before Woodrow Wilson’s inauguration as 
president in 1913 and picketed the White House in 1917. These and other demonstrations took place in locations where 
decisions about national policy were made by elected officials. Exercise of the rights of assembly and free speech at a 
purely symbolic location can be said to have begun with a concert by renowned mezzo-soprano Marian Anderson at the 
Lincoln Memorial on Easter Sunday in 1939.  African American civic leaders, officers of the National Association for the 
Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), and Anderson’s managers planned the concert as a protest against 
segregation after the Daughters of the American Revolution and the District of Columbia Board of Education refused on 
racial grounds to allow her to sing at Constitution Hall or a local high school. Realizing the symbolic value of the Lincoln 
Memorial as an alternative venue for the concert, the organizers sought and received permission to hold the concert there 
from Secretary of the Interior Harold L. Ickes, who cleared the plan with President Roosevelt.131    

After Anderson’s concert, the National Mall continued to be the venue for public assemblies on important national 
issues, especially civil rights. One of the most successful of these demonstrations took place on August 28, 1963. Known 
as the March on Washington for Jobs and Freedom, it was organized by a coalition of civil rights groups including the 
                         
128 Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc., “Washington Monument Post-Earthquake Assessment,” prepared for the National Park 
Service, n.d., 1-3, 12-25; John Milner Associates,  Inc.,“Cultural Landscape Report,” Foreword. 
129 U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, National Capital Region, “A History of Recreation in East and West 
Potomac Parks” (draft), April 2008, 47-48; John Milner Associates,  Inc., “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-16, 2-23, 2-29. 
130 “Final National Mall Plan Environmental Impact Statement,” vol. 1, 319-321. 
131 Lucy G. Barber, Marching on Washington: The Forging of an American Political Tradition (Berkeley, California: University of 
California Press, 2004), 11-40, 54-74, 89-97; Scott A. Sandage, “A Marble House Divided: The Lincoln Memorial, the Civil Rights 
Movement, and the Politics of Memory, 1939-1963,” Journal of American History 80 (June 1993), 135-145.  
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National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, the National Urban League, the Southern Christian 
Leadership Conference, the Congress of Racial Equality, and the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee. The 
demonstrators organized on the Washington Monument grounds in view of the White House, where they were entertained 
by folk singers such as Joan Baez, Bob Dylan, and Peter, Paul, and Mary. (Historical Figure 7) The estimated 250,000 
demonstrators then marched from the monument grounds down Constitution and Independence avenues to the Lincoln 
Memorial and the Reflecting Pool. The monuments to Washington and Lincoln became the backdrops for music and 
speeches. Millions of Americans watched the event on television.  Martin Luther King, Jr.’s now famous “I Have a Dream” 
speech proved to be one of the most inspiring moments of the day’s events.  After the demonstration, several of its 
leaders, including King, met with President John F. Kennedy at the White House, who used the occasion to rally support 
for his civil rights legislation.132 

The positive reception of the 1963 march generated additional demonstrations on nationally important issues on 
the National Mall, including some on the monument grounds. On November 15, 1969, the Peace Moratorium drew 
250,000 people to the monument grounds to protest the war in Vietnam, one of several such demonstrations across the 
country. In 1971, three large protests against the Vietnam War were planned for the National Mall. The National Peace 
Coalition March against the War, on April 24, consisted of a march on Pennsylvania Avenue to the White House, followed 
by an evening rock concert on the monument grounds. As a crowd of about 4,000 people gathered at the monument, 
however, some participants began to remove flags from the flagpoles around the plaza, sparking a confrontation with U.S. 
Park Police and additional vandalism. At protests against the war in Washington on May 3-5, approximately 20,000 
demonstrators attempted to disrupt the city’s normal routine. Bicycle racks and wooden barricades at the Lincoln 
Memorial, for instance, were used to block traffic crossing Memorial Bridge.  More than 10,000 police, soldiers, and 
national guardsmen responded to the situation, and helicopters landed marines on the Washington Monument Grounds.133   

Other issues of national significance have been debated on the monument grounds, and most of these 
demonstrations have been peaceful. Earth Day, for instance, is an annual, worldwide day of environmental activism 
founded by Senator Gaylord Nelson of Wisconsin. The first Earth Day, which took place across the country on April 22, 
1970, included both the celebration of the natural world and demonstrations against pollution and environmental 
degradation of all kinds. In Washington, the Washington Area Environmental Coalition sponsored a march that began at 
21st Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W., and passed the Department of the Interior Building on its way to the Sylvan 
Theater. Approximately 1,700 college students and school children participated in the march. The program at the Sylvan 
Theater included a speech by Maine Senator Edmund Muskie and songs by folk singer Pete Seeger. Earth Day activities 
have frequently taken place on the National Mall since that time.134 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

                         
132 Barber, 145-161. 
133 John Milner Associates,  Inc., “Cultural Landscape Report,” 2-30; Barber, 202-210. 
134 Robinson & Associates, Inc., “National Park Service, National Capital Region Administrative History, 1952-2005.”145-146.  
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10.  Geographical Data                                                               

 
Acreage of Property  106 acres 
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage.) 

 
Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 

The boundaries of the Washington Monument and Grounds are unchanged since the 1981 National Register 
documentation. Beginning at the southwest corner of Constitution Avenue and 14th Street, NW, thence southerly along the 
western side of 14th Street to its intersection with Independence Avenue, thence westerly along the north side of 
Independence Avenue to its intersection with 15th Street, thence southerly along the west side of Raoul Wallenberg Place 
(15th Street) to the Tidal Basin, thence northwesterly along the wall of the Tidal Basin to its intersection with 17th Street, 
thence northerly along the east side of 17th Street to its intersection with Constitution Avenue, thence easterly along the 
south side of Constitution Avenue to the point of beginning. The Washington Monument and Grounds constitutes U.S. 
Reservation no. 2. 

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

The boundary of the Washington Monument and Grounds as used in this National Register nomination coincides with 
current U.S. Reservation no. 2 and reflects the evolution of the site over time. In 1848, the Washington National Monument 
Society, with President James K. Polk’s approval, chose what was then called Reservation no. 3 (bounded by the 
proposed line of 15th Street on the east and the Potomac River, Tiber Creek, and the Washington City Canal on the south, 
west, and north) as the site of the Washington Monument. Andrew Jackson Downing’s 1851 plan for the Mall and 
President’s Park, approved by President Millard Fillmore, altered the site, using the existing 14th Street as the eastern 
boundary and South B Street (now Independence Avenue) as part of the south boundary. The river, the creek, and the 
canal continued as the remaining south, west, and north boundaries. The creek and canal were filled in the 1870s, and B 
Street North (now Constitution Avenue) was established. B Street North then became the north boundary of the monument 
grounds. In 1894, the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds, an office in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers responsible 
for Washington’s parks, prepared a map of the reservations under its jurisdiction; the map designated the Monument 
grounds as Reservation no. 2. With the reclamation of the Potomac Flats in the last two decades of the nineteenth century, 
the south and west boundaries of Reservation no. 2 changed. Construction of the Tidal Basin seawalls was completed in 
1896, and 17th Street was extended south of what is now Constitution Avenue to the basin at the beginning of the twentieth 
century. In 1901, the reclaimed land between the Tidal Basin and the original monument grounds east of 17th Street was 
transferred to the Office of Public Buildings and Grounds and referred to as the “Monument Park Annex.” The public 
grounds bounded by 14th Street on the east, Independence Avenue and the Tidal Basin on the south, 17th Street on the 
west, and Constitution Avenue on the north have comprised the Washington Monument Grounds since that time. 

Longitude and Latitude Coordinates 
 
A. 38.891959, -77.039296 
B. 38.891916, -77.032144 
C. 38.887671, -77.032094 
D. 38.887986, -77.033683 
E. 38.883853, -77.033523 
F. 38.884908, -77.035033 
G. 38.884954, -77.036391 

H. 38.885983, -77.037038 
I. 38.886780, -77.038244 
J. 38.887089, -77.038231 
K. 38.887378, -77.037784 
L. 38.887846, -77.038899 
M. 38.888911, -77.039355 
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11. Form Prepared By  

name/title  Judith H. Robinson and Tim Kerr 

organization Robinson & Associates, Inc. date  June 24, 2016 

street & number  1909 Q Street, NW, Suite 300 telephone (202) 234-2333 

city or town   Washington state DC zip code 20009 

e-mail admin@robinson-inc.com 

 

 

Additional Documentation 

Submit the following items with the completed form: To follow in subsequent draft 
 

 Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.) 
 
Appendix A: Historical Figures 
 

 Maps:    
 
Appendix B: A map to which all photographs are keyed is included in Appendix B.  
 
Appendix C: A map showing contributing and noncontributing features. 

 
 

Photographs:  

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) 
or larger.  Key all photographs to the sketch map. 
 

 Appendix B: Photographs 
 
 
 Property Owner:  

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)  

name  

street & number   telephone   

city or town    state   zip code           
 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.). 
 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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APPENDIX A: HISTORICAL FIGURES 
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Historical Figure 1 – Peter (Pierre) Charles L’Enfant proposed an equestrian statue of George 
Washington at the intersection of axes through the President’s house and the Congress house (Capitol) – 
marked by the letter A – in his 1791 plan for Washington. North is at the top of the illustration. (Library of 
Congress) 
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Historical Figure 2 – The extent of original Reservation no. 3 can be seen in this 1846 map of 
Washington. North is at the top of the illustration. (Library of Congress) 
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Historical Figure 3 – Robert Mills’s original design for the Washington Monument included a classical 
colonnade 250 feet in diameter surrounding the base of his memorial obelisk. (Library of Congress) 
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Historical Figure 4 – Andrew Jackson Downing’s 1851 plan for Washington’s “Public Grounds” included 
curving roads and picturesque groupings of trees in “Monument Park,” which extended from 14th Street to 
the Potomac River. In Downing’s plan, south is at the top, and the Washington Monument and Grounds at 
the upper right. (National Archives) 
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Historical Figure 5 – Albert Boschke’s 1857 map of Washington shows landscaping based on Downing’s 
design at the Smithsonian Institution and at the White House, but not elsewhere on the Mall. North is at 
the top of the illustration. (Library of Congress) 
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Historical Figure 6 – In the early twentieth century, as shown in this circa 1920 photograph, recreational 
facilities had been built on the monument grounds along 17th Street, leaving the monument isolated on its 
grassy knoll. (Library of Congress) 
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Historical Figure 7 – An estimated 250,000 people participated in the March on Washington for Jobs and 
Freedom on August 28, 1963. The demonstrators organized on the Washington Monument Grounds 
before marching to the Lincoln Memorial to hear speeches from civil rights leaders, including Martin 
Luther King, Jr. (Associated Press/Huffington Post) 
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PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
The photographs included in the nomination are organized starting with images depicting the primary 
vistas that contribute to the Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District. Following this series are 
photographs of a select number of contributing and noncontributing resources representing important 
features that define the character of the district.     
 
Name of Property:   Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
City or Vicinity:    Washington, D.C. 
Name of Photographer:   Martin Stupich  
Date of Photographs:   March and April 2016 
Location of Original Digital Files:  Smithsonian Institution 
Number of Photographs:  21 
 
Photo #1 (DC_WAMO_0001) 

View of Washington Monument along the north-south axis, view to the north 

 

Photo #2 (DC_WAMO_0002) 

View away from the Washington Monument on the east-west axis looking towards the Lincoln Memorial 

and the WWII Memorial, view to the west 

 

Photo #3 (DC_WAMO_0003) 

View from the Jefferson Pier along the north-south axis towards the White House, view to the north 

 

Photo #4 (DC_WAMO_0004) 

View from the Washington Monument along east-west axis, showing alignment with the Monument 

Lodge and the Capitol 

 

Photo #5 (DC_WAMO_0005) 

View of the Washington Monument Lodge showing south and east sides, view to northwest 

 

Photo #6 (DC_WAMO_0006) 

View of the Temporary Screening Building showing south and east sides 

 

Photo #7 (DC_WAMO_0007) 

View of the front of the Sylvan Theater looking to the south  

 

Photo #8 (DC_WAMO_0008) 

View of Independence Avenue to the south with Twin Twenty street lights 
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Photo #9 (DC_WAMO_0009) 

View of the Survey Lodge/Boiler House, looking west 

 

Photo #10 (DC_WAMO_0010) 

Flood Control Levee segment on the Monument Grounds, looking southwest 

  

Photo #11 (DC_WAMO_0011) 

View of the German American Friendship Garden, looking northeast 

 

Photo #12 (DC_WAMO_0012) 

View of the two Bulfinch Gateposts looking west 

 

Photo #13 (DC_WAMO_0013) 

View of 15th Street, looking south 

 

Photo #14 (DC_WAMO_0014) 

View of the refreshment kiosk at the edge of the Tidal Basin, looking south 

 

Photo #15 (DC_WAMO_0015) 

View of the Tidal Basin Parking Lot Corridor; view to the south 

 

Photo #16 (DC_WAMO_0016 

View of the pipe handrail along the Tidal Basin walk, looking southeast 

 

Photo #17 (DC_WAMO_0017) 

View of the Washington Monument knoll, looking northeast 

 

Photo #18 (DC_WAMO_0018) 

View of the plaza and ring of flagpoles surrounding the Washington Monument, looking east 

 

Photo #19 (DC_WAMO_0019) 

View of the pedestrian circulation system that includes site protection security wall, looking southwest 

 

Photo #20 (DC_WAMO_0020) 

View of the catalpa tree (historic associated feature) west of the Survey Lodge 

 

Photo #20 (DC_WAMO_0021) 

View of the mulberry tree (historic associated feature) southwest of the Washington Monument 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 1 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 2 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 3 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 4 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 5 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 6 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 7 of 21 
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Washington Monument and Grounds Historic District 
Washington, D.C.  
Photo 8 of 21 
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1.  General view of Washington Monument along the north-south axis, view to the north.

2.  Long view away from the Washington Monument on the east-west axis looking towards the Lincoln 
Memorial and the WWII Memorial, view to the west.

3.  General view from the Je�erson Pier along the north-south axis towards the White House, view to the north.

4.  Long view from the Washington Monument along the east-west axis, showing alignment with the 
Washington Monument Lodge and the Capitol.

5.  General view of the Monument Lodge showing south and east sides; view to the northwest.

6.  General view of the Temporary Screening Building showing south and east sides; view towards the 
northwest.

7.  View of the front of the Sylvan Theater looking to the south.

8.  View of Independence Avenue to the south with Twin Twenty street lights.

9.  General view of the Survey Lodge/Boiler House; southwest side; view to the northeast.

10.  17th Street Flood Control Levee segment looking southwest.

11.  General view of the German American Friendship Garden; view to the northeast.

12.  General view of the two Bul�nch Gateposts looking to the west.

13.  General view of 15th Street looking south.

14.  View to the refreshment Kiosk at the northern edge of the Tidal Basin; view to the southwest.

15.  General view of the Tidal Basin Parking Lot Corridor; view to the south.

16.  General view of the Tidal Basin Walk with its pipe handrail, view looking southeast.

17.  Long view of the Washington Monument knoll with the National Museum of African American History and 
Culture, under construction, in the background; view looking northeast.

18.  General view of the plaza and ring of �agpoles surrounding the Washington Monument; view looking east.

19.  General view of the pedestrian circulation system that includes site protection security walls; view looking 
southwest.

20.  View of the Catalpa tree south of the Survey Lodge and considered an historic associated feature in the 
landscape.

21.  View of the Mulberry tree located Southwest of the Washington Monument and considered an historic 
associated feature in the landscape.
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BUILDINGS

SITES

STRUCTURES

Comfort Station
Tourmobile Kiosk
Refreshment Kiosk
Monument Lodge
Survey Lodge/Boiler House
Temporary Screening Building

17th Street Wharf Archeological Site
Floral Library
German-American Friendship Garden
Monument Grounds Archeological Site
Sylvan Theatre
Washington City Canal Archeological Site
Washington Monument Grounds Cultural 
Landscape
Water Intake Archeological Site

15th Street, between Constitution and 
Independence Avenues
Raoul Wallenberg Place, SW (15th Street SW)
Bul�nch Gatepost
Bul�nch Gatepost
Flood Control Levee Segment
Independence Avenue Corridor (including 
Maine Avenue corridor)

National Museum of African American 
History and Culture Site 
(Under Construction) Contributing Resource

Noncontributing Resource

North

WASHINGTON MONUMENT AND GROUNDS HISTORIC DISTRICT NATIONAL REGISTER 
NOMINATION: CONTRIBUTING AND NONCONTRIBUTING RESOURCES MAP

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

7.
8.
9.

10.
11.
12.
13.

14.

15.

16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

STRUCTURES (CONT.)

OBJECTS

Je�erson Drive, SW
Madison Drive, NW
Monument Plaza
Pedestrian Circulation System
Survey Lodge Service Drive
Tidal Basin Parking Lot Corridor
Tidal Basin Walk (including pipe handrail)
Washington Monument

100th Anniversary Plaque
100th Anniversary Plaque
Benches at Site Perimeter (cast iron and wood slat)
Benches (concrete and wood slat, recycled plastic, 
stone)
Cobblestone Gutters Along Survey Lodge Service Drive
Elevation Obelisk
Je�erson Pier Marker
Ring of Aluminum Flagpoles
Twin Twenty Streetlights Along 15th Street, between 
Constitution and Independence Avenues
Twin Twenty Streetlights Along Independence and 
Maine Avenues
Washington Globe Streetlights Along Je�erson and 
Madison Drives
Washington Globe Streetlights Along Survey Lodge 
Service Drive
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Correspondence 
The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes 
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of 
Historic Places received associated with the property. 
Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of 
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the 
property. 
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Advisory 
Council On 

Historic 
Preservation

1522 K Street NW. 
Washington D.C. 
20005

FishMr. Manus J.
Director
National Capital Parks 
National Park Service 
U. S. Department of the Interior 
1100 Ohio Drive S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20540

Dear Mr. Fish:
The Advisory Council on Historic Preservation would appreciate 
a status report on the proposed rehabilitation of the Sylvan 
Theatre, an undertaking licensed by the National Park Service 
that may have an effect on the Mall and_the Wash2JigtanJlomm£nt, 
Washington, D.C., a property included in the National Register 
of Historic Places. Our last correspondence to you on this 
matter was dated March 31, 1976 (copy enclosed).

We appreciate your cooperation. 

Sincerely,

Myra F; Harrison
Assistant Director
Office of Review and Compliance

Enclosure



Advisory 

Council On 

ffistoric 

Preservation

^ .C.

1522 K Street NW. 
Washington D.C. 
20005

NOV 0 9 1978
Mr. Manus J. Fish
Regional Director
National Capital Parks
National Park Service
U.S. Department of the Interior
1100 Ohio Drive, SW.
Washington, D.C. 20024

Dear Mr. Fish;

We have been informed by Mr. Peter Smith that the installation 
of sprinklers on the grounds of the Washington Monument, an 
undertaking of the National Park Service, may have an effect 
on archeological resources on the Washington Monuments grounds, 
Washington, D.C., a property included in the Uacionai kegisret 
of Historic Places.wPi

oni
o
o

Please investigate this matter to determine whether the nature 
of the effect requires that you obtain the comments of the 
Council in accordance with section 106 of the National Historic 
Preservation Act of 1966 (16 U.S.C. 470f, as amended, 90 Stat. 
1320). Steps to determine this responsibility are set forth 
in section 800.4 of the Council’s "Procedures for the Protection 
of Historic and Cultural Properties" (36 CFR Part 800).

The Council requests that you report the results of your 
Investigation to this office at the earliest opportunity.
If you have further questions or require assistance, please 
call Ms. Amy Schlagel at 202-254-3967.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

ri
Myra F. Harrison 
Assistant Director 
Office of Review 

and Compliance
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1

Bfee Washington Monument at !‘^ashincton,D«C. 

ft. Significance: ^

This towering ^55-foot-^igh white marble cbelisk, built between 

18U8 and I881t with funds from public subscriptions and Federal 

appropriations and modelled after ancient Egyptian iTionuinents, coi.ime»iorates 

the achievements and unselfish devotion to public service of George 

Washington, Commander-in-Qiief of the Continental An?^'’ during the Viar 

for American Independence,17f5-1783, and the first ft*esident of the 

l&iited States under the Constitution, 1789-1797o Architectually, the

shaft is the most gra^doise and beaiitiful of the heroic-sized historical
1

memorials erected in the Ifriited States during the I9th centui^’-.

The construction of the first feet of the obelisk followed

a plan that was prepared by the noted architect Robert >S.lls and that

of the remaining two-thirds of the shaft was built on the basis of data

provided by the famous scd^.olar George Perkins Ilarsh. Superintendents of

.^nstiaiction of the Washington Ibnxxment were: Robert Hills, iSUS-ld^^, ana

lieutenant Colonel -homas Idncoln Casey, Corps of Engineers, U.S. kru^f

1878-188^ The cost of construction of the obelisk from 18U8 to 188U

was $ 1,187,710.31 and the total cost of construction of the monument
2

and improvei.ient of its grounds from 18U8 to 1888 was $ l,ii09,300. Cf 
about

this latter sum, $ 300,000 was provided by private contributions to the
Athe Washington National Monument Society and $ 1,109,300 by the 

appropriations of Congress. The V/ashington Ilaiument vras. first opened 

to visitors on October 9, 1888 and by March 7,1969, 30,000,000 visitoi^ 

had visited the top of the monument.
in the 19th century

1. For a checklist of thechief memoriala erecte(^,to. cqrjremorate historical 
events in the United States, see Appendi;; No. 1? The ’/ashington Monument
2. See Appendix No. 2 for Annual Cost of Construction of W^ashington
rfonument and also for Federal Appropriations. _ —---- --------------------

b waSx

5> the thii’d major monument to be constructed in the UJS,,being proceeded by 
the Washington Ifonument at Baltimore (1813-29) and the Etmker Hill Monument 
(l823-(:2).
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B» History of the Washington Jfonur.entp 1833- :

lo Early Efgorts to I'femorialize Geor^^e Washington,1763-1360:

3h recoginition of George WashAngon-*s great militaiy services

to his country during the V/ar- for- American ]haependence, 177^' to 1783» the

Continental Congress on August 7> 1783 resolved "that an equestrian statue

of General Washington be erected at the place where the residence of Congress

shall be establishedo" The statue vras to be of bronze and " the General[v;as ]
tc|\)e represented in a Romn dress, holding a truncheon in his right hand,

and his head encircled vfith a "laurel nTeath." To be inscribed on the

marble pedestal of the statue was the statement that this statue was

built " in honor of George V^ashington, the illustrious Commander in Chief

of theArnies of the United States of America during the war which vindicated

and secured t'aeir liberty, severeigntj", and independence." The "principal

events of the vrar in which General Washington coirjiEnded in person, viz: the

evacuation of Boston, the capture of the Hessians at Trenton, the battle of

Princeton, the action of Ilonmouth, and the suiu’ender of Tork[toim]" also
3

were to be represented*

]h accordance :riLth this resolution, the French eiigineer, llajoi* Charles 

Pierre LrEnfant, in 1791, provided a location for this statue in his plan 

for the new Federal city of Washington which x;as prepared under the immediate 

direction of President George Washington. It '.ra-s to stand on a reservation 

at the intersection of the lines west and south of the futur-e Capitol and 

the President's House. Ho action, however, ;ras taken in 1791 to actually 

erect the statue.

December 23,1799, eight daj'-s after the death of I.'ashington, U.S.

Representative John >brshall of Virginia, later the aistinguished Chief Justice

3* Tactfully, the Continental Congress did not include the great battles— at 
long Island, Foi't Washington, Brandjnrine, and Germantown— in vrhich General 

'Washington had also commanded but been defeated.



Q

of the United States, proposed "1^ at a marble inomunent be erected by 

the United States in the Capitol, at the cltj’’ of Washington, and tuat 

the family of General t^ashington be requested to permit his bocf l^e 

deposited under it*" No action was taken at that tiiiie*

On Itiy the Congi’ess reconnended that instead of the equestrian

statue conterrqDlated in the resolution of 1783 a " mausoleum of Ar.ierican 

granite and r,iarble5 in pyramidal form, one hundred feet square at the base 

and of a proporti&te height^ sho\xld be erected in Washington* Although the 

House of ^'Representatives on January’- 1,1001, passed a bill appropriating 

$ 200,000 for the construction of the proposed mausoleum, the Seaate did 

not concur and the plan cariie to naught*

Not until 1816 was the subject of a memoi-ial to Washington again 

seriously considered* In that year, as a result of the efforts of the State 

of Virginia to have tiie remains of T-fashington buried in P-ichnond, a Congressioni 1 

committee proposed that a tomb be placed in tlie foundations of the Capitol 

and that a monument be erected in his meiuOxy* Bushrod Washington, nephew 

of the Revolutionary Comraander—in-Chief and then proprietor of I-bixnt Vernon, 

refused to consent to the I’emoval of the remiains, because l-'ashington had 

expres^y requested that he be buried at Ifcunt Vernon* Congress therefore 

indefinitely jjostpone^consideration of the bill* In 1832, another Congressional 

request, vigorous]!;’- supported by Heray’- Clay,, the great V/hig leader, that the 

remains be brought to W’‘ashington for burial in the Capitol, i:as again refused, 

this time by John A* Washington, who had come into possession of Noixnt Vernon*

In 1832 a marble mausoleum was constmcted tmder the Capitol’s Rotunda 

as the last resting place for the bodies of both George and Ibrtha Washington, 

but this catafal^iue iias remained vacant from 1832 to this day*



!&i July 1832, the Congress next authorized the then large sun of $ ^,000 

for a marble statue of Fashington to be executed by " a suitable artist"
y

and displayed £n the Rotunda of the Capitol* Eoratio Greenoui^, a noted 

Boston sculptor then xrorking in Italy, v;on the ccwmissiono He worked on it 

for eight years* His neoclassio 2CUton statue portrayed Vhashiugton( teiice 

life size) in a Roman toga, seated, vd.th bare chest and loosely draped*

The Victorian public was rfiocked :;hen the statue vjus uiiveiled in the 

Rotiinda in I8UI* Kxe dignified general appeared, it was said as if " entering 

or leaving a bath*" Shortly after this Congress found it inappropriate 

for the Rotunda floor and it vras. removed to the grounds, ’..'here it suffered 

the whims of the ’.reather until 1908, 'vAien Congress finally transferred the 

statue to the Smithsonian Institution for preservation and exhibit*

In I8p3> Congress finally provided for the erection of an bronze 

equasti’ian statue of General V.'ashington in the Dist riot of Colurhia, 

appropriating-^' >0',C0O to carrjr out the Continental Congi'ess resolution

of 1783 « Clark Ihlls, an able young sculptor from Sjrracuse,N*Y*,

(J

had just cor^jleted tne celebi'ated statue of Andi-ew Jackson ;;hic;h still stands 

in lafayette Square in the national Capitol, -^j-as selected to undertake the 

work* Seven j^'ears later, the Hills s’batue was erected in Washington Cii'cle 

at the joint intersections of Pennsylvania and New Hairpshire Avenues T-dlth ” 

and Twenty-Third Streets, Northwest, and was unveiled on February’ 22,1860, 

wi-Ui impressaive cei’emonies in the presence of a distingiiished gathering*

The face of the statue was modeled from Houdon •& celebrated bust; of the Qfineral
tX'-' ‘■'J’ . '

and the revolution^uniforra( and not the Roman toga specified in the resolution
of 1783) vjas copied fr-oma ^evolutional^’ one kno^m to have been worn by

Washington*

Thus after a lapse of 87 years from the firit proposals to memorialize 

Washington in the District of Columbia, Congress had provided for the creation'



(3

of two statues and one empty tomb for this pm’pose#
2* The ^fashington national Monument Societ;^^ 1833**m76. ;

Following the failure of Henry Clay’s: efforts to secure Federal 

appropriations for a national monument in 1832, the Washington national

Monument Society was formed in the District of Colunhia by 2Cf interested
k

gentlemen in Septerher 1833 o The association was largely the result of
, F«>-r

the energetic efforts of George Watter^^n,^TibrariaN of Congress, and the 

membership included Colo George Bomford, Chief of Ordnance, Peter Force,

historian and archivist. Col, Janes Kearney^ of the Topographical F.nginears,

John Rogers of the UoS, llavy, several journalists, b;ankers, public officers, 

and businessmeno

CSiief Justice John Ma:* shall, then 78, was erected its first . -'..\presidento 

Upon his death two years later in 183^, former President Ja:.:es Madison was 

erected to succeed him. The Society's other first officers wei'S V.’iiiiam 

Cranch, Utiief Justice of the District Court, Fir st Vice President; Peter 

Force, Second Vice-President; Thomas Carberry, forraer ’hyor of R’ashington,
r

Third Vice-President; Samuel Harrison Smith, founder and^e ditor of the

National Intelligencer, Treasiirer; and George Watter^^, First Secretary,

During the period of Madison's leadership, the systematic collection 

of funds began. As the Society wished the enterprise to be really popular 

and national in scope, contributions were initially limited to one dollar a 

year from ai^' person.

1;, This Society was probabty modeled after the Bunker Hill Hontunent Association^ 
which had been founded by ijO interested gentlamen in 1823 to acquire and 
preserve the Bunker Hill Battlefield at Chailester.m,Mass,, and to erect a 
monument to commeraorate that event of Jiuie 17,177^o The Association had held 
an architectural contest for the design of the monuaent in 182^, Public fund 
drives were conducted throughout New England in 182|;^-26 and in the l83G's to 
raise the $ 156,000 necessary to erect the obelisk and irprove the grounds.
The Bun]:er Hill Ifonument was completed in 18^ • Except for $ 7^000 provided
by the State of Ifessachusette, the money camemfrom private contributions,

entirely
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Agents for the collection of conorilmtions nei'e appointed for each 

State and Territoiyo 3h addition to individual contributions, monc/ 

was oolite cted on fecial occasions at public gatheringSo The economc 

distress that spread crver the nation for several years after the 

Phnic of 1837, hovrever, greatl;^' interfered with the initial effoi’ts of

the Society to collect funds, and five years later, "by the end of 1838, 

only slightly nore tlian $ 30,000 had been raised*

Ifeaf^irhile, hovre^/er, in I836 the Society had advertised a coir^ietitncn 

for designs of the proposed monuniento Of those subnd-tted, that of Robert

Mills of South Carolina, architect of the recently’(1829) completed
6

Washington Monument in Baltimore, was chosen* "This design," Mills

explained," embraces the idea of a grand cdrcuOar colonnaded building,

2^0 feet in diameter and 100 feet high, from which swings an obelisk 

s^aft 70 feet [square 3 at the base and ^00 feet high, maldng a total elevation

of 600 feet* This vast rot\inda[ a circular Gi’eek temple],iorming the grand 

base of the Monument, surrounded by 30 columns of rs ssive proportions,
A

being 12 feet in diameter and U5 feet high, elevated upon on. lofty base*.* 

of 20 feet elevation and 300 feet square, surmounted by an entablature 

of 20 feet high and crovmed by a massive bB.lustrade 13' feet in height."

Above the roof pf the central portico -.ras to stand a colossal toga- 

arifld figure of Washington driving a battle chariot drawn by four 

Arabian steeds. Around the rotiinda, vdiich Mills called the "National 

Pantheon," were to be placed the statues of the 56 Signers of the

5i* The Bunker Hill Monument Association was also experiencing difficulties 
in rising funds. Two funds drives, one in 1633 and the other in l8l4.0,//'^l'*'^V^i>^ i 
collected a total of $ 72,000, enough to coup)lete. the Bunker Hill project 
in 18U2*
6. I€.Il3 had also entered the architectural corpetiteon for the design of 
the Bunker Hill Ifonument in 182^ and submitted a plan for an obelisk. No. 
prize, however, vs.s awarded and none of the entries Wei’s used in the actual 
design of the obelisk.
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Signers of the Declaration of Sidependence, Space was also allotted 

for statues of other leaders of the American Revolution and for paintings 

of battles and other scenes of that period,

Ih the center of the proposed monument provision ’.ras to be mde for 

a tomb of Washington, in order that his remains might be received should 

it ever be desired to buiy them in the national Capital, "A railway'*' x.-as 75 

transport visitors to an circular observatory 20 feet in diar.:eter to 

be located atop the square shaft. Mills estimated the cost or constructing 

his design at one million dollars.

With only $ 30,000 in hand, additional funds was the i.iost pressing 

problem of the Sociei^r. in 1839, therefore the original limitation of 

contributions to one dollar a person was terroorarilj’- removed so that the 

takers of the national census in I8ii0 could freelj^ sold.cit donations. 

Contributions, however, vrere still woefully , inadequate, and in ISI;^;' 

the Society definitely i-emoved the Irratation on gifts to one dollar.

In order to encourage donations, large numbers of lithogi-aphs of the proposed 

monument and of Gilbert Stuart »s portrait of V^ashjjigton in Faneuil Hall, 

Boston, were made for distribution to contributors, Entertainments, fairs, 

and social gatherings vrere held in mary commimities by groupp of interested 

women to augr,ient the funds raised by direct contribution. As a result of 

these efforts over a 2k year period, a grand total of about $ 87,000 vras 

gathered by I8U7,

The Societj” now believed that it had collected enough monej'' to 

begin construction, but it as yet had no site for the structure, in I838, 

and again in 1814;, Congress had discussed the proposal of the Societj'- that 

the Federal Government authorize the erection of the monument on public land 

in the City of Washington, but no action had been taken, in eari^' iBltO,
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the Congress passed a resolution authorizing the Vrashington National

Ifomjment Society to erect the proposed rionunent upon such portion of the

public grounds in the city of V/ashington as might be selected by the

President of the United States and by the Society* The site sejecrted

consisted! of 37 acres and ;ias the same site, ^'eservation No, 2, on which

l*finfant had! planned in 1791 to locate th e ecjuestrian s'oatue of

V/ashington that the Continental Congi'ess had voted to erect in 1703 at 
7

some future date* Soil tests, however, revealed that the intended site 

due south of the >/hite House and due west of the Capitol t-jss too marcher to 

support the weight of the raonuraent* A site about 100 feet to the southrest 

was chosen and this altered the rionument *s north-south ajlgmaent wi.th the 

White House and also its east-^rest alignment v/-ith the Capitol,

Despite the coppromise with the originjill;,' planned s:’::r.etry, the 

final site offered an excellent viev; of the Capitol and afforded ready 

access to building materials brought into the citj* by river barges on 

the Potomac or by the nevr Baltimore and Ohio Fwaili-oad, which entered trie 

city just 10 blocks from the site of the monument near H'th and B Street, 

South, The fine-grained white marble was to cone from quarry of Thoma.s 

SjTflington, loiown as the Beaver Dam Quarrs', in Baltdmore County, I!d,, The 

stone and sand vrere to come from nearb:y quairies in I-kryland and Virginia, 

3, Construction of the ^^ashington >bnument. First Phase, 18U8-1860;

Ch Julj' k,l8U8, Benjamin B, French, Grand Ilaster of the Washington,
Sj/vAv-

D*C, Masonic lodge, laid the corner stone. He used the^trowel Washington

had employed at the Capitol in 1793* The occasion was a national celebration

7, The deed granting the land to the Society vras executed April 12,l8ii.9 
and the site is described as Peservation No, 3.

o
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and between 15»,000 and 20,000 people were present* Robert C* ¥inthrop.

Speaker of the House of Representatives, delivered the two-^iour keynote 

address* Also in atteiidance were President James K* Polk, futxire Chief 

Executives, James Bunchana^/^Abraham Lincoln, and Andrew Johnson^ George 

Washington Parke Custis, the foster grandchild of George Washington, I-irs*

Alexander Hamilton, and It’s* Polley.IIadison were also present* Netr
A

attention was: focused upon the project by the cornerstone ceremony and

"give a penn;’" appeals went out to the Nation's. 3,000^000 school children.

These efforts raised the total of donations to about 0 230,000, a

substantial ®am but still far short of the ^timated $ 1,000,000 needed to

construct the 600 foot tall memorial*

In the interest of econoi^y, and shortly after the beginning of work,

the original height of the obelisk was reduced fi'om 600 to 300 feet, and
i.S“o Cert'

the construction of the 100 foot high and cii-cular "National rbnthGori'
A

was deferred to some future date. The original foimdation of the obelisk,

as constructed in loitS, was 80 feet square at the bed of the fq^dation,

and this bed was placed seven feet eight incties below t>^e general level of

the ground about the structure* The foundation >ra.s, 23 feet U inches

thick, and was ^8 feet 6 inches square at its top* It was built of
the rubbles tone

large nieces of bluestone gneis£ , }>ut in the masonry as ^

came from the quarry, the interstices between the masses bet.ng filled with

spawls and a mortar composed largely of pure lime and sand, ^e foundation
8

proj'ected 13 feet 8 inches above ground level*
Construction proceeded under the supervision of architect Robert JtLUs,

T^o was also ci’eating the U.S, Treasury, Fhtent Office, and Post Office

8* In 1878, engineers studying the foundation discovered that it was inadequate 

to support the projected height and weight of the monument. The foiindations 
therefore had to be modified and strengthened*



bvlildings in Washington during this periodo The ^aft of the obelisk

was coirmenced $$ feet I'i inches square at the base' • The walls were 1$ feet 

thick and faced with large-grained white marble, in blocks of two 

height and from to 18 inches in thickness. The marble was sawed vdithout 

reference to the quarry bed, and rubbed smooth. The marble face was backed 

by walls of blue gneiss-stone rubble construction.

^ iS^li:, after six: years, of v^ork, the obelisk had been built to a height 

of 152 feet, slightly less than one-third of its projected height and the 

Society had expended ^out $ 230,000 for this work, thus exhausting its 

funds. 3h an effort to raise more funds, the Socieiy had invited all the

States, Tenritories, counties, cities, patriotic citizens, and even foreigh 

coxmties to contribute stone blocks to erhellish the interior walls. These
Kstones, which were to be provided b;.- ccntributing localities, were to be 

approximately U feet long and 2 feet high, and were to bear patriotic 

inscriptions. Among the first presented were stones from :hine, DelaT’are, 

and the Franl-:lin Fire Gompary of Washington, D.C, The fdj-st went into 

place at the 30 foot level in I81t5- Eventelly-, an the States and more 

than a score of cities, and countries such as CEreece, Tirrkey, China and 

Japan contributed a total of I90 memorial blocks 1hat were set at 10 foot 

intervals along the stairs.
Pope Pius K also donated a marble slab fi’om the Temple of Concord 

In F-ome but this stone nevfr reached its intended place in the monument.

The acceptence of this stone w-as objected to by the American Party, a 

secret antialien and anti-Catholic political organization often called the 

"Know-ITothing ftirty*'» s° named becsuse when asked about their acti\rities its 

members replied," I don’t know." On the night of Ito-ch a group of

^ masked men attacked the watchman at the monument and stole " the marble block
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from Rome." It was never seen again and is believed tdi have been shattered 

and dropped into the Potomac River#

Its treasury exhausted, the Ifcnument Society appealed to Congress for 

assistance. Plans had been made to pass a resolution on February 22,1855, 

appropriating $ 200,000 to continue construction. Its adoption seemed 

assured, when word was received that on the previous night member or the 

American forty had seized the I^nument Society's offical records and called 

a meeting to elect new officers. On receipt of this aevTs, the proposed 

appropriation was laid on Hie table and never acted on. Meanwhile, adherents 

of the American forly ;^io held certificates of membership in the Society met, 

ousted the old olficers, and chose their own representatives. From 1855: to 

1858 there were, in effect, tv.o T-:ashington National I-bnument Societies, the 

American Parl^body, which controlled the re,cords and the monument, and the 

disposed old body which refused to recognize the legality' of the action of the 

rival organization. Ta further complicate matters. Architect Robert 13.11s, 

who had been supervising constniction since 16I;8, died on i-farch 7, 1855.

The American forty novr attempted to coi^lete the monument and dur.ing 

the period 1855 to l85i^ the;.* succeeded in raising the obelisk by four feet, 

from the 152 to the 156 feet It 1/6 inch level, Iry using mrble on the grounds 

that had been rejected by the roaster mason. These four feet of inferior 

stone Pius fe.o additional feet of badly weathered stone later had to be

removed. The efforts of the American forty to raise funds also failed. The 

Khow^Jothing Party collapsed politicalij^ in 1857 and on October 20,1858; they 

finaUy surrendered control of the old Society's records to the former officers. 

In an effort to prevent a repetition of this . .: debacle, an Act of Congress

approved February 26, 1859, incorporaj^ed the Washington National Homunent 

Society ” for the purpose of coirpleting the erection now in progress of a
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great National ISonument to the memoiy of Washington at the seat of the 

Federal Government," A new national fund drive in I860 netted on2y $ 88*^2, 

After the expenditure of about $ 300,000 from 1833 to i860, private efforts 

to complete the gi'sat momuraent to V^ashington had fhiled and the outbreak of

the Civil War in 1861 made the continued existence of Washington‘s united
9

nation equally doqbtful.
it. The Ihfinished Monument^ 1860-1876:

Whe n construction on the monument ceased in 18^6, the obelisk had 

obtained a total height of 1^6 feet it 3/8 indies. The shaft at its base 

was 35 feet Ih inches square and at its top the sides averaged Ii8 feet 

9 5/8 inches in length. The interior well was 25 feet 1 inch square. The 

aids of the shaft leaned one and 3/1; inches to the north. The thickness of

the walls at the base were 35^ feet and at the top 11 feet 5A6 inches. The
10

weight of the obelisk and its foundation was about 32jll3 tons.

During the Civil WarCl86l-65) this unfinished stub stood untouched.

The 37 acres of grounds surrounding vras turned into an open grazing pen 

for cattle, sheep , and pigs that were used to supply meat for the Union 

Army, A slaughter house, stables, and storehouses stood on the property 

and the area was knam as the "Wa^ungtorllonument Cattle Yard," The grounds 

also served as a remount depot, as a car^ ground, and as a drill ground 

for Union troops.

For 20 years, from I856i to iBjSg:* this hollow-over sized chimney*' 

stood in its unfinished state, Ihny did not admire its design. An editor 

of the New York Tribune commented on July 1,1875J

9, The V/ashington National Ifenument Society,however, was more successful! 
in raising /' funds than tcere similar associations formed prior to the 
Citril Vi’ar for the purpose of erecting great commemoratiire Monuments in the 
United States, Socities formed at Trenton in 181;3, at Bennington,Vt., in 1853, 
at Saratoga(01d Schuj’’lerville),U.Y, in 1659 to construct henuic-scaled battle 
monuments were unable to rise even enough money to start construction prior to 
1861.
10, Weight of the s^ajffc, 23,79i; tons, weight of the foimdation, 8,139 tons. 

Weight of earth on foundation, 21^3 tons. Total32,176 tons. I
'T •r V ’ r'T-
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"The appeaa for a Fourth; of July contribution to the 

Washington llbnunent will not amount to much^ Pliblic judgement on that 

abortion has been made up. The country has failed in many ways to honor 

the memtay of its first- President, but the neglect to finish this Ibmmient 

is not to be reckoned among them* A wretched design, a wretched location, 

and an insecure foundation match well with its erpty treas:,ury."

- ' file centennial observation of the 100th birthday of the IJbited States 

was to onoe again revive public interest in the Washington Jlbnument project 

and to give its supporters one more opportunity to ccnvert a disaster into 

a brilliant success*

^*_ The Ifational Government Completes the Ifon-iment on a Ifew Plan, 1»76»1088:
. ativBSA committee was appointed by -the House of Represen^^ to confer with

the Iknument Socie^ and the Chief of Engineers, U.S*

Arny, in^l673 to stucfy -fche problems related to completing the obelisk* 

lieutenant IJ". X. Marshall, Cbi-ps of Engineers, submitted a report on the 

subject in 187l|.* He recommended that the hei^t of the shaft be reduced 

from 500 feet to feet, due to the fact that the area covered by the 

foundation mmas insufficieiit to carry the load without causing excessive 

pressures on the marshy soil* Qm JuOy $,1376^ Senator John Sherman^of Chio^ 

introduced a concurrent resolution for the purpose of completing the non’jmen;^. * 

This resolution read in part: "fcie", the Senate and House of Representatives in

Congress assembled, in the name name of the / ,i people of the United States,

at this, the beginning of the second centur-r of national existence, do assume 

and direct the completion of the Washing-fcon Monument in the Ci-ty of V^ashington 

and instruct the committees on appropriations, of the respective Houses to 

propose suitable provisions of law to carry this resolution inix) effect.'/'

■li::
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The resolution was passed unanimously in two tJays by both Houses 

and in obedience to its instructions a bill for the completion of the 

Washington Monument was at once reported into the House of ' T-epresentatives 

and was signed into law by President .Ulysses S« Grant on A;igust 2,

1876. This statute appropriated $ 200,000 to continue construction on -Uie
A

Dionuinent, to be expended in four equal installments. It also provided for 

the transfer to the United States of the ownership of the 1^6 foot portion 

of the shaft already built by the Washington National Ifcnaunent Society, and 

finally, it created a Joint CoirsnissiQn to direct and supervise the cmstruction 

of the monumentj. The Commission, which vra.s to report annually to Congress 

on the progress of the work and the expenditures,was established on September 2, 

1876 and consisted of President Grant, Edwarpd Clprk, Architect of the Oapitol,

James G. Hill, Supervising Architect of the Treas^p^r , Brig, Gen. Andrew A.
cf'a i-5

Hunphrey, Chief of Engineers^ and 1'illiam W, Corcoran, First Vice-President

of the Washington National Itonument Society, To handle the details of 

construction, the Joint Commission established a Building Commission that 

consisted of the Architect of the Capitol, the Supervising Architect of the 

Treasury, the Chief of Engineers, and the First Vice President of the 

Society, On June 25,1878, General Humphreys delegated his authority to 

lieutenant Colonel Thomas Idncoln Gaseyy Corps of Engineers, who became the 

Arny engineer in charge- of the project. Prior to this, on January 19, 1877, 

the Washington National Ijonument Society formal^ deeded: the Tincorpleted 

cbelisk and its grounds back to the the United States Go^/ernment#

Since the early days of its construction, apprehension had been felt 

about the fovmdation of the diaft. The Act of A\igust 2,1876 directed that 

a thoroggh study be made of this suboecfc. After careful boring, examinations, 

and tests of the earth of the site, a board of Aim^r Engineers, in reports 

dated April 10 and June 15,1877, concluded that the existing foundation was of



0 insufficient spread and depth to sustain the weight of the proposed structure.

Q

It was also stated that it was feasible to bring the foundation to the 

required stabiiiiy by "hooping in" the earth upon which it stood.^

As a result of this stu^-, a Joint P-esolution of Congress on June 1I;,1878, 

ai thorised the Joint Cominittee to expend $ 36,000 to give greater stability

to the obelisk^ so that the height could be safely carried to 525- feet.^

Construction on stablizing the foundation began on January 28,18?9

and continued until coirpleted IS. nonths later on Iky 29,1880. Planned and
supervised by Lt. Col, Thomas t, Casey, the cost of this ^ '^was' $ 9k,k73»9^»

Th;@. work consisted in enlarging the area of the foundati. n by digging away 

of the earth under the old foundation, and to a depth of 13 feet 6 inches 

beneath it, and replacing this earth T,dth a mass of concrete extending 18 

feet within the outer edges of the old foundation, and 23 feet 3 inches w-ithout 

■ the same line, thus giving a new foundation 126 feet 6 inches square, and 

enarging the area of the foundation from 6,U0Q square feet, to 16,000 square

feet. To distribi^p the pressure of the shaft over this new foundation, the
Xn ^

old rubble-stone^was torn away from under the v^alls of the shaft, and replaced

by a concrete underpirjiing extending out into the new concrete slab. In this 

work 51S of the cubical contents of jfche old stone foundation was removed, and

of the area of the shaft underriined. As finished, the new- foundation
. Tn • u j skillfullci' was, this substitution that the entirewas 36 feet 10 inches deep, structure settled onic-' about two inches.

'4 on the foundations \ra.s underway, tiro pians

X • alter the original Ilills' design of the obelisk were

considered by the Joint Commission in l8?8-79. The first was submitted by

^ ^oard consisted of It, Col, John D. Kartz, Lt. Col. Qu^cy A. Gilmore, 
and Lt, Col, James C, Duane. *

12, A joint resolution of June 27,1879 appropriated an additional $ 61i,000 
to coirplete the task of strengthening the foundation.
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VTiUiam W^aore Stoiy, a Boston ^djulptor who had done some work for 

the Bunker Kill IfcnuxTent. Story proposed that the obelisk be converted 

In a g^nt and ornate "Lcmiardy Tox^rer," 5i order to. have constructed the 

shaft on the Story design some Iph feet of the existing monument would have 

had to be taken down, in order to rebuilt it again with the windows located 

In the lower portipn of the shaft just above the proposed loggia. After 

careful consideration, the Story plan was rejected in 1879,

,;s:

The second plan, suggested by George Pfer!:ins ^k^sh, scholar and then
both f

U,S, Minister to Italy, was adopted and. greatly altered and improvedthe
^ ' ] 

original Mill's design, eliminating the proposed flat apex of the obelisk,

Marsh had studied the obelisks of ancient EgjTib and he suggested in 1878 : *

"Throw out all the gingerbread of the :tLlls design and keep only tb.e obelisk,"

Based on his study of the best-knov;n Eg^nrtian obelisks he had also

determined tliat their heights were almost pi-eciselj' ten times thQ_ir base

dimensions. Thus if the base of the V^ashington shaft was 59 feet square at

the base, the monument should raise to a height of 550 and not to 600 feet

as proposed in the Itills design, or to only 500 feet as proposed in the

monej^-saving plan. In Febreaiy 18?9> ‘fersh further suggested: "There xnJ2,

no doubt, be people who vjill be foolish enough to insist on a peephole

somex-rtiere^ and if thej- must be gratified, the window should be 6f the exact

form and size of one of the stones, and provided with a close-fitting shutter

colored exactly like the stone, so that wheii' shut it would be nearly or

13* George Perkins Ifersh, 1801-1862, lawyer, diplomat, brillant scholar, 
and the father of the Conservation I'bbement in the Whited States, was born 
at V/oodstock, Veri.iont, in 1801, Graduating from Dartmouth College in 1620, 
he studied law and x;as admitted to the bar at Burlington,Verr.iont, in 1625, 
Ite_ entered politics as a Whig in 163U and in 18U9 was appointed llinister to 
• '.Ji^key, in which capacity he served lurtil l651io He became a Republican 
in I656-, and from I860 until his death in 1802, was United States IHnister 
to Italy, I'kr^h'fgreat ser/anal work, Man and Nature, or TTvsical Geo^’raphy 
as Ifcdified by Human Action, was first published'in' Hew York City in 186k. 
This voluiae became both the opening gun and the intellectual bible of the
subsequent leaders of the Conservation Movement in the United States during 
the 19th cBntury,
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quite jyriperceptible from belovro"

By April 19,1880, the Joint Comr,iissdon for Completing the Ibnpment
and .

■)

Srr, the Building Coininittee, the Congress, had agreed to adopt

lfei'sh»s suggestions as to the height,- 5^^ feet, and that its form uould 

be obelisk of the proportions and the windovrs of the size proposed by 

Ifersh, Work on the foundations was cor?)leted on Iky 29,1880. Ch June 7,

■ I880,work began on covering a portion of the net/ foundation with the earth 

that had been excavated fcom around and beneath the original foundation.

This eiribankment, completed on July 10, provided a terrace around the 

monument that was 30 feet wide and 17 feet higher than the level of the 

surrounding land. In 1881 this terrace was further enlarged to forr.i a 

square that was 17^ feet wide at the crest and 220 feet square at the 

foot of the slopes.

Investigation of the shaft revealed that the stones set by the American

Ibrty in l6^5-p6 atop of the shaft had disintgrated and that the marble facing

had been displaced and spalled. Three courses of these stones, or six feet

in height, were rei.ioved from the top of the obelisk between July l^' and August

2,1880, thus reducing the monument to a height of 1^0 feet. The task of

setting new stone on the obelisk started on August 7,1880 and hy the end of

the year 26 feet Iasi been added to the height of the mcnoment, thus bringing

fine-grained >mite
the shaft up to the 176 foot level® The nev^mrble vae provided xmder 

contract by Iffigh Sisson from the same Beaver Dam Quariy neai* Baltimore that 

had furnish the marble for the first 136 feet. From the 0 to the l^'O
feet level the marble was back^’- biueston^^gneiss, from the 130 feet level to 

the li$2 foot level the marble facing vras backed by New England granite,

and . . the remaining 1Q3 feet of the shaft, from the 162 to: the 33^ foot 

levels ^was constimcted entirely of marble.

^•1

r
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The shaft reached the 2$Q foot level in 1881, tie 3ii0:' foot level in

1882, the lilO foot level in 1883, and the cap stone was afijoed

at the $^S feet $ 1/P inch level on December ^ 18811, The shaft of

■Uie obelisk Vie ^OCT feet $ 2/8 inches hi^ and the // pyramidicm or apex
v/As $$ feet tall. The shaft at the top'lfe^ 3k feet inches square and

The wei^t^of the shaft is 81,120 tons ancj^^ipf the foundation^36,912 tons« 
its walls at this point are l^a feet thidc# A ' Tlie cost of construction

from 18U8 to I88I4. was approximately’-$ 1,187j710,31* Of liiis sum, the

Washington National Ifcnument Societj’- had provided about $ 300,000 and the
2h

U,S, Congress v 887j710*31*

On Februaiy 21, 1885, h'^ashingtcn *s Birthday, the Momuient was 

formally dedicated by President Chester A, Arthur in the presence of 

several descendants of the l’’ashington fardly, and a vast throng of visitors 

from all over the nation. Thus .85 years after its original proposal in 

>fey I8OO, Congress saw the corpletion of a monumental-sized nreriorial to 

George Washington,

Three more years of work, hovrever, were required to complete 

the rntETior of the obelisk and^the grounds, before ' visitors could

In 1885 the original dooivi-ays in the shaftbe admitted to the monument* 

were redesigned and modified, ]h accordance with F-obert ’ELlls' original 

design, tw-o large Egyptian doorv.-ays, each 15 feet high and 6 feet wide, had 

been built into the east and west elevations of the obelisk prior to 1851;,

Eaclj door was surmounted by a heavy pedojnent and an entablature upon which 

was carved a winged ball and ;^e asp, 1885 the projecting Jaribsi^

21;, Because of the Centennial and apparently because the monument associations 
had learned how to lobby effectively,Congress was also appropriat^g liberal 
sums of monqy to erect other great monuments in the lOCOsoCongress^.'^ovided 
$ 100,000 to erect the Yorktown IJonument at Yorkto/m, Va,, in 1880; $ 70,000 
to built the Saratoga Battle IJornunent at Schu;’-ierville,iT.Yo in 1081 and 188!;;
$ UO.OOO to help erect the Bennington Battle I-Ibnunent at Bennington,Vt, in I886j 
and $ 3G,000 towards the q^onstruction of the Trenton Battle IJonument at Trenton, 
N.J, in 1881;, State legislatures also voted considerable siuris of money' to 
helg^construct all of these moun)^irients, with the exception of the one at

W ■■
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entablature, and pediments were dressed down to the planes of the
faces of the s^t, and the west doort;ay was walled un with large.

such as Has used in thefacing the lower part or^uie walls o
grained inarble, ^ The east entrance, now the only doorv/ay to the obelisj:, 

was reduced in height fi-om to 8 feet, and was closed by tv;o marble 

doors or slabs, revolving upon heairy bronze hinges, the weight of each 

leaf, over half a ton, being supported upon a steel friction roller.

«30

of the monument^ Vllghtnlng conductors or rodj, and mrble shutters on

the nine xvindows in the pyramidion. in 1806 the interior iron staircase
& Co,

with 898 steps was completed in April; Otis Brothers/of Hew York City

also installed a steam-operatered pe.ssenger elevator in the ^aft; and

the floor inside the monurnent was paved vrith blue stone flagging.

A stone one-storj- boiler house, constructed of i-efuse granite and marble,

was built at a point located '}$Q feet southwest of the noment under

contract vd.th V.'illiam Bradley of Washington,!! ,C. at a cost of $ 6,99!;,^,
and ingA pipe tunnel, located beneath the surface of the gi-ound, connectt’/ the

boiler house and eiigine house • . by an brick arched passaf;eway three
_________ _____^feet wide and la feet 3 inches high j^with the monument ;Was also completed 

in 1886, This tunnel carried on its floor the steam pipe to and the 

exhaust-pipe from,the engines at the y foot of the morrunent. The en^e 

hxjuse, which accommodated the dynmano and engine used for lighting the 

interior of the shaft, was rebuilt and enlarged in 1086, This structure, 

located on the terrace at the foot of tlie monument, vfas built of iron 

and masonry and has a copper covered roof. The total cost of the heating

15. The cost of this interior work in 1885-86 vras as folloirs: electric light 
p^nt, $ 1,872,00'; ^on work for interior stairs and platforms, $ 20,591,00: 
laghiming rods, $ 1,271.00; marble for door,;ay, $ 1,375.00; inserting 53 
memorial blocks or stones in interior wall, $ 1,825,00; and installing 
passenger steam elevator, $ 2,7l;O.Oa. Total, $ 29,67li;,
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plant, including the boiler house, two new boilesr^ the pipe tunnel, 

steam pipes, and the rebuilt engine house, was $ I6,5^98o5'0*

Q

Im 1887 IX more memorial stones were inserted in the interior
an

walls and^ apron of granolithic pavement 10 feet wide was laifl about 

the foot of the ^aft to prevent the washing out of earth by storm

waters. The chief project from 188? to 18^, however, was the placing 

of some 250»000 cubic yards of earth about the base of the monument and

in Babcock lake, •which was located just to -the north of it, at a cos^ of 
16

$ 97>500'.00. The purpose of this fill tias ta blend -the terrace of

the moxinment with the surrounding land so as to give -the t-rhole ai^ea 

a nat-ural appearance. .

The monument vras of finally opened to visitors on October 9,1888. 

Total cost of construction of the monument and inrorovement of the grounds 

from 1814.8 to 1G80, 'was approximately $ 1,I|.09,5^« Of this to'bal, the

Washington national 14>nument Society’’ had contribiited about $ 300,000 and
17

•fcha U.S, Congress $ 1,109,^00. ‘

17* V-. See Appendiw No. 2, fortXinual - appropriations,
and expenditures, l8l48-l888^c<,j^'eogress of construction and -totf-1 costs.

16, lieut. Col, John M, V/flson, Corps of Engineers, i:as in charge of 
work on the raonument and grounds after April I«,1888, vdien Ideut. Col, 
Thomas 1. Casey was relieved of his duties as engineei^dn-charge of -the 
project at his own request.

^ ’S’:

'=r

In 1888-89* tl^e V7ashing-ton national Ifanument Society had a one-story 

marble lodge house constructed at their o'.rn expense at a point about l*80f 

feet to the east of -the monument. Designed by^^ chitec-ts William M, 

Poindexrter & Company of Washington, D,C. and erected at a cost of $ 11,650, 

•the lodge house was -transferred by the Society to the jiirisdiction of -the 

United States in 1889, Visitctrs to the monument -trere assei’ibled at the 

lodge and when a sufficient number had congregatedj-they were escor-bed 'by a 

guide to the monument. ■:4,
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All wo^ on the monument and grounds was coirpleted by December 1888, 

The Joint Commission for the Con5)letiQn of the Ibnument was dissolved 

at its own request by Act of Congress approved October 2,1888, and the- 

Secretary of Har was charged with the custody, care, and protection of 

tile monument thereafter. From October 9,1888 to 1912 a total of 3,73h,hlS 

people visited tlie top of the monument, averaging about 15^,600 persons 

a year. The 50tii millionth visitor visited the obelisk on Iferch 7,1969, 

^•Alterations to the Ifonument, 1889-1978:
H^888.^ -.iien the monument was opened to visitors, it took passengers

riding on the steam elevators 12 minutes to reach the top. The electric 

elevator installed in 1901 reduced this riding time to five minuted.

Improved electric elevators were used in 1926 and 19^9. The present riding 

time to the top is one. minute.

The first exterior searchlights were placed in use in I929. Later 

red aircraft-warning signals began flashing from the observation .ondows, 

and, in 19^8, from holes cut just above the >rindows for better visibility.

3h 1939 new floodlights of more than 92-miHion candlepo.;er were installed. 

Also in 1959, a giant dehumidifier was installed in the basement of the 

monument and this ended an old Ibnument phenomenon - the moisture 

condensation that had long precipitated as indoor rain.

Twice in its life time (1931; and I96I;) the great white marble shell 

of the obelisk has been repaired and scrubbed from base to tip.

Bars were first Installed in tiie cbservation windot.-s in 1926 to 

prevent suicides (of which there have been five) and in I96I safety glass 

was also placed in these wdndo>;s at the ^Ol; foot level to prevent thoughtless 

visitors from tossing objects out of these opening.

■■■a
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7» The Monuments Grounds; Reclaining Iand,l682~1901?

From l8Ufi to 3^01, the Washington Monument stood in what the 

editor of the ITew Tork Tribune accurately decribed in 187^ as a 

wretched location,”- on low marshy land, with the waters of the 

Potomac River to the west and of lake Babcock to the north almost 

reaching the foundations of the ciDelisk* Si 1882 the Congress made

’ 'V

the first of a series of appropriations to provide for the rexdlamation
Ch^

of these PotomsbC tidal flats marshes that 3ay immediately to the west
A

and south, of the monument#

From August 1882' to July 3^12 the Corps of Engineers e^^iended

a total of $ 3,388,500 to create 739 acres of new land# The tidal

.basin was completed in I^ch I89O; l4i22 acres o.f xdiat is now known as

West Potomac Park vras finished in IPCDL the 327-ncre area now 

known as. East Potomac Park was reclaimed in August 1911#

I,, A- ,

The iil2 acres of new land in wh^t is now West . r / Rjtomac 

•Park made it possible by I9OI to greatly improve the setting of the 

Washington Monument by landscaping and developing the area as a public 

park# Consideration of improvements began in 1900#
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On Decjember 12,1900, coriraenorative exercises celebrating the lOOth 

anrrirer$i.ry of the removal the seat of the. Federal Government from 

Philadelphia to Washingtonp*C, opened at the ’White House and Gapi;^ol, 

The keynote of the celebration was 1iie improvement of the District of 

Coluii±»ia in a manner comnensLtpate with the (ilgnitj’’ and resoinrces of 

the Dhited States, //hich was then beginning to emerge as a T-rorld povjier.

The American Institute of Architects worked with the Senate 

Committee on the District of Coluinbia to prepare a general plan for 

the development ccT a public park ^stem for the District* A Senate 

sub-committee was appointed to handle this task ' and it became knotm as 

the Mcslfi-llan Cominission, so named after SerKitor James B* McI'E.Uan» 

Experts recommended by the American Institute of Architects were 

engaged by the McMillan CommistaLon to help prepared a master plan*

■■•ai
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Four noted Americans- Architect Daniel H. BTU*nhan of Chicago, Frederick

a

law Omstead,J*r*,landscape ardaitect of Btooklir^Mass*, Architect

Charles F* l^cKLm of New York City, and Sculptor Augustus Saint-Gaudens, 

also M New York City, made up this Ibrk or Burnham Commission.
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After extensive study here and iii' Europe, the Park Connission 

proposed the restoration of l.'Enfant's Grand Avenue on a direct line 

connecting the Capitol and the Vfashington Ifcnunent with the great ,

greensward and four rows of eljna bordering it» Bur-rfaam ipjrote:

"We propose-ai great‘^c'pen vista aroi that vista is the great architectural 

feature, if we may speak of landscape work as architecturail. The center 

is to be grass, like a ^een carpet, vrith roadways on each side, overhung 

by trees* The widto of the l&ll from building to biiilding is a '
V

little greater than the length rflf the Capitol, as it should be. The 

IfeU buildings form the architectural lines which lead up to the Capitol."

Accepted by Senator Kbl^llan,Ghairr;;an of the Senate Conmittee on 

the District of Columbia, hBy . P • presented his report,^

based on the Burnham study, to the Senate on January 

15,1902, This became known as the IMIillian plan for 1902 for the 

"improvement of the Park System of the District of Coluiribia,"

With regards to the Washington Ifonument, the Ifelfi-Uian plan

noted:

'

In 1901 the Immediate stirraundir*gs of the Won- 
xjonent were so inadequate as to cause the beholder \ 
near at hand to lose that very sense of grandeur 
which it inspired from a distEince. The lack of 
harmonious relationship bet^/een it and the great 
Btructurss with which it cane into j\ixtaposition 
disturbed one's sense of fiunes?. No portion of the 
task before the Commission a-equired more study and 
eactended consideration than imd the solution of the 
problem of devising an appropriate setting for the 
Monument. The treatmant here proposed was the 
one which seemed best adapted to enhance the value 
,of the Monument itself, Takan by itself, the Mon­
ament stands not only as one of the most etigaendous 
works of man, but also as on<* of the most beautiful 
of human creations. It is once so great and so 
simple that it seems to be almost a work of nature. 
Dominating the entire District of Columbia, it has 
taken its place with the Capitol and the White House 

i as one of the three foremost national structures..
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to the proposed treatnent of the Ifcmment grounds.

the IfeMLllan plan reconnended:
,.'V

The. 'yg.shln?ton T,*;onuaent.—I^cea this 
■across axis the carpet of gresnsirard of the mail 
stretches westward. The bordering columns of 

march to the Monmcent grounds, climb the 
slope and'spread themselves to righi and left on 
ertenied terraces to form a great body of green 
stren,rthening the broad platform from which the* 
obelisic rises in majestic serenity. The groves 
on the terraces would become places of rest, from 
'Which one would get wide views of tae busy city: 
of the Vdiite House, surrounded by its ample grounds* 
-oi ihQ Capitol, crowning the heights at the end of 
the broad vista; of &*unn:/ stretches of river wlndins 
at the foot of the I ’̂irginia hills.

T'

aiili
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■ ^bdal relations between the V/hlte House and 
the Monument were created by the ccastruct-fon of 
a sunhen garden on the western side of the gi*eat 
B^ft, the true line passing through the center 

round pool to which marble steps lead 
down Torcy feat from tha Monument Piat-.form. Sur­
rounded - by-terraces bearing elms, Id-Ld out with 
forma., paths lined by hedges and adorned with 
small trees, enriched by fountains and tonple-liie 
struc-tures, -tlie ifanxnsent Gardens wo old became the 
•gem oiP the 1^11 system. '

Seen frm -the lower level, the Monument would 
gain an additional height of nearly 45 feet, while 
at the same tina nothing would be allawed to come 
6o nc.ir as to disturb the isolation which the 
ISonumcint demands.

©

The formal ga-den,T-7hich waa to be located between the Ifcnunent 

and 17th Street, was to serve three architectural purpcfdeS J

1. It was to be the connecting link betvreen the Ihll developnent 

on -the east and the proposed Lincoln Memorial development on the >ies.t, 

which due to the configuration! of the ground were placed on different 

levels, the Mall being some 23 feet higher*
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2^ It ms to open and accentuate the North-South Axis through 

the ii/hite House along the Meridan ojET Washington*

3* -Jt was to furnish' a setting at the tease of the I'farruiaent, >rhich

-*ben riewd fron the tTest WOUID IEiVe A
A

vSi

FCRl-felity conmensurate vrith 

the surroundings of the lAncoln Memorial,

- ;iA8 the escecution of this part of the project < '4" involved a very- 

heavy fill east of the Monument togtether with e3c^j__^siwe and deep 

^excavation to the west thereof, the question arose as to the possible 

hazard to the stability of the Monument that might result from the 

unbalancing of subsoil pressures arising from such substantial changes.

. ipT 1930 a committee of ^igineers was appoin'bed' to investigate and

report on these problems, A niuiiber of borings vrere s'u.nl' ■to bedroclc in 

the vicinity of the Ifonument, ■trith samples of e^rth taken at fou3>»foat 

intervals.

These borings disclosed the existence of a suspected bit^iitherto 

unknown stratu^a of blue clay, averaging 1^0 feet in thiclcness,underlying tlie

bed of sand and gravel upon xdiich the Monument rests, and after an 

eahaustive analj’-sig of conditions, the engineers in 1931 reported 

uVfateorably as to the execution of the proposed sunken ga^en plan.

Bie formal garden plan was thus never carried into effect. The 

Monumentls STUTounding3,hov/«OTr, have been vastlj’- improved since 1900, 

-irtien the Ihll area was an unsightly clutter- of railroad -tracks, haphazard 

buildings, xr£Lrshes,and tidal flats.

The Washington Monwent was administfered by the Office of Public 

Buildings and Grounds to 192and then by the C^fice of Public Buildings

18, This connittee of Armjr Engineers was coirprised of :Iieut.Gol. Ulysses S, 
Qran-b,in5 !l-jor Douglas h, Gillette; Ih*. J, Vipond Davies, Hr. lazarus ’ 

White, and It, John L. ITagle, the last three being civil engineers.

f.r'.r
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-aiKi Public ibrks ' /.£ of the National Ca|rtial until August 10,1933» 

r^dien the obelisk and its IO60OI acres of Federally o>med land- ^ were 

"^tranSferred to the National Park Service*
-.4S# Eaisting Conditions: ' ,

Thp £i»anT t.p> nolTer hoiise^. cojiipleted in 1886 and located about 7?0

;v

P-'.

V:r;y

mm

feet southwest of the monument, now serves as headquarters for the 

national Park Service Ifell Operations Office* The brick tunnel, built 

dn 1886 to carry the steairP pipes . " j from the boiler house to the 

monument, has been blocked off at both ends* The marble Washington 

Montment lodge, finished in 1389, is now used as a souvenir store and 

an addition made to the rear serves as a snack bar; both of these 

facilities are operated by r concessionaires*

The Jefferson Pier which Thomas Jefferson had erected as a marker 

at the intersection of lines due south of the White House and c&ie vrest 

from the Capit'^ stands aboutlOO feet northvrest of the monument • First 

^t in place in 1810, the pier v; i removed subsequently but v«as 

reinstalled in 1925*
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APFEI^roiX NO. 1" Checklist of chief 19th Centuiy meinorial nronunen ts 

of heroic scale

1, l^’‘a3hington 
Monument

Naiae of 
Monument

Baltimore,
M.

2o Bunker Hill 
Monument

3 ashington 
I-jonument

Location

Charlese 
town,Mass•

'.Washington,
D.C.

Saratoga 
Battle Moniiment

Schpylerville Tvjo Battles of 
Old Saratoga), Saratoga,.Sejpt- 

T,T* ember 19 and
October 7,1777 
Surrender,Oct.17, 
1777 . _____

$.Yorktown 
Victoi’y
iionument

6. Bennington 
Battle Itinuiaent

7.Trenton Battle
Monument:

Events 
C oriinemorat e d Designer

George Wash)- 
ington’s services 
as General, 
1775-1703_?____

Battle of Bunlrer 
Hill,June 17, 
177^.

Washington's 
services as 
general and 
first President

Robert Mills

Dates of 
Construction

1B13;-1829

Cost of I
Constructj-on Description

$ 203,76U.08

I/oanml Baldwin 1825-181^2 
& Solomon 
Willard

Robert Mills Sc 18U8-1888 
George Perkins 
Ifersh

J«C« Markham

lorktovai, French Alliance of
7a* 1778-83 and Victory

at Yorktown, October 
^19>1781

Richard Morris 
lunt, J.QJl.Ward 
Van Br\mt*

Bennington, Victory at Battle 
Vt. of Bennington,lI*T,r J, Philipp

August 16,1777• Rirm

Trenton, 
7 N.J.

Battle of Trenton', 
December 26,1776. Jaynes .H* 

Duncan

Cornerstone,
1877.
Shaft,1881^ 
1882. 1890

1881-8^

1887-1889,
1891.

$ 156,218.31^

I'krble Doric column 
165 feet hi^ on a 
rectangular base,
17' statue of Wash.

Granite obelisk 
221* 5" high and 
30 feet square at 
base.

$lJi09,500:.00 White marble obeli^, 
55^5' 5 1/6" high and 
55 feet square** at the 
base. ____

$ 125,000
Granite obelisk 151* 
feet high, adorned 
with Ruskinian Gothic 

revival ornaments.
20 ft.square at base.

By Congress 

$100,000

$90,000

1891- 109: $ 60,000

white marbl e 
column 95 feet tall, 

topped by female 
statue of " liberty*'.

Limestone obelisk
306 feet high.

37 ft.square at base.
giunite

^ 150. -foot fluted column 
jtopped by hepoic size 
Statue of Washington.

CD



APPENDIX K0.2

0
COSTS OF CONSTRUCT"^nN- AND FEDJRAL APPROPRIATIONS FCR 

THE WASHINGTON MONUI^JTT. 18^8-1888

Teasn*^ Expended bjr Amotmt Expended
Fed(gral
Approp.

Veet
added

Height of B 
Shaft 1

18U8-"^
1876

Washington National 
Ifcnument Society

$ 300,000 0 136* k 1/t ' 136* i: I/a

1876-88 UoS, Goveminerrt
Date of Appropo

1878-80
>

August 2,1376 $ 9l;,l4i73.92 $ 200,00c) -6*
strength­
ened 1 

foundatioi

130*

IS

1880 July 16> 1880 251jj,929.37 130,000 26 176

1881 March 3,1881 130,283.67 130,000 71; 230

1882 April IT’,1882 133,383.36 130,000 90 3i;a

1883 March 3,1883 119,371.33 230,000 70 iao

1881; - 21i;,361i.31 0 143: 353'* 3 i/8>«
For shaft: Subtotal:

181; 8-1381;
^ 1,187,710.31 900,000 1;03^ 333 * 3 I/d'

188^ l^ch 3,1883 :30,717.11i 73,000 0 To coraplet;: 
structure

1886 August 1;,1686 I;6,106.68 37,000 0
interior & . 
grounds •j

»
1887 March 3,1887 i;2,33e.26 30,000 0

f

II II

1888 October 8,1888 iat,833.9it . 27,300 0
1

grounds [
I

Total, 181;8- ■1888 $ l,i;09,3oa.oo $ 1,109,300 0
Open Oct. 
9,1888

.'jLC.p' 0- c . ;;P4> i yapT;,v:-ciJ ;■ .'•I,;
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United States Department of the Interior 

August 31,2016 

Joy Beasley 

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 
National Mall and Memorial Parks 

900 Ohio Drive, S.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20024-2000 

Deputy Associate Director, Park Programs and National Heritage Areas 
Federal Preservation Officer 
National Park Service -Cultural Resources, Partnerships, and Science 
1201 EyeStreetNW 
Room 804 
Washington, DC 20005 

Subject: Washington Monument and Grounds ~istoric District National Register Nomination 
(Additional Documentation, 2016) 
./ . . 

Dear M ley: · 

We are d to submit for your review and signature the final submittal of the Washington Monument 
and Grounds Historic District National Register Nomination. (Additional Documentation, 2016). This · 
amended nominat"ion incorporates information from the recent studies of the monument and grounds, 
identifies contributing and noncontributing features and brings documentation to curren~ National 
Register standards. It changes the property's National Register category from "structure" to "historic 
district" in order to recognize the wealth of contributing resources associated with the monument. The 
nomination expands on the discussion of the monument's significance, reevaluating National Register 
criteria and criteria considerations, areas of significance, and periods of significance. Text and 

. information from the 1981 nomination is included in the current nomination wl1.ere appropriate. 

In accordance with federal regulations regarding the nomination of properties by Federal agencies to the 
National Register of Historic Places (3 6 CFR 60.9), we respectfully request that you sign the first page 
and submit the full nomination package to the Keeper of the National Register for consideration. 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact Catherine Dewey, Chief of 
Resource Management, at (202) 245-4 711 or catherine dewey@nps.gov. 

:A 
Gay E. Vi~~ 
Superintendent 
National Mall and 

Attachments 



United States Department of the Interior 

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 
1849 C Street, N .W. 

Washington, DC 20240 
~IE~ !EO Wi lE @ 

SEP 3 0 2016 

Natl. R~g . of Historic Places 
Nat1onal Park ServigJ 

September 27, 2016 

Memorandum 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Acting Keeper ofthe National Register of Historic Places 

Federal Preservation Officer, National Park Servict;rr>J (>fr} 
National Register Nomination Additional Documentation for Washington 
Monument and Grounds Historic District, District of Columbia 

I am forwarding additional documentation for the Washington Monument and Grounds 
Historic District in the District of Columbia. The Washington Monument was originally 
listed in the National Register in 1966 as a structure; documentation was completed in 
1981. This update includes information from recent studies ofthe resources, including a 
2009 Cultural Landscape Inventory. It changes the property's category from structure to 
district, revises criteria and expands significance. The Park History Program has 
reviewed the document and found the property eligible at national and local levels of 
significance under Criteria A and C, with areas of significance of Architecture, 
Community Planning and Development, Engineering, Entertainment/Recreation, Ethnic 
Heritage (Black), Landscape Architecture, Politics/Government, and Social History. 
Criteria Considerations B, F, and G also apply. If you have any questions, please contact 
Kelly Spradley-Kurowski at 202-354-2266, or kelly spradley-kurowski@nps.gov. 



REQUESTED ACTION: 

UNITED STATED DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET 

ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION 

PROPERTY 
NAME: 

Washington Monument 

MULTIPLE 
NAME: 

STATE & COUNTY: WASHINGTON, District of Columbia 

DATE RECEIVED: 09/30/16 DATE OF PENDING LIST: 
DATE OF 16th DAY: DATE OF 45th DAY: 11/15/16 

REFERENCE NUMBER: 66000035 

REASONS FOR REVIEW: 

APPEAL: 
OTHER: 

N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N 
N j PDIL N 

N 

PERIOD': N 
SLR DRAFT: N 

LESS THAN 50 YEARS: N 
PROGRAM UNAPPROVED: N 

REQUEST: Y SAMPLE: NATIONAL: y 

COMMENT WAIVER: N 

_L_ACCEPT RETURN REJECT _______________________ DATE 

ABSRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS: 

RECOM. /CRITEREA dcef4Jt-Akh~ Q_ D O~oh 
REVIEwER ]?a.AJ~ ArdtAJ~ DisciPLINE 1tis tni&n 
TELEPHONE DATE J/ I 7 I ).0 I~ r 1 
DOCUMENTATION see attsched comments Y/N 

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the nomination is 
no longer under consideration by the NPS. 
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